
****************************************************************************** 
PRE-COUNCIL WORK SESSION — 7:00 P.M. 
******************************************************************************* 

Agenda of the Regular Meeting 

of the City Council of the 

CITY OF DARIEN 

October 7, 2019 

7:30 P.M. 

1. Call to Order

2. Pledge of Allegiance

3. Roll Call

4. Declaration of Quorum

5. Questions, Comments and Announcements — General (This is an opportunity for the
public to make comments or ask questions on any issue – 3 Minute Limit Per 
Person, Additional Public Comment Period - Agenda Item 18) 

6. Approval of Minutes – September 16, 2019

7. Receiving of Communications

8. Mayor's Report
A. Mayoral Proclamation “Fire Prevention Week 2019” (October 6th – 12th,  2019) 
B. Mayoral Proclamation “Filipino American History Month” (October 2019) 
C. Consideration of a Motion to Approve the Reappointment of Members to the 

Citizen of the Year Committee: Linda Borowiak, Bonnie Kucera, and 
Carol Mallers 

D. Consideration of a Motion to Advice and Consent the Appointment of 
Ralph A. Beardsley, James D. Goetzinger, Ron Kiefer and 
Gerald C. Kucera to the Citizen of the Year Committee 

E. Consideration of a Motion to Advice and Consent the Appointment of Steve Hiatt 
to the Planning and Zoning Commission 

F. Annual Financial Report 

9. City Clerk's Report

10. City Administrator's Report

11. Department Head Information/Questions

12. Treasurer's Report
A. Warrant Number — 19-20-12 
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13. Standing Committee Reports 

 
14. Questions and Comments — Agenda Related (This is an opportunity for the public to 

make comments or ask questions on any item on the Council’s Agenda – 3 
Minute Limit Per Person) 
 

15. Old Business 
 

16. Consent Agenda 
A. Consideration of a Motion Granting a Waiver of the $50.00 a Day Fee for the 

Class “J” Temporary Liquor License for Our Lady of Peace Home & 
School Association  

B. Consideration of a Motion to Grant a Waiver of the Raffle License Bond 
Requirement for the Darien Woman’s Club 

C. Consideration of a Motion to Authorize Staff to Implement Option No. 3 for the 
67th Street and Clarendon Hills Road Traffic Signal Warrant Study as 
Presented from Kenig, Lindgren, O'Hara, Aboona, Inc. (KLOA), Traffic-
Engineering Consultants 

D. Consideration of a Motion to Approve a Resolution Authorizing the Mayor to 
Accept a Proposal from Christopher B. Burke Engineering, Ltd. for the 
Professional Engineering Services Related to the Design and Preparation 
of Construction Documents for the 67th Street Improvements Project in an 
Amount not to Exceed $32,017.00 

E. Consideration of a Motion to Recommend Zoning Ordinance Revisions to the 
Planning and Zoning Commission for Public Hearing and Commission 
Review Regarding the Cannabis Regulation and Tax Act 

F. Consideration of a Motion to Approve an Ordinance Amending Section 4-1-9-1 
of the Darien City Code Regarding “The Energy Conservation Code” 
 

17. New Business 
 

18. Questions, Comments and Announcements — General (This is an opportunity for the 
public to make comments or ask questions on any issue – 3 Minute Limit Per 
Person) 

 
19. Adjournment 



A WORK SESSION WAS CALLED TO ORDER AT 7:00 P.M. BY MAYOR MARCHESE 
FOR THE PURPOSE OF REVIEWING ITEMS ON THE SEPTEMBER 16, 2019 AGENDA 
WITH THE CITY COUNCIL.  THE WORK SESSION ADJOURNED AT 7:14 P.M. 

Minutes of the Regular Meeting 

of the City Council of the 

CITY OF DARIEN 

September 16, 2019 

7:30 P.M. 

1. CALL TO ORDER

The regular meeting of the City Council of the City of Darien was called to order at 7:30
P.M. by Mayor Marchese.

2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

Mayor Marchese led the Council and audience in the Pledge of Allegiance.

3. ROLL CALL — The Roll Call of Aldermen by Clerk Ragona was as follows:

Present: Thomas J. Belczak Ted V. Schauer 
Thomas M. Chlystek Mary Coyle Sullivan 
Eric K. Gustafson Lester Vaughan 
Joseph A. Kenny 

Absent: None 

Also in Attendance: Joseph Marchese, Mayor 
JoAnne E. Ragona, City Clerk 
Michael J. Coren, City Treasurer 
Bryon D. Vana, City Administrator 
John B. Murphey, City Attorney 
Gregory Thomas, Police Chief 
Daniel Gombac, Director of Municipal Services 
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4. DECLARATION OF A QUORUM — There being seven aldermen present, Mayor 
Marchese declared a quorum. 
 

5. QUESTIONS, COMMENTS AND ANNOUNCEMENTS – GENERAL 
 
Mayor Marchese requested comments regarding cannabis be held until New Business 
Item A is addressed. 
 

6. APPROVAL OF MINUTES  
 

A. City Council Meeting, August 19, 2019 
 
It was moved by Alderwoman Sullivan and seconded by Alderman Kenny to approve the 
minutes of the City Council Meeting of August 19, 2019. 
 

Roll Call: Ayes: Belczak, Chlystek, Gustafson, Kenny, Sullivan, 
Vaughan 

 
 Abstain:  Schauer 
 
 Nays: None 

 
Absent: None 
 

Results:  Ayes 7, Nays 0, Absent 0 
MOTION DULY CARRIED 

  
B. City Council Meeting, September 3, 2019 
 
It was moved by Alderman Schauer and seconded by Alderman Belczak to approve the 
minutes of the City Council Meeting of September 3, 2019. 
 

Roll Call: Ayes: Belczak, Chlystek, Kenny, Schauer, Sullivan, 
Vaughan 

 
 Abstain:  Gustafson 
 
 Nays: None 

 
Absent: None 
 

Results:  Ayes 7, Nays 0, Absent 0 
MOTION DULY CARRIED 
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7. RECEIVING OF COMMUNICATIONS 

 
Alderman Schauer received communication from Maria Sircher regarding opposition to 
cannabis establishments in Darien. 
 
Alderman Kenny received communication from Mary Ann Fogarty regarding opposition 
to cannabis establishments in Darien. 
 
Alderwomen Sullivan received communication from… 
…Terry Pantalao, Carriage Hill, regarding annexation of property. 
…Mr. Careno, Evergreen Lane, regarding painting of fire hydrants. 
…Andrew Kelly, Tara Hill, regarding driveway paving and preservation. 
...five residents regarding cannabis – 3 in support of opting-out and 2 in favor of allowing 
recreational cannabis business establishments in Darien. 
 
Alderman Gustafson received communication from two individuals regarding their input 
to cannabis vote. 
 
Alderman Vaughan received communication from Joline Labedis regarding opposition to 
cannabis establishments in Darien. 
 
Mayor Marchese...  
…received communication from four individuals in support of the opt-out vote. 
…read into record letter received from Juliana, third grader at Lace School; he thanked 
Juliana for making his day. 
 

8. MAYOR’S REPORT 
 
A. DONATION TO THE 100 CLUB – RON KIEFER 

  
Ron Kiefer, Darien Lions Club, thanked Darien Chamber of Commerce, City of Darien, 
Darien Lions Club and Kinko-Ace Hardware for the group effort provided in the 
arrangement and sale of 500 blue lights to honor first responders on September 11. 
 
Andrew Brunsen, President – Darien Lions Club, presented checks totaling $700 to The 
100 Club, an organization that supports families of fallen officers and firefighters. 
 
B. CONSIDERATION OF A MOTION TO ADVICE AND CONSENT OF THE 

APPOINTMENT OF NICK PITZER TO THE ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 
COMMITTEE 

 
It was moved by Alderman Schauer and seconded by Alderman Belczak to approve the 
motion as presented. 
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Roll Call: Ayes: Belczak, Chlystek, Gustafson, Kenny, Schauer, 

Sullivan, Vaughan 
 
 Nays: None 

 
Absent: None 
 

Results:  Ayes 7, Nays 0, Absent 0 
MOTION DULY CARRIED 

 
Mayor Marchese explained that Frank Burns resigned, which created an open position; he 
shared a brief biography of Mr. Pitzer.  

 
 Clerk Ragona administered the Oath of Office to Nick Pitzer. 
 

Mayor Marchese expressed his condolences on behalf of the City of Darien to the family 
of Kate Sullivan, co-publisher of Neighbors of Darien Magazine; he provided visitation 
and funeral details.  Alderwoman Sullivan expressed her condolences. 

 
9. CITY CLERK’S REPORT 

 
There was no report. 
 

10. CITY ADMINISTRATOR’S REPORT 
 

There was no report. 
 

11. DEPARTMENT HEAD INFORMATION/QUESTIONS 
 

A. POLICE DEPARTMENT MONTHLY REPORT – AUGUST 2019 
 

The August 2019 Police Department Monthly Report is available on the City website. 
 
Alderman Chlystek inquired regarding car accidents; Chief Thomas responded. 
 
B. MUNICIPAL SERVICES – NO REPORT 

  
Alderman Kenny inquired regarding the parking space lines in Brookhaven Plaza; 
Director Gombac will investigate issue. 
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12. TREASURER’S REPORT 
 

A. WARRANT NUMBER 19-20-11 
 
It was moved by Alderman Schauer and seconded by Alderman Belczak to approve 
payment of Warrant Number 19-20-11 in the amount of $858,120.56 from the 
enumerated funds, and $261,832.18 from payroll funds for the period ending 09/12/19 for 
a total to be approved of $1,119,952.74. 
 

Roll Call: Ayes: Belczak, Chlystek, Gustafson, Kenny, Schauer, 
Sullivan, Vaughan 

 
 Nays: None 
 
Absent: None 
 

Results:  Ayes 7, Nays 0, Absent 0 
MOTION DULY CARRIED 

 
B. MONTHLY REPORT – MAY 2019 
 
C. MONTHLY REPORT – JUNE 2019 
 
D. MONTHLY REPORT – JULY 2019 
 
Treasurer Coren explained all reports are preliminary, pending final issuance of audit 
report.  He reviewed year-to-date sources of revenue, expenditures, and fund balances 
through the month of August 2019. 
 
E. MONTHLY REPORT – AUGUST 2019 
 
General Fund:   Revenue $6,426,293; Expenditures $4,490,940 

Current Balance $3,549,603 
Water Fund:   Revenue $2,385,069; Expenditures $1,803,634; 

Current Balance $2,218,681 
Motor Fuel Tax Fund:   Revenue $222,950; Expenditures $159,133; Current 

Balance $412,158 
Water Depreciation Fund:   Revenue $7,217 Expenditures $53,171; Current 

Balance $2,515,606 
Capital Improvement Fund:   Revenue $208,117; Expenditures $2,970,602; 

Current Balance $5,474,770 
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Treasurer Coren noted $3M fund transfer from General Fund to Capital Improvement 
Fund and $800K fund transfer from Water Fund to Water Depreciation Fund. 
 

13. STANDING COMMITTEE REPORTS 
 
Administrative/Finance Committee – Chairwoman Sullivan announced the next 
meeting of the Economic Development Committee is scheduled for October 9, 2019 at 
7:00 P.M. in the Council Chambers. 
 
Municipal Services Committee – Chairman Belczak announced the next meeting of the 
Municipal Services Committee is scheduled for September 23, 2019 at 7:00 P.M. in the 
Council Chambers. 
 
Police Committee – Chairman Kenny announced the next meeting of the Police 
Committee is scheduled for October 21, 2019 at 6:00 P.M. in the Police Department 
Training Room. 
 

14. QUESTIONS AND COMMENTS – AGENDA RELATED 
 

Chris English, Joline Labedis, Mike Patrushka and Timothy Giuliani voiced their 
opinions regarding cannabis business establishments in Darien. 
 

15. OLD BUSINESS 
 

There was no Old Business. 
 

16. CONSENT AGENDA  
 
It was moved by Alderman Kenny and seconded by Alderman Belczak to approve by 
Omnibus Vote the following items on the Consent Agenda: 
 
A. CONSIDERATION OF A MOTION GRANTING A WAIVER OF THE $50.00 

A DAY FEE FOR THE CLASS “J” TEMPORARY LIQUOR LICENSE FOR 
OUR LADY OF PEACE 

 
B. RESOLUTION NO. R-94-19 A RESOLUTION REJECTING ALL BIDS FOR 

THE FOUNDATION REPAIRS CONSISTING 
OF WATERPROOFING, AND RESTORATION 
OF THE OLD LACE SCHOOL AND DIRECT 
STAFF TO REBID THE PROJECT FOR FY 
20/21 
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C. RESOLUTION NO.R-95-19 A RESOLUTION REJECTING ALL BIDS FOR 
THE PREPARATION AND PAINTING OF 
THE COMMUNICATION TOWER LOCATED 
AT 1041 S. FRONTAGE ROAD AND DIRECT 
STAFF TO REBID THE PROJECT FOR FY 
20/21 
 

Roll Call: Ayes: Belczak, Chlystek, Gustafson, Kenny, Schauer, 
Sullivan, Vaughan 

 
 Nays: None 

 
Absent: None 

 
 Results:  Ayes 7, Nays 0, Absent 0 

MOTION DULY CARRIED 
 

17. NEW BUSINESS 
 
A. CONSIDERATION OF A MOTION TO APPROVE AN ORDINANCE 

AMENDING TITLE 3 OF THE DARIEN CITY CODE, “BUSINESS 
REGULATIONS”, BY ADDING NEW CHAPTER 10, “PROHIBITION OF 
RECREATIONAL CANNABIS BUSINESS ESTABLISHMENTS WITHIN 
THE CITY OF DARIEN” THERETO 
 

It was moved by Alderman Schauer and seconded by Alderwoman Sullivan to approve 
the motion as presented. 
 
Council members voiced their viewpoints regarding cannabis business establishments; 
Attorney Murphy and Chief Thomas responded to inquiries.  Council discussion ensued. 
Mayor Marchese commented regarding issuance of medical marijuana licenses. 
 
Fred Wilson, 30-year resident, inquired regarding survey and shared his viewpoint.  
Joline Labedis and Chris English provided additional comments. 
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Roll Call: Ayes: Kenny, Schauer, Sullivan 
 
 Nays: Belczak, Chlystek, Gustafson, Vaughan  

 
Absent: None 
 

Results:  Ayes 3, Nays 4, Absent 0 
MOTION FAILED 

 
Mayor Marchese stated he will instruct Administrator Vana and staff to begin working on 
ordinance and zoning for recreational cannabis establishments in Darien. 
 
Administrator Vana reviewed next steps in finalizing ordinance.  Attorney Murphy 
provided direction. 

 
18. QUESTIONS, COMMENTS AND ANNOUNCEMENTS – GENERAL 
 

Alderwoman Sullivan announced Hinsdale South High School fall musical, “Fiddler on 
the Roof,” will be held on November 1 – 3 in the school auditorium; she encouraged 
attendance. 
 

19. ADJOURNMENT 
 
There being no further business to come before the City Council, it was moved by 
Alderwoman Sullivan and seconded by Alderman Vaughan to adjourn the City Council 
meeting. 
 

VIA VOICE VOTE – MOTION DULY CARRIED 
 
The City Council meeting adjourned at 8:43 P.M. 
 

  
Mayor  

 
________________________________ 

City Clerk 
 
All supporting documentation and report originals of these minutes are on file in the Office of the City Clerk under File Number 9-16-19. 
Minutes of 9-16-19 CCM. 



Mayoral Proclamation 

Whereas, the City of Darien is committed to ensuring the safety and security of all those 

living in and visiting the City of Darien; and 

Whereas, fire is a serious public safety concern both locally and nationally, and homes are 

the locations where people are at greatest risk from fire; and  

Whereas, fires killed 3,400 civilians in the United States in 2017, according to the National 

Fire Protection Association, and fire departments in the United States responded to 1,319,500 

fires; and four out of five fire deaths occur at home each year; and 

Whereas, the City of Darien residents should identify places in their home where fires can 

start and eliminate those hazards; and  

Whereas, working smoke alarms cut the risk of dying in reported home fires in half; and 

Darien residents should install smoke alarms in every sleeping room, outside each separate 

sleeping area, and on every level of the home; and 

Whereas, Darien residents should listen for the sound of the smoke alarm and when it 

sounds, respond by going outside immediately to the designated meeting place; and  

Whereas, Darien residents who have planned and practiced a home fire escape plan are 

more prepared and will therefore be more likely to survive a fire; and 

Whereas, the City of Darien and the Tri-State Fire Protection District first responders are 

dedicated to reducing the occurrence of home fires and home fire injuries through prevention and 

protection education; and  

Whereas, the 2019 Fire Prevention Week theme, “Not Every Hero Wears a Cape. Plan 

and Practice Your Escape!” works to educate everyone about the small but important actions they 

can take to keep themselves and those around them safe. 
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Mayoral Proclamation 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, I, Joseph A. Marchese, Mayor of the City of Darien, do hereby 

proclaim October 6th through October 12th, 2019, as 

Fire Prevention Week 2019 in Darien 

and I urge all of the citizens of Darien to be aware of their surroundings, look for available ways 

out in the event of a fire or other emergency, respond when the smoke alarm sounds by exiting the 

building immediately, and to support the many public safety activities and efforts of the City of 

Darien and the Tri-State Fire Protection District during Fire Prevention Week 2019. 

In Witness Whereof, I Have Hereunto Set My Hand And Caused To Be Affixed The Seal 

Of The City Of Darien. 

DONE, this seventh day of October Two-Thousand Nineteen. 

 

 ___________________________ 
Joseph A. Marchese, Mayor 

Attest: 

       ___________________________ 

JoAnne E. Ragona, City Clerk 



Mayoral Proclamation 
Whereas, Filipino Americans make up one of the largest Asian American 

ethnic groups in the United States; and 

Whereas, Filipino Americans have contributed greatly to the economic, 

intellectual, spiritual, social, cultural, and political vitality of the United States; and 

Whereas, the Trustees of the Filipino American National Historical Society 

established Filipino American History Month and promoted its observance annually 

and nationally throughout the United States and its territories during the month of 

October; and  

Whereas, the celebration of Filipino American History Month provides an 

opportunity to celebrate the heritage and culture of Filipino Americans and their 

immense contributions to our country. 

NOW, THEREFORE, I, Joseph A. Marchese, Mayor of the City of Darien, 

do hereby proclaim the Month of October 2019, as 

Filipino American History Month 
and urge all residents to celebrate the heritage and culture of Filipino Americans 

and their immense contributions to our country.  

In Witness Whereof, I Have Hereunto Set My Hand And Caused To Be 

Affixed The Seal Of The City of Darien. 

Done, this seventh day of October Two Thousand Nineteen. 

______________________________ 

Joseph A. Marchese, Mayor 

Attest: 

______________________________

JoAnne E. Ragona, City Clerk 



CITY OF DARIEN 
M E M O 

TO: City Council 

FROM: Mayor Joseph A. Marchese 

DATE: October 3, 2019 

SUBJECT: REAPPOINTMENTS TO CITIZEN OF THE YEAR COMMITTEE 
_________________________________________________________________________ 

This is written to request your advice and consent to the reappointment of Linda Borowiak, 
Bonnie Kucera, and Carol Mallers to the Citizen of the Year Committee.  They have expressed an 
interest in continuing to serve the City in this capacity. 

As always, if you have any questions, please contact me. 

mg 



CITY OF DARIEN 
M E M O 

TO: City Council 

FROM: Mayor Joseph A. Marchese 

DATE: October 3, 2019 

SUBJECT: APPOINTMENTS TO CITIZEN OF THE YEAR COMMITTEE 
_________________________________________________________________________ 

This is written to request your advice and consent to the appointment of Ralph A. Beardsley, 
James D. Goetzinger, Ron Kiefer and Gelard C. Kucera and to the Citizen of the Year Committee.  
They have expressed an interest in serving the City in this capacity. 

As always, if you have any questions, please contact me. 

mg 



















CITY OF DARIEN 
M E M O 

TO: City Council 

FROM: Mayor Joseph A. Marchese 

DATE: October 3, 2019 

SUBJECT: APPOINTMENT TO PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION 
_________________________________________________________________________ 

This is written to request your advice and consent to the appointment of Steven E. Hiatt 
to the Planning and Zoning Commission.  He has agreed to serve the City and has 
expressed an interest in this Commission.   

As always, if you have any questions, please contact me. 

mg 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 



 

 

1415 West Diehl Road, Suite 400 

Naperville, IL 60563 

630.566.8400 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 
 
The Honorable Mayor 
Members of the City Council 
City of Darien, Illinois 
 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the 
business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City 
of Darien, Illinois (the City) as of and for the year ended April 30, 2019, and the related notes to 
financial statements, which collectively comprise the City’s basic financial statements as listed in the 
table of contents. 
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this 
includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation 
and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We 
conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing 
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we 
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are 
free from material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the City’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the City’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also 
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation 
of the financial statements. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our audit opinions. 
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Opinions 
 
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, 
the respective financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each 
major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Darien, Illinois, as of 
April 30, 2019, and the respective changes in financial position and, where applicable, cash 
flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America. 
 
Change in Accounting Principle 
 
The City adopted GASB Statement No. 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment 
Benefits Other Than Pensions, which established standards for measuring and recognizing liabilities, 
deferred inflows and outflows of resources and expenses; and modified certain disclosures in the 
notes to financial statements and the required supplementary information as discussed in Note 12 to 
the basic financial statements. Our opinion is not modified with respect to this matter. 
 
Other Matters 
 
Required Supplementary Information 
 
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the 
management’s discussion and analysis and the required supplementary information as listed in 
the table of contents be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, 
although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the 
basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have 
applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with 
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of 
inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the 
information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial 
statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. 
We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited 
procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any 
assurance. 
 
Other Information 
 
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that 
collectively comprise the City’s basic financial statements. The introductory section, combining 
and individual fund financial statements and schedules, and supplemental data are presented for 
purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements. The 
combining and individual fund financial statements and schedules and supplemental data are the 
responsibility of management and were derived from and relate directly to the underlying 
accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. Such information has 
been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements 
and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly 
to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or 
to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with 
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the 
combining and individual fund financial statements and schedules and supplemental data are 
fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole. 

- 2 -



 

- 3 - 

The introductory section has not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of 
the basic financial statements and, accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide any 
assurance on it. 
 
We also have previously audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States of America, the City’s basic financial statements for the year ended April 30, 2018, 
which are not presented with the accompanying financial statements. In our report dated 
September 7, 2018, we expressed unmodified opinions on the respective financial statements of 
the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate 
remaining fund information. That audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on 
the financial statements that collectively comprise the City’s basic financial statement as a 
whole. The 2018 comparative data included on certain individual fund schedules are presented 
for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the financial statements. Such 
information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the 
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the 2018 financials statements. The 
information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of those basic 
financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such 
information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic 
financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional 
procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America. In our opinion, the 2018 comparative information included on certain individual fund 
schedules are fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the basic financial statements 
from which they have been derived. 
 
Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 
 
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated 
August 28, 2019, on our consideration of the City’s internal control over financial reporting and 
on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant 
agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our 
testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, 
and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control over financial 
reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance 
with Government Auditing Standards in considering the City’s internal control over financial 
reporting and compliance. 
 
 
 
Naperville, Illinois 
August 28, 2019 
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1415 West Diehl Road, Suite 400 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL  
OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER  

MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED  
IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 

 
 
Members of the City Council 
City of Darien, Illinois 
 
We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the governmental 
activities, the business-type activities, each major fund and the aggregate remaining fund information 
of the City of Darien, Illinois (the City) as of and for the year ended April 30, 2019, and the related 
notes to financial statements, which collectively comprise the City’s basic financial statements, and 
have issued our report thereon dated August 28, 2019.  
 
Internal Control over Financial Reporting 
 
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the City’s internal 
control over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control. 
Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control. 
 
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, 
or detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a 
material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and 
corrected on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, 
in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention 
by those charged with governance.  
 
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the preceding paragraph 
and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses 
or significant deficiencies and therefore, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that 
were not identified. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in 
internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses may exist 
that have not been identified.
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Compliance and Other Matters 
 
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the City’s financial statements are free 
from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, 
regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and 
material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an 
opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, 
we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance 
or other matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards. 
 
Purpose of this Report 
 
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and 
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
entity’s internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in 
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the City’s internal control and 
compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 
 
 
 
Naperville, Illinois 
August 28, 2019 
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
 
As management of the City of Darien, we offer readers of Darien’s financial statements this 
narrative overview and analysis of the financial activities of the City of Darien for the fiscal year 
ended April 30, 2019.  Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) is designed to focus on 
the current year’s activities, resulting changes, and currently known facts.  We encourage 
readers to consider the information presented here in conjunction with the City’s financial 
statements.  
 
The City of Darien’s MD&A is also designed to assist the reader in focusing on significant 
financial issues, provide an overview of financial activities, identify current changes, address the 
subsequent year’s challenges, identify material deviations from the financial plan (approved 
budgets), and identify issues with individual funds.  
 
 
FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 
 

❑ The City of Darien maintained compliance with the Police Pension funding requirements 
as well as the IMRF funding requirements throughout the year.  

 
❑ The City was able to transfer $3 million to the Capital Projects Fund in FYE 19 to be used 

in the City of Darien’s 3-year Capital Improvement Plan. The Capital Improvement Plan 
includes sidewalk replacement, storm-water ditch projects, new street lighting, the road 
program, and crack sealing to name a few. 

 
❑ The City was able to maintain a balance in The General Fund throughout the fiscal year 

to cover a minimum of 3 months of operating expenses. 
 

❑ The City was able to reduce its General Obligation Refunding Bond debt by $405,000 
during the year. 
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OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the City’s basic financial 
statements.  The basic financial statements are comprised of three components: 
 

• Government-wide financial statements, 

• Fund financial statements, and 

• Notes to the basic financial statements 
 
This report also contains other supplementary information in addition to the basic financial 
statements. 
 

Government-Wide Financial Statements 
 
The government-wide financial statements (see pages 4-6) are designed to be corporate-like in 
that all governmental and business-type activities are consolidated into columns which add to a 
total for the Primary Government. 
 

 The focus of the Statement of Net Position (the "Unrestricted Net Position") is designed to be 
similar to bottom line results for the City and its governmental and business-type activities. This 
statement combines and consolidates governmental funds’ current financial resources (short-
term spendable resources) with capital assets and long-term obligations using the accrual basis 
of accounting and economic resources measurement focus. 
 

 The Statement of Activities is focused on both the gross and net cost of various activities 
(including governmental and business-type), which are supported by the government's general 
taxes and other resources. This is intended to summarize and simplify the user's analysis of the 
cost of various governmental services and/or subsidy to various business-type activities. 
 

 The Governmental Activities reflect the City's basic services, including administration, police 
and buildings, planning and development, streets and yard waste, and public works. Property 
taxes, sales taxes, and shared state income taxes finance the majority of these services. 
 

 The Business-Type Activities reflect private sector type operations (Water & Sewer), where 
the fee for service typically covers all or most of the cost of operation including depreciation. 
 
Fund Financial Statements 
 
Traditional users of governmental financial statements will find the Fund Financial Statements 
presentation (pages 9-15) more familiar. The focus is on Major Funds, rather than the previous 
model fund types. A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control over 
resources that have been segregated for specific activities or objectives. The City uses fund 
accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal requirements. All 
of the funds of the City can be divided into three categories: governmental funds, proprietary 
funds, and fiduciary funds. 
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 Governmental Funds are presented on a sources and uses of liquid resources basis. This is 
the manner in which the financial plan (the budget) is typically developed. The flow and 
availability of liquid (spendable) resources is a clear and appropriate focus of any analysis of a 
government. Funds are established for various purposes and the Fund Financial Statements 
allow the demonstration of sources and uses and/or budgeting compliance associated herewith. 
Governmental Funds are recorded using the current financial resources method. The flow of 
current financial resources will reflect bond proceeds and inter-fund transfers as other financial 
sources, as well as capital expenditures and bond principal payments as expenditures. A 
reconciliation will eliminate these transactions and incorporate the capital assets and long-term 
obligations (bonds and others) into the Governmental Activities column (in the Government-Wide 
Financial Statements). 
  

 Proprietary Funds, also called Enterprise Funds, include the Water/Sewer Fund. These are 
used to report the same function presented in business-type activities in the City-Wide Financial 
Statements. Accounting for this type of fund, we utilize the economic resources method, in a 
similar fashion as corporate accounting. Unlike governmental Funds, the Business-Type 
Activities column on the Business-Type Fund Financial Statements is the same as the Business-
Type column on the Government-Wide Financial Statements. 
 

 Fiduciary Funds represent trust responsibilities of the government, but which have resources 
that are held for the benefit of parties outside the City. These assets are restricted in purpose 
and do not represent discretionary assets of the government. Therefore, these assets are not 
presented as part of the Government-Wide Financial Statements. Accounting for fiduciary funds 
is similar to that used by proprietary funds. Currently the City has three fiduciary funds, the Police 
Pension Fund, Impact Fees Fund, and Darien Escrow Fund. 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
 
The notes to the basic financial statements provide additional information that is essential to a 
full understanding of the data provided in the government-wide and various fund financial 
statements. 
 
Other Information 
 
In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying notes, this report also presents 
certain required supplementary information concerning the City’s contributions and funding 
progress of the Illinois Municipal Retirement Fund and Police Pension Funds; as well as, budget 
to actual comparisons of the General Fund and any major special revenue funds.  
Supplementary schedules include combining and individual fund financial statements and 
schedules and supplemental data. 
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GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS 
 

 
  

Condensed Statement of Net Position 
As of April 30, 2019 and 2018 

(In millions of dollars) 

  
Governmental Activities 

 
Business-Type  

Activities 

 
Government 

Total 
 2019  2018 Change 2019 2018  Change 2019 2018  Change 

Current and other assets 14.63 15.13 (0.50) 7.08 7.50 (0.42) 21.71 22.63         (0.92) 

Capital assets 7.46 7.07 0.39 6.47 5.20 1.27 13.93 12.27 1.66 

   Total Assets 22.09 22.20         (0.11)    13.55 12.70 0.85 35.64 34.90 0.74 
Deferred Outflow of 
Resources 

4.19     1.45  2.74 0.60     0.18   0.42    4.79    1.63         3.16 

Total assets and Deferred  

Outflow of Resources 

  26.28 

 

  23.65 

 

2.63 14.15 

 

 

 

12.88   1.27 40.43 36.53 3.90 

Long-term liabilities  26.38 20.95       5.42 6.16 5.55   0.61 32.54 26.50 6.04 

Other liabilities 1.58 1.21 0.37 0.84 0.88 (0.04) 2.42 2.09 0.33 

   Total Liabilities 27.96 22.16 5.80 7.00 6.43 0.57 34.96 28.59   6.37 
Deferred Inflows of  
Resources 

3.83 4.80     (0.97) 

 

0.04 

 

0.32 (0.28) 3.87 5.12 (1.25) 

Total Liabilities and  

Deferred Inflows of  

Resources 

                      

 

31.79 

                      

 

26.96 

                     

 

4.83 

               

 

7.04 

               

 

6.75 

 

 

0.29 

 

 

38.83 

 

 

33.71 

                  

 

5.12 

Net position          

Net investment in capital  

Assets. 6.63  6.06   0.57 2.97 3.13 (0.16) 9.60 9.19 0.41 

Restricted     .67      .85  (0.18) 0.00 0.00   0.00 0.67 0.85 (0.18) 

Unrestricted (12.81)  (10.22)    (2.59) 4.14 3.00 1.14 (8.67) (7.22) (1.45) 

     Total Net Position (5.51) (3.31)    (2.20) 7.11 6.13 0.98 1.60 2.82 (1.22) 
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Normal Impacts 
 

There are six basic (normal) transactions that will affect the comparability of the Statement of 
Net Position summary presentation. 
 
Net results of activities – which will impact (increase/decrease) current assets and unrestricted 
net position. 
 
Borrowing for capital – which will increase current assets and long-term debt. 
 
Spending borrowed proceeds on new capital – which will:  (a) reduce current assets and increase 
capital assets; and, (b) increase capital assets and long-term debt, which will not change the net 
investment in capital assets. 
 
Spending of non-borrowed current assets on new capital – which will:  (a) reduce current assets 
and increase capital assets; and, (b) will reduce unrestricted net position and increase 
investment in capital assets. 
 
Principal payment on debt – which will:  (a) reduce current assets and reduce long-term debt; 
and, (b) reduce unrestricted net position and increase net investment in capital assets. 
 
Reduction of capital assets through depreciation –will reduce capital assets and net investment 
in capital assets. 
 
Current Year Impacts 
 
As noted earlier, net position may serve over time as a useful indicator of a governments’ 
financial position.  In the case of the City of Darien, total net position decreased approximately 
$1.22 million from $2.82 million to $1.60 million. The City of Darien has a goal to maintain a 
specific level of fund balance which is used to cover Capital Project expenditures or used for the 
early payment of debt.   
 
The City of Darien’s assessed property tax rate was .2725.  The City of Darien’s portion of a 
resident’s tax bill is approximately 4.14% of their total tax bill. The City of Darien’s property taxes 
remain relatively lower than other municipalities within DuPage County.    
 
A portion of the net position of the governmental activities is restricted for street maintenance, 
road improvements, public safety, and a special service area.  
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Condensed Statement of Activities 

As of April 30, 2019 and 2018 

(In millions of dollars) 

  Governmental Business-Type Government 

  Activities Activities Total 

  2019 2018 Change 2019 2018 Change 2019 2018 Change 

Revenues:               

Program Revenues:               

Charges for Services 
           

1.86        1.90  (0.04) 
           

7.85  
           

8.22  
           

(0.37)  
           

9.71  10.12 (0.41) 

Operating and Capital               

Grants and Contributions 
           

0.61        0.66  
          

(0.05) - - - 
           

0.61  0.66 
          

(0.05) 

General Revenues:               

Property Taxes 
           

2.43   2.41  0.02         -             -      -    
           

2.43  2.41 0.02 

Other Taxes 
         

11.59  
          

11.36  0.23   -             -       -    
         

11.59  11.36 0.23 

Other General Revenues 
           

0.33        0.52  (0.19) 
           

0.10  
           

0.06  
           

0.04  
           

0.43 0.58 (0.15) 

     Total Revenues 
         

16.82  
         

16.85   (0.03)  
           

7.95  
           

8.28  
           

(0.33)  
         

24.77  
         

25.13  
           

(0.36)  

Expenses:               

General Government 
           

1.88   1.84      0.04    -             -         -    
           

1.88   1.84  0.04 

Highways and Streets 
           

7.39   5.86  1.53      -     -               -    
           

7.39     5.86  1.53 

Public Safety 
           

8.32    8.09  0.23     -      -               -    
           

8.32      8.09  0.23 

Interest and Fees 
           

0.02         0.02 0.00     -       -          -    
           

0.02      0.02  0.00 

Water                -                   -                   -    
           

6.73  
           

7.19  
           

(0.46)  
           

6.73      7.19   (0.46)  

     Total Expenses 
         

17.61  
         

15.81  1.80 
           

6.73  
           

7.19  
           

(0.46)    24.34  
           

23.00 
           

1.34 

Increase (Decrease) in                                 
   Net Position Before Prior (0.79)  1.04 0.25  1.22 1.09 0.13      0.43  2.13 (1.70) 
   Period Adjustment 

            

Prior Period Adjustment & 
           

(1.41)    0. 00  (1.41)  
           

(0.24)       __-__    
        

(0.24)_ 
      

(1.65)_   0.00 
         

(1.65)  

   Change in Accounting               
   Principles 

              

Change in Net Position 
           

(0.79)    1.04 (1.83) 
           

1.22       1.09 0.13 
           

0.43   2.13      (1.70)  

Net Position, Beginning 
          

(4.72) 
         

(4.35)   (0.37) 
           

5.89  
           

5.04  0.85 
           

1.17        0.69      0.48 

   of Year               

     Net Position, 
          

(5.51) 
          

(3.31) 
           

(2.20)  
           

7.11  
           

6.13   0.98 
           

1.60  
           

2.82  
           

(1.22)  

        End of Year                   
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Normal Impacts 
 
There are eight basic (normal) impacts that will affect the comparability of the revenues and 
expenses on the Statement of Activities summary presentation. 
 
Revenues 
 
Economic condition – which can reflect a declining, stable or growing economic environment, 
and has substantial impact on state sales, replacement and hotel/motel tax revenue; as well as, 
public spending habits for building permits, elective user fees, and volumes of consumption. 
 
Increase/decrease in City approved rates – while certain tax rates are set by statute, the City 
Council has significant authority to impose and periodically increase/decrease rates (water, 
home rule sales tax, property taxes, etc.). 
 
Changing patterns in intergovernmental and grant revenue (both recurring and non-recurring) – 
certain recurring revenues (state shared revenues, etc.) may experience significant changes 
periodically while non-recurring grants are less predictable and often distorted in their impact on 
year to year comparisons. 
 
Market impacts on investment income – the City’s investments may be affected by market 
conditions causing investment income to increase/decrease. 
 
Expenses 
 
Introduction of new programs – within the functional expense categories (general government, 
public safety, and highways and streets), individual programs may be added or deleted to meet 
changing community needs. 
 
Change in authorized personnel – changes in service demand may cause the City Council to 
increase/decrease authorized staffing.  Staffing costs (salary and related benefits) represent the 
largest operating cost of the City. 
 
Salary increases (annual adjustments and merit) – the ability to attract and retain staff members, 
requires the City to strive to approach a competitive salary range position in the marketplace. 
 
Inflation – while overall inflation appears to be reasonably modest, the City is a major consumer 
of certain commodities such as supplies, fuel and parts.  Some functions may experience 
unusual commodity specific increases. 
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GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES 
  
The percentages illustrated below, represent the governmental revenues and expenditures by 
source/function per page 6 of the MD&A, column 1. 
 

 
 
 
 

  
 

11%

4%

14%

69%

2%

GOVERNMENTAL REVENUES 
BY SOURCE

Charges for Services Grants & Contributions Property Taxes

Other Taxes Other General Revenues

11%

42%
47%

0%GOVERNMENTAL EXPENSES 
BY FUNCTION

General Government Highways and Streets Public Safety Interest and fees
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Business Type Activities 
 
The amounts illustrated below, represent the business-type revenues and expenditures by 
activity per page 6 of the MD&A, column 2. 
 

 
 
The Business-Type activity of the City of Darien includes the Water Department.  The Water 
Department serves the city residents and businesses; pricing of water is based on fees 
determined by the supplier of water, the DuPage Water Commission. The City of Darien has 
been able to avoid raising water rates to its residents and businesses over the past several 
years, even though there have been increases in the fee for the supply of water by the DuPage 
Water Commission. Sales of water (revenues) can be affected by climate, at times, with warmer 
and drier summers bringing higher demand.  The operating revenues of the Water Department 
decreased by $.33 million in comparison to the prior year. 
 
The City pays all of the general expenses from the general fund. On an annual basis, a transfer 
in the amount of $250 thousand is done from the Water Department to the General Fund. The 
reason this transfer is done, is to cover the overhead worked on behalf of the Water Department, 
yet captured within the General Fund. Operating expenses decreased $0.46 million for this fiscal 
year. 
 
FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE CITY’S FUNDS 
 
The City of Darien uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance 
related legal requirements. 
 
Governmental Funds:  The focus of the City of Darien’s governmental funds is to provide 
information on near-term inflows, outflows, and balances of spendable resources.  Such 
information is useful in assessing the City of Darien financing requirements.   
 
The City of Darien’s major funds include; the General Fund, and the Capital Improvement.  
 
At of the end of the current fiscal year, the City of Darien’s governmental funds reported a 
combined (major and non-major) ending fund balance of $10.50 million. 
  

Revenue Expenses

7.95 6.73

Business-Type Activities

Revenue Expenses
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CAPITAL ASSET AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION 
 
Capital assets 
 
At the end of fiscal year 2019, the City of Darien had total capital assets (net of accumulated 
depreciation) of $13.93 million, invested in a broad range of capital assets including police and 
public works equipment, buildings, water facilities, roads, streets, and sewer lines.   
 
(For more detail see Note 4 of the Audit Report)  
 
Debt Administration 
 
The debt administration discussion covers two types of debt reported by the City’s financial 
statements. The City’s governmental activities include the general obligation bond issuance for 
the acquisition and construction of major capital facilities. Overall, the City’s governmental 
activities report a total debt of $26.80 million. The City began the fiscal year with a balance of 
$21.21 million in debt. 
 
In the City’s business-type activities a total debt of $6.42 million is reported.  The City began the 
fiscal year with a balance of $6.03 million in debt, restated due to the implementation of GASB 
Statement No. 75. The business activity debt is paid primarily by revenues generated by the 
Water Department’s sale of water fee for service.  The general obligation bonds of the business-
type activity are obligations of the business-type activity only and are used for infrastructure and 
building improvements to the system.  (More detailed information about the City’s long-term 
liabilities is presented in Note 6 of the financial statements.) 
   
FACTORS BEARING ON THE CITY’S FUTURE 
 
The general economic conditions of DuPage County, Cook County, and the Chicago 
metropolitan statistical area are affected by the national economics. The unemployment rate for 
the most recent period available for this year is 4.1% County-wide (Local Area Unemployment 
Statistics LAUS web site).  The City’s future is also affected by the sales tax base, which can 
vary based upon the vacancy rate of the local retail establishments, which are affected by the 
national economy.   
 
The City’s expenditures are comprised mostly of salaries, benefits and capital projects. Other 
factors bearing on the City’s future include increases in water rates charged by DuPage Water 
Commission and the City of Chicago, and the general state of the economy. The uncertainty and 
financial problems with the State of Illinois is a concern for all Illinois municipalities.  All of the 
local economic factors, revenue projections, and analysis of the City’s expenditures are factored 
in the future fiscal budget plans. 
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REQUESTS FOR INFORMATION 
 
This financial report is designed to provide the City’s citizens, taxpayers, and creditors with a 
general overview of the City’s finances; as well as, to demonstrate the City’s accountability for 
the money it receives.  If you have questions about this report, or need additional financial 
information, contact the City Hall: 
 

 
Bryon Vana 

City Administrator 
1702 Plainfield Road 
Darien, Illinois  60561 

 
 

Michael J. Coren 
City Treasurer 

1702 Plainfield Road 
Darien, Illinois  60561
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Governmental Business-Type
Activities Activities Total

ASSETS  
Cash and cash equivalents 8,969,684$       4,198,806$       13,168,490$     
Receivables (net, where applicable,
  of allowances for uncollectibles)  

Property taxes 2,422,258         -                    2,422,258         
Accounts -                    2,600,183         2,600,183         
Intergovernmental 1,672,738         -                    1,672,738         
Other  1,578,500         279,877            1,858,377         

Prepaid expenses 1,245                -                    1,245                
Inventories 32,333              -                    32,333              
Capital assets not being depreciated 819,529            100,000            919,529            
Capital assets being depreciated 6,641,848         6,371,083         13,012,931       

Total assets 22,138,135       13,549,949       35,688,084       

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Unamortized loss on refunding -                    142,217            142,217            
Pension items - police 2,424,956         -                    2,424,956         
Pension items - IMRF 1,693,990         441,208            2,135,198         
Pension items - OPEB 70,639              10,649              81,288              

Total deferred outflows of resources 4,189,585         594,074            4,783,659         

Total assets and deferred outflows of resources 26,327,720       14,144,023       40,471,743       

LIABILITIES  
Accounts payable 854,048            453,866            1,307,914         
Accrued payroll 174,501            13,788              188,289            
Accrued interest payable 5,412                104,148            109,560            
Deposits payable 83,901              -                    83,901              
Unearned revenue 93,803              -                    93,803              
Noncurrent liabilities

Due within one year 413,561            267,735            681,296            
Due in more than one year 26,383,493       6,156,629         32,540,122       

Total liabilities 28,008,719       6,996,166         35,004,885       

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred property taxes 2,422,258         -                    2,422,258         
Pension items - police 1,253,810         -                    1,253,810         
Pension items - IMRF 153,517            39,984              193,501            

Total deferred inflows of resources 3,829,585         39,984              3,869,569         

Total liabilities and deferred inflows of resources 31,838,304       7,036,150         38,874,454       

NET POSITION  
Net investment in capital assets 6,626,377         2,967,999         9,594,376         
Restricted for  

Special service area 14,530              -                    14,530              
Storm sewer 79,693              -                    79,693              
Public safety 231,062            -                    231,062            
Highways and streets 348,341            -                    348,341            

Unrestricted (deficit) (12,810,587)      4,139,874         (8,670,713)        

TOTAL NET POSITION (DEFICIT) (5,510,584)$      7,107,873$       1,597,289$       

April 30, 2019

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

CITY OF DARIEN, ILLINOIS

Primary Government

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Operating Capital
Charges Grants and Grants and

FUNCTIONS/PROGRAMS Expenses for Services Contributions Contributions
PRIMARY GOVERNMENT

Governmental Activities
General government 1,882,869$       1,096,240$       -$                 -$                 
Highways and streets 7,391,353         552,003            560,644            -                   
Public safety 8,318,250         211,683            52,156              -                   
Interest and fiscal charges on
  long-term debt 18,467              -                   -                   -                   

Total governmental activities 17,610,939       1,859,926         612,800            -                   

Business-Type Activities
Water operations 6,731,045         7,845,210         -                   -                   

Total business-type activities 6,731,045         7,845,210         -                   -                   

TOTAL PRIMARY GOVERNMENT 24,341,984$     9,705,136$       612,800$          -$                 

Program Revenues

CITY OF DARIEN, ILLINOIS

 STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

For the Year Ended April 30, 2019
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Governmental Business-Type
Activities Activities Total

(786,629)$           -$                    (786,629)$           
(6,278,706)          -                      (6,278,706)          
(8,054,411)          -                      (8,054,411)          

(18,467)               -                      (18,467)               

(15,138,213)        -                      (15,138,213)        

-                      1,114,165            1,114,165            

-                      1,114,165            1,114,165            

(15,138,213)        1,114,165            (14,024,048)        

General Revenues
Taxes

Property 2,428,173            -                      2,428,173            
Replacement 6,433                   -                      6,433                   
Telecommunications 526,582               -                      526,582               
Utility 1,073,098            -                      1,073,098            
Amusement 86,383                 -                      86,383                 
Hotel/motel 69,528                 -                      69,528                 
Road and bridge 210,370               -                      210,370               
Video gaming 192,596               -                      192,596               
Local gas 321,616               -                      321,616               
Food and beverage 606,667               -                      606,667               

Intergovernmental
Income tax 2,144,307            -                      2,144,307            
Sales 5,667,938            -                      5,667,938            
Local use 684,045               -                      684,045               

Investment income 167,123               59,439                 226,562               
Miscellaneous 163,102               43,682                 206,784               

Total 14,347,961          103,121               14,451,082          

CHANGE IN NET POSITION (790,252)             1,217,286            427,034               
 

NET POSITION (DEFICIT), MAY 1 (3,309,768)          6,133,421            2,823,653            

Change in accounting principle (1,610,857)          (242,834)             (1,853,691)          
Prior period adjustment 200,293               -                      200,293               

Total restatement (1,410,564)          (242,834)             (1,653,398)          

NET POSITION (DEFICIT), MAY 1, RESTATED (4,720,332)          5,890,587            1,170,255            

NET POSITION (DEFICIT), APRIL 30 (5,510,584)$        7,107,873$          1,597,289$          

Net (Expense) Revenue and Change in Net Position
Primary Government

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Capital
General Improvements Nonmajor Total

Cash and cash equivalents 2,944,548$       5,383,887$       641,249$          8,969,684$       
Receivables (net, where applicable,
  of allowances for uncollectibles)

Property taxes 2,230,255         192,003            -                    2,422,258         
Intergovernmental 1,623,852         -                    48,886              1,672,738         
Other 1,578,500         -                    -                    1,578,500         

Prepaid expenses 1,245                -                    -                    1,245                
Inventory 32,333              -                    -                    32,333              

TOTAL ASSETS 8,410,733$       5,575,890$       690,135$          14,676,758$     

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable 664,470$          146,632$          42,946$            854,048$          
Accrued payroll 174,501            -                    -                    174,501            
Deposits payable 83,901              -                    -                    83,901              
Unearned revenue 93,803              -                    -                    93,803              

Total liabilities 1,016,675         146,632            42,946              1,206,253         

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Unavailable property taxes 2,230,255         192,003            -                    2,422,258         
Other unavailable revenue 549,554            -                    -                    549,554            

Total deferred inflows of resources 2,779,809         192,003            -                    2,971,812         

Total liabilities and deferred inflows of resources 3,796,484         338,635            42,946              4,178,065         

FUND BALANCES 
Nonspendable

Inventory 32,333              -                    -                    32,333              
Prepaid 1,245                -                    -                    1,245                

Restricted
Special service area -                    -                    14,530              14,530              
Storm sewer -                    -                    79,693              79,693              
Public safety 26,437              -                    204,625            231,062            
Highways and streets -                    -                    348,341            348,341            

Unrestricted
Assigned

Capital Improvements -                    5,237,255         -                    5,237,255         
Unassigned

General Fund 4,554,234         -                    -                    4,554,234         

Total fund balances 4,614,249         5,237,255         647,189            10,498,693       

TOTAL LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS
  OF RESOURCES, AND FUND BALANCES 8,410,733$       5,575,890$       690,135$          14,676,758$     

OF RESOURCES, AND FUND BALANCES

CITY OF DARIEN, ILLINOIS

BALANCE SHEET
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

April 30, 2019

LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS 

ASSETS 

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 10,498,693$       

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of net
  position are different because:

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial
  resources and, therefore, are not reported in the governmental funds 7,461,377           

Long-term liabilities are not due and payable in the current period 
  and, therefore, are not reported in the governmental funds

Bonds payable (835,000)             
Compensated absences payable (730,942)             

Other long-term receivables are not available to pay for current period
  expenditures and, therefore, are deferred in the governmental funds 549,554              
  
Net pension liability for the Illinois Municipal Retirement Fund is
  shown as an liability on the statement of net position (2,412,530)          

Differences between expected and actual experiences, assumption
  changes, net differences between projected and actual earnings, 
  and contributions subsequent to the measurement date for the
  Illinois Municipal Retirement Fund are recognized as deferred
  outflows and inflows of resources on the statement of net position 1,540,473           

Net pension liability for the Police Pension Fund is shown as a liability
  on the statement of net position (21,185,483)        

Differences between expected and actual experiences, assumption
  changes, and net differences between projected and actual earnings 
  for the Police Pension Fund are recognized as deferred outflows
  and inflows of resources on the statement of net position 1,171,146           

Total other postemployment benefit plan liability is shown as a 
  liability on the statement of net position (1,633,099)          

Differences between expected and actual experiences and assumption
  changes for the other postemployment benefit plan are recognized as
  deferred outflows and inflows of resources on the statement of
  net position 70,639                

Accrued interest payable is not recorded in governmental funds but is
  recorded on the statement of net position (5,412)                 

NET POSITION OF GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES (5,510,584)$        

CITY OF DARIEN, ILLINOIS

RECONCILIATION OF FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS TO THE
GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES IN THE STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

For the Year Ended April 30, 2019

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Capital
General Improvements Nonmajor Total

REVENUES
Taxes 5,325,928$       192,472$              5,061$              5,523,461$       
Licenses and permits 1,250,081         -                        -                    1,250,081         
Intergovernmental 8,520,597         -                        588,492            9,109,089         
Charges for services 612,789            -                        -                    612,789            
Investment income 76,040              77,718                  13,365              167,123            
Miscellaneous 115,535            -                        -                    115,535            

 
Total revenues 15,900,970       270,190                606,918            16,778,078       

 
EXPENDITURES 

Current
General government 1,885,065         -                        -                    1,885,065         
Highways and streets 2,755,954         27,871                  613,848            3,397,673         
Public safety 8,165,123         -                        141,579            8,306,702         

Capital outlay -                    3,932,932             -                    3,932,932         
Debt service

Principal -                    175,000                -                    175,000            
Interest and fiscal charges -                    19,178                  -                    19,178              

   
Total expenditures 12,806,142       4,154,981             755,427            17,716,550       

   
EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES 
  OVER EXPENDITURES 3,094,828         (3,884,791)            (148,509)          (938,472)          

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers in 38,041              3,000,000             230                   3,038,271         
Transfers (out) (3,000,230)       -                        (38,041)            (3,038,271)       

Total other financing sources (uses) (2,962,189)       3,000,000             (37,811)            -                    
   

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCES 132,639            (884,791)               (186,320)          (938,472)          

FUND BALANCES, MAY 1 4,281,317         6,122,046             833,509            11,236,872       

Prior period adjustment 200,293            -                        -                    200,293            

FUND BALANCES, MAY 1 (RESTATED) 4,481,610         6,122,046             833,509            11,437,165       

FUND BALANCES, APRIL 30 4,614,249$       5,237,255$           647,189$          10,498,693$     

For the Year Ended April 30, 2019

CITY OF DARIEN, ILLINOIS

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES,
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCES -
  TOTAL GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS (938,472)$         

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities are
  different because:

Governmental funds report capital outlay as expenditures; however, they are
  capitalized and depreciated in the statement of activities 1,135,737         

Some expenses in the statement of activities (e.g., depreciation) do not require 
  the use of current financial resources and, therefore, are not reported as
  expenditures in governmental funds (742,625)           

Revenues in the statement of activities that are not available in governmental
  funds are not reported as revenue in governmental funds until received 42,609              

The repayment of the principal portion long-term debt is reported as an expenditure
  when due in governmental funds but as a reduction of principal outstanding
  in the statement of activities 175,000            

The change in accrued interest payable on long-term debt is reported as an
  expense on the statement of activities 711                   

The change in compensated absences payable is shown as an expense on the 
  statement of activities (131,216)           

The change in the net pension liability for the Illinois Municipal Retirement Fund
  is reported only in the statement of activities (2,460,254)        

The change in deferred outflows and inflows of resources for the Illinois Municipal 
  Retirement Fund is reported only in the statement of activities 2,658,438         

The change in the net pension liability for the Police Pension Fund is reported
 only in the statement of activities (1,582,010)        

The change in deferred outflows and inflows of resources for the Police Pension
  Fund is reported only in the statement of activities 1,003,433         

The change in the total other postemployment benefit liability is reported only 
 in the statement of activities (22,242)             

The change in deferred outflows and inflows of resources for the other 
  postemployment benefit plan is reported only in the statement of activities 70,639              

CHANGE IN NET POSITION OF GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES (790,252)$         

CITY OF DARIEN, ILLINOIS

RECONCILIATION OF THE GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS STATEMENT OF REVENUES,

GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES IN THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

For the Year Ended April 30, 2019

EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES TO THE

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Business-Type 
Activities

Water
Operations

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 4,198,806$         
Receivables (net, where applicable, of allowances for uncollectibles)

Water - unbilled 2,600,183           
Other 279,877              

Total current assets 7,078,866           

NONCURRENT ASSETS
Capital assets

Assets not being depreciated 100,000              
Assets being depreciated

Cost 17,527,580         
Accumulated depreciation (11,156,497)        

Net capital assets being depreciated 6,371,083           

Total noncurrent assets 6,471,083           

Total assets 13,549,949         

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Unamortized loss on refunding 142,217              
Pension items - IMRF 441,208              
Pension items - OPEB 10,649                

Total deferred outflows of resources 594,074              

Total assets and deferred outflows of resources 14,144,023         

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts payable 453,866              
Accrued payroll 13,788                
Accrued interest payable 104,148              
Bonds payable 240,000              
Compensated absences payable 8,301                  
Total OPEB liability 19,434                

 
Total current liabilities 839,537              

 
LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

Bonds payable 5,254,480           
Compensated absences payable 47,041                
Net pension liability 628,355              
Total OPEB liability 226,753              

Total long-term liabilities 6,156,629           

Total liabilities 6,996,166           

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Pension items - IMRF 39,984                

Total liabilities and deferred inflows of resources  7,036,150           

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets 2,967,999           
Unrestricted 4,139,874           

 
TOTAL NET POSITION 7,107,873$         

CITY OF DARIEN, ILLINOIS

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
PROPRIETARY FUNDS

April 30, 2019

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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CITY OF DARIEN, ILLINOIS

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES,
AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION

PROPRIETARY FUNDS

For the Year Ended April 30, 2019

Business-Type
Activities

Water
Operations

OPERATING REVENUES
Water sales 7,794,496$         
Inspections/tap on/permits 21,916                
Sale of meters 7,755                  
Other water sales 21,043                

Total operating revenues 7,845,210           

OPERATING EXPENSES
  EXCLUDING DEPRECIATION

Personnel services 713,809              
Materials and supplies 749,478              
Contractual services 4,680,054           
Capital related - uncapitalized 101,199              

Total operating expenses excluding
  depreciation 6,244,540           

OPERATING INCOME BEFORE
  DEPRECIATION 1,600,670           

Depreciation 329,570              

OPERATING INCOME 1,271,100           

NON-OPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)
Investment income 59,439                
Miscellaneous income 43,682                
Interest expense (156,935)             

Total non-operating revenues (expenses) (53,814)               

CHANGE IN NET POSITION 1,217,286           

NET POSITION, MAY 1 6,133,421           

Change in accounting principle (242,834)             

NET POSITION, MAY 1, RESTATED 5,890,587           

NET POSITION, APRIL 30 7,107,873$         

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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CITY OF DARIEN, ILLINOIS

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
PROPRIETARY FUNDS

For the Year Ended April 30, 2019

Business-Type
Activities

Water
Operations

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Receipts from customers and users 7,908,786$         
Payments to suppliers (5,319,644)          
Payments to employees (762,031)             
Payments to other funds (250,000)             

Net cash from operating activities 1,577,111           

CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL
  FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Due to/from other funds (116,801)             

Net cash from noncapital financing activities (116,801)             

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND 
  RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Purchase of capital assets (1,601,099)          
Bond proceeds 3,440,565           
Principal payments (230,000)             
Interest and fiscal charges (75,077)               

Net cash from capital and related financing activities 1,534,389           

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Interest received 59,439                

Net cash from investing activities 59,439                

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND 
  CASH EQUIVALENTS 3,054,138           

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, MAY 1 1,144,668           

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, APRIL 30 4,198,806$         

RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING INCOME
  TO NET CASH FLOWS FROM
  OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Operating income 1,271,100$         
Adjustments to reconcile operating income
  to net cash from operating activities

Depreciation 329,570              
Miscellaneous income 43,682                
Changes in assets and liabilities

Accounts receivable 19,894                
Accounts payable (38,913)               
Accrued payroll 2,185                  
Compensated absences payable 8,507                  
Net pension liability - IMRF (51,618)               
Net pension liability - OPEB (7,296)                 

NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 1,577,111$         

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Pension
Trust Fund

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 292,332$          
Investments

U.S. Treasury obligations 1,624,885         
U.S. agency obligations 5,839,210         
Municipal bonds 906,676            
Corporate bonds 3,712,541         
Equity mutual funds 15,351,543       
Common stock 1,208,918         

Prepaids 530                   
Receivables

Accrued interest 98,073              

Total assets 29,034,708       
 

LIABILITIES
Benefits payable 11,878              

Total liabilities 11,878              

NET POSITION RESTRICTED
  FOR PENSION BENEFITS 29,022,830$     

CITY OF DARIEN, ILLINOIS

STATEMENT OF FIDUCIARY NET POSITION

 April 30, 2019

FIDUCIARY FUNDS

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION
POLICE PENSION FUND

                           
ADDITIONS

Contributions  
Employer 1,634,019$       

 Employee 319,775            
                           

Total contributions 1,953,794         
                           

Investment income
Net appreciation in
  fair value of investments 649,310            
Interest 1,174,242         

Total investment income 1,823,552         

Less investment expense (84,790)             

Net investment income 1,738,762         

Total additions           3,692,556 

DEDUCTIONS
Pension benefits 2,125,790         
Contractual services 23,469              
Administrative expenses 18,069              

                           
Total deductions 2,167,328         

                           
NET INCREASE 1,525,228         

NET POSITION RESTRICTED                            
  FOR PENSION BENEFITS

May 1 27,497,602       

April 30 29,022,830$     

CITY OF DARIEN, ILLINOIS

For the Year Ended April 30, 2019

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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CITY OF DARIEN, ILLINOIS 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

April 30, 2019 
 
 
 
1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
 The financial statements of the City of Darien, Illinois (the City) have been prepared in 

conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, 
as applied to government units (hereinafter referred to as generally accepted accounting 
principles (GAAP)). The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the 
accepted standard-setting body for establishing governmental accounting and financial 
reporting principles. The more significant of the City’s accounting policies are described 
below. 

 
 a. Reporting Entity 
 
  The City is a municipal corporation governed by a seven-member council consisting 

of seven aldermen and the mayor. As required by GAAP, these financial statements 
present the City and its component units, entities for which the government is 
considered to be financially accountable. Blended component units, although legally 
separate entities, are, in substance, part of the City’s operations and so data from 
these units are combined with data of the primary government. 

 
  The City’s financial statements include a pension trust fund. 
 
  Police Pension Employees Retirement System 
 
  The City’s police employees participate in the Police Pension Employees Retirement 

System (PPERS). PPERS functions for the benefit of these employees and is 
governed by a five-member pension board. Two members appointed by the City’s 
Mayor, one elected pension beneficiary, and two elected police employees constitute 
the pension board. The City and PPERS participants are obligated to fund all PPERS 
costs based upon actuarial valuations. The State of Illinois is authorized to establish 
benefit levels and the City is authorized to approve the actuarial assumptions used in 
the determination of contribution levels. Although it possesses many of the 
characteristics of a legally separate government, PPERS is reported as if it were part 
of the primary government because its sole purpose is to finance and administer the 
pensions of the City’s police employees, and because of the fiduciary nature of such 
activities. PPERS is reported as a pension trust fund. 

 
 b. Fund Accounting 
 
  The City uses funds to report on its financial position and the changes in its financial 

position. Fund accounting is designed to demonstrate legal compliance and to aid 
financial management by segregating transactions related to certain city functions or 
activities. 
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CITY OF DARIEN, ILLINOIS 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
 b. Fund Accounting (Continued) 
 
  A fund is a separate accounting entity with a self-balancing set of accounts. 
 
  Funds are classified into the following categories: governmental, proprietary, and 

fiduciary.  
 
  Governmental funds are used to account for all or most of the City’s general 

activities. Special revenue funds are used to account for and report the proceeds of 
specific revenue sources that are restricted or committed to expenditure for specified 
purposes other than debt service or capital projects. Capital projects funds are used to 
account for and report financial resources that are restricted, committed, or assigned 
to expenditure for capital outlays, including the acquisition or construction of capital 
facilities and other capital assets. Debt service funds are used to account for and 
report financial resources that are restricted, committed, or assigned to expenditure 
for principal and interest. The General Fund is used to account for all activities of the 
general government not accounted for in some other fund. 

 
  Proprietary funds are used to account for activities similar to those found in the 

private sector, where the determination of net income is necessary or useful to sound 
financial administration. Goods or services from such activities can be provided 
either to outside parties (enterprise funds) or to other departments or agencies 
primarily within the City (internal service funds).  

 
  Fiduciary funds are used to account for assets held on behalf of outside parties, 

including other governments. The City utilizes pension trust funds and agency funds 
which are generally used to account for assets that the City holds in fiduciary 
capacity or on behalf of others as their agent. 

 
 c. Government-Wide and Fund Financial Statements 
 
  The government-wide financial statements (i.e., the statements of net position and 

the statement of activities) report information on all of the nonfiduciary activities of 
the City. The effect of material interfund activity has been eliminated from these 
financial statements. Governmental activities, which normally are supported by taxes 
and intergovernmental revenues, are reported separately from business-type 
activities, which rely to a significant extent on fees and charges for support. 

 
  The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a 

given function, segment, or program are offset by program revenues. Direct expenses 
are those that are clearly identifiable with a specific function or segment. Program 
revenues include (1) charges to customers or applicants who purchase, use, or 
directly benefit from goods, services, or privileges provided by a given function or  
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
 c. Government-Wide and Fund Financial Statements (Continued) 
 
  segment and (2) grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting the 

operational or capital requirements of a particular function or segment. Taxes and 
other items not properly included among program revenues are reported instead as 
general revenues. 

 
  Separate financial statements are provided for governmental funds, proprietary 

funds, and fiduciary funds, even though the latter are excluded from the 
government-wide financial statements. Major individual governmental funds and 
major individual enterprise funds are reported as separate columns in the fund 
financial statements. 

 
  The City reports the following major governmental funds: 
 
   The General Fund is the City’s primary operating fund. It accounts for all 

financial resources of the general government, except those accounted for in 
another fund. 

 
   The Capital Improvements Fund is used to account for all restricted, 

committed, or assigned resources used for the acquisition of general capital 
assets including infrastructure capital assets. 

 
  The City reports the following major proprietary fund: 
 
   The Water Operations Fund accounts for the provision of water and sewer 

services to the residents of the City. All activities necessary to provide such 
services are accounted for in this fund including, but not limited to, 
administration, operations, financing and related debt service, and billing and 
collections. 

 
  The City reports the following fiduciary funds:  
 

   The Police Pension Fund accounts for the activities of the accumulation of 
resources to pay pension costs. Resources are contributed by members at rates 
fixed by state statutes and by the City which uses the annual property tax levy 
to fund the employer contribution. 

 
   Agency Funds account for assets held on behalf of third parties and that do not 

involve the measurement of operating results. 
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
 d. Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting, and Basis of Presentation 
 

  The government-wide financial statements are reported using the economic resources 
measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting, as are the proprietary fund 
and pension trust fund financial statements. Revenues and additions are recorded 
when earned and expenses and deductions are recorded when a liability is incurred. 
Property taxes are recognized as revenues in the year for which they are levied (i.e., 
intended to finance). Grants and similar items are recognized as revenue as soon as 
all eligibility requirements imposed by the provider have been met. Operating 
revenues and expenses are directly attributable to the operation of the proprietary 
funds. Non-operating revenue/expenses are incidental to the operations of these 
funds.  

 
  Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial 

resources measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Under 
the modified accrual basis of accounting, revenues are recognized when susceptible 
to accrual (i.e., when they become both measurable and available). “Measurable” 
means the amount of the transaction can be determined and “available” means 
collectible within the current period or soon enough thereafter to be used to pay 
liabilities of the current period. For this purpose, the City considers revenues to be 
available if they are collected within 60 days of the end of the current fiscal period, 
except for sales taxes, and telecommunications taxes which use a 90-day period. The 
City recognizes property taxes when they become both measurable and available in 
the year intended to finance. Expenditures are recorded when the related fund 
liability is incurred. Principal and interest on general long-term debt are recorded as 
expenditures when due. 

 
  Sales taxes owed to the state at year end; franchise taxes, licenses, charges for 

services, and interest associated with the current fiscal period are all considered to be 
susceptible to accrual and are recognized as revenues of the current fiscal period. 
Income and motor fuel taxes and fines collected and held by the state or county at 
year end on behalf of the City are also recognized as revenue. Fines and permits 
revenues are not susceptible to accrual because generally they are not measurable 
until received in cash. 

 
  In applying the susceptible to accrual concept to intergovernmental revenues (i.e., 

federal and state grants), the legal and contractual requirements of the numerous 
individual programs are used as guidelines. Monies that are virtually unrestricted as 
to purpose of expenditure, which are usually revocable only for failure to comply 
with prescribed compliance requirements, are reflected as revenues at the time of 
receipt or earlier if the susceptible to accrual criteria are met. 
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
 d. Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting, and Basis of Presentation (Continued) 

 
  The City reports unearned and unavailable/deferred revenue on its financial 

statements. Unavailable/deferred revenues arise when potential revenue does not 
meet both the measurable and available or period intended to finance criteria for 
recognition in the current period. Unearned revenues arise when resources are 
received by the government before it has legal claim to them as when grant monies 
are received prior to the incurrence of qualifying expenditures. In subsequent 
periods, when both revenue recognition criteria are met, or when the government has 
a legal claim to the resources, the liability for unearned revenue and the deferred 
inflows of resources for unavailable/deferred revenue is removed from the financial 
statements and revenue is recognized. 

 
 e. Cash and Investments 
 
  Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 
  For purposes of the statement of cash flows, the City’s proprietary funds consider all 

highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less when 
purchased to be cash equivalents. 

 
  Investments 
 
  City investments with a maturity of one year or less when purchased are stated at 

cost or amortized cost. City investments with a maturity greater than one year when 
purchased and all pension fund investments are stated at fair value. Fair value is the 
price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. 

 
 f. Interfund Receivables/Payables 
 
  Activity between funds that are representative of lending/borrowing arrangements 

outstanding at the end of the fiscal year are referred to as either “due to/from other 
funds” (i.e., the current portion of interfund loans) or “advances to/from other funds” 
(i.e., the noncurrent portion of interfund loans). All other outstanding balances 
between funds are reported as “due to/from other funds.”  

 
 g. Inventories 
 
  Inventories are valued at cost, which approximates market, using the first-in/first-out 

(FIFO) method. The costs of governmental fund inventories, if any, are recorded as 
expenditures when purchased. 
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
 h. Prepaid Items/Expenses 
 
  Payments made to vendors for services that will benefit periods beyond the date of 

this report, if any, are recorded as prepaid items/expenses and are recognized on the 
consumption method. 

 
 i. Capital Assets 
 
  Capital assets, which include property, plant, equipment, and infrastructure assets 

(e.g., roads, bridges, and storm sewers), are reported in the applicable governmental 
or business-type activities columns in the government-wide financial statements. 
Capital assets are defined by the City as assets with an initial, individual cost of more 
than $50,000 for machinery, equipment, and vehicles, $100,000 for building 
improvements, $100,000 for buildings, $200,000 for infrastructure and an estimated 
useful life in excess of one year, and any amount for land. Such assets are recorded 
at historical cost or estimated historical cost if purchased or constructed. Donated 
capital assets are recorded at acquisition value at the date of donation. 

 
  The costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset 

or materially extend asset lives are not capitalized. Improvements are capitalized and 
depreciated over the remaining useful lives of the related capital assets, as 
applicable. 

 
  Major outlays for capital assets and improvements are capitalized as projects are 

constructed. Property, plant, and equipment are depreciated using the straight-line 
method over the following estimated useful lives: 

 
Assets  Years 

   
Buildings  25-50 
Building improvements  8-25 
Land improvements  15-35 
Machinery, vehicles, and equipment  5-20 
Infrastructure - streets  25-50 
Waterworks and sewage system  25 

 
 j. Compensated Absences 
 
  It is the City’s policy to permit employees to accumulate earned but unused vacation 

and sick pay benefits. Vacations must be taken in the year following the one in 
which it was earned. Unused vacation time is not allowed to be carried over to the 
subsequent year without approval. Sick leave may be accumulated for future use.  
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
 j. Compensated Absences (Continued) 
 
  City employees may accrue up to 120 or 150 hours depending on the employment 

classification. The City’s policy allows for a bonus to be paid for those employees 
who have not used sick days in the given year. Accumulated amounts are paid out at 
retirement at a rate of 50% of the employee’s current hourly salary rate. 

 
  Vested or accumulated vacation leave are reported as an expenditure and a fund 

liability of the governmental fund that will pay it once retirement or separation has 
occurred. Vested or accumulated vacation and sick leave of proprietary funds and 
governmental activities are recorded as an expense and liability of those funds as the 
benefits accrue to employees. 

 
 k. Long-Term Obligations 
 
  In the government-wide financial statements and proprietary funds in the fund 

financial statements, long-term debt and other long-term obligations are reported as 
liabilities in the applicable governmental activities, business-type activities, or 
proprietary fund financial statements. Bond premiums and discounts are deferred and 
amortized over the life of the bonds. Bonds payable are reported net of the applicable 
bond premium or discount. Bond issuance costs are recognized as expense during the 
current period. 

 
  In the fund financial statements, governmental funds recognize bond premiums and 

discounts, as well as bond issuance costs, during the current period. The face amount 
of debt issued is reported as other financing sources. Premiums received on debt 
issuances are reported as other financing sources while discounts on debt issuances 
are reported as other financing uses. Issuance costs, whether or not withheld from the 
actual debt proceeds received, are reported as expenditures. 

 
 l. Fund Balances/Net Position 
 

 In the fund financial statements, governmental funds report nonspendable fund 
balance for amounts that are either not in spendable form or legally or contractually 
required to be maintained intact. Restrictions of fund balance are reported for 
amounts constrained by legal restrictions from outside parties for use for a specific 
purpose, or externally imposed by outside entities. Committed fund balance is 
constrained by formal actions of the City Council, which is considered the City’s 
highest level of decision-making authority. Formal actions include ordinances 
approved by the City Council. Assigned fund balance represents amounts 
constrained by the City’s intent to use them for a specific purpose. The authority to 
assign fund balance has been delegated to the City Administrator. Any residual fund 
balance of the General Fund or any deficit fund balance in other governmental funds 
are reported as unassigned. 
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
 l. Fund Balances/Net Position (Continued) 
 

 The City has not adopted a flow of funds policy and, therefore, applies the flow of 
funds from GASB Statement No. 54, which prescribes that the funds with the highest 
level of constraint are expended first. If restricted or unrestricted funds are available 
for spending, the restricted funds are spent first. Additionally, if different levels of 
unrestricted funds are available for spending the City considers committed funds to 
be expended first followed by assigned and then unassigned funds. For net position, 
restricted funds are spent first then unrestricted funds.  

 
 In the government-wide financial statements, restricted net position is legally 

restricted by outside parties for a specific purpose. Net investment in capital assets 
represents the City’s investment in the book value of capital assets, less any 
outstanding debt that was issued to construct or acquire the capital asset. 

 
None of the restricted net position or restricted fund balance results from enabling 
legislation adopted by the City. 

 
 m. Interfund Transactions 
 
  Interfund services are accounted for as revenues, expenditures, or expenses. 

Transactions that constitute reimbursements to a fund for expenditures/expenses 
initially made from it that are properly applicable to another fund are recorded as 
expenditures/expenses in the reimbursing fund and as reductions of 
expenditures/expenses in the fund that is reimbursed. 

 
  All other interfund transactions, except interfund services and reimbursements, are 

reported as transfers. 
 
 n. Accounting Estimates 
 
  The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires 

management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of 
assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of 
the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and 
expenditures/expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from 
those estimates. 

 
 o. Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources 
 

In addition to assets, the statement of financial position will sometimes report a 
separate section for deferred outflows of resources. This separate financial statement 
element, deferred outflows of resources, represents a consumption of net assets that 
applies to a future period(s) and so will not be recognized as an outflow of resources  
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 

 o. Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources (Continued) 
 

(expense/expenditure) until then. In addition to liabilities, the statement of financial 
position will sometimes report a separate section for deferred inflows of resources. 
This separate financial statement element, deferred inflows of resources, represents 
an acquisition of net assets that applies to a future period(s) and so will not be 
recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that time.  

 
2. DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS 
 
 The City and pension fund categorize the fair value measurements within the fair value 

hierarchy established by GAAP. The hierarchy is based on the valuation inputs used to 
measure the fair value of the asset. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in active markets for 
identical assets; Level 2 inputs are significant other observable inputs; and Level 3 inputs 
are significant unobservable inputs. 

 
 The City has the following recurring fair value measurements as of April 30, 2019. The 

IMET 1 to 3-Year Fund, a mutual fund, is measured based on the net asset value of the 
shares in IMET, which is based on the fair value of the underlying investments in the 
mutual fund (Level 3 input). 

 
 The City maintains a cash and investment pool that is available for use by all funds, except 

the pension trust funds. Each fund’s portion of this pool is displayed on the financial 
statements as “cash and investments.” In addition, cash and investments are separately held 
by several of the City’s funds. The deposits and investments of the pension trust funds are 
held separately from those of other funds. 

 
a. City Deposits and Investments 
 

The City’s investment policy authorizes the City to invest in all investments allowed 
by Illinois Compiled Statutes (ILCS). These include deposits/investments in insured 
commercial banks, savings and loan institutions, obligations of the U.S. Treasury 
and U.S. agencies, insured credit union shares, money market mutual funds with 
portfolios of securities issued or guaranteed by the United States Government or 
agreements to repurchase these same obligations, repurchase agreements, short-term 
commercial paper rated within the three highest classifications by at least two 
standard rating services, The Illinois Funds (created by the Illinois State Legislature 
under the control of the State Treasurer that maintains a $1 per share value which is 
equal to the participants fair value), and the Illinois Metropolitan Investment Fund 
(IMET), a not-for-profit investment trust formed pursuant to the Illinois Municipal 
Code and managed by a Board of Trustees elected from the participating members.  
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2. DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS (Continued) 
 

a. City Deposits and Investments (Continued)  
 
IMET is not registered with the SEC as an investment company. Investments in 
IMET are valued at IMET’s share price, the price for which the investment could be 
sold. The City’s investment policy does limit its deposits to financial institutions that 
are members of the FDIC system and are capable of posting collateral for amounts in 
excess of FDIC insurance. 

 
  The Illinois Public Treasurers' Investment Pool, known as The Illinois Funds, 

operates as a qualified external investment pool in accordance with the criteria 
established in GASB Statement No. 79, Certain External Investment Pools and Pool 

Participants, and thus, reports all investments at amortized cost rather than market 
value. The investment in The Illinois Funds by participants is also reported at 
amortized cost. The Illinois Funds does not have any limitations or restrictions on 
participant withdrawals. The Illinois Treasurer's Office issues a separate financial 
report for The Illinois Funds which may be obtained by contacting the 
Administrative Office at Illinois Business Center, 400 West Monroe Street, Suite 
401, Springfield, Illinois 62704. 

 
  It is the policy of the City to invest its funds in a manner which will provide the 

highest investment return with the maximum security while meeting the daily cash 
flow demands of the City and conforming to all state and local statutes governing the 
investment of public funds, using the “prudent person” standard for managing the 
overall portfolio. The primary objectives of the policy are, in order of priority, safety 
of principal, liquidity, and yield. 

 
  Deposits with Financial Institutions 
 
  Custodial credit risk for deposits with financial institutions is the risk that in the 

event of bank failure, the City’s deposits may not be returned to it. The City’s 
investment policy requires pledging of collateral for all bank balances in excess of 
federal depository insurance. The investment policy does not address how collateral 
is held. The City’s deposits are insured through a letter of credit in the City’s name. 

 
  Investments 
 
  Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates will adversely affect the fair 

value of an investment. In accordance with its investment policy, the City limits its 
exposure to interest rate risk by structuring the portfolio to provide liquidity for short 
and long-term cash flow needs while providing a reasonable rate of return based on 
the current market. Unless matched to a specific cash flow, the City does not directly 
invest in securities maturing more than five years from the date of purchase. 
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2. DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS (Continued) 
 

a. City Deposits and Investments (Continued) 
 
  Investments (Continued) 
 
  The following table presents the investments and maturities of the City’s investments 

that are subject to interest rate risk as of April 30, 2019: 
 

  Investment Maturities (in Years) 
Investment Type Fair Value Less than 1 1-5 6-10 Greater than 10 

      
IMET 1 to 3-Year Fund $ 16,775 $ - $ 16,775 $ - $ - 
      
TOTAL $ 16,775 $ - $ 16,775 $ - $ - 

 
  Credit risk is the risk that the issuer of a debt security will not pay its par value upon 

maturity. The City limits its exposure to credit risk by limiting investments to the 
types of securities listed above; pre-qualifying the financial institutions, 
broker/dealers, intermediaries, and advisers with which the City will do business in 
accordance with the City’s investment policy; diversifying the investment portfolio 
so that the impact of potential losses from any one type of security or from any one 
individual issuer will be minimized.  

 
  Custodial credit risk for investments is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the 

counterparty to the investment, the City will not be able to recover the value of its 
investments that are in possession of an outside party. To limit its exposure, the 
City’s investment policy requires all security transactions that are exposed to 
custodial credit risk to be processed on a delivery versus payment (DVP) basis with 
the underlying investments held by an independent third-party custodian and 
evidenced by safekeeping receipts.  

 
  Concentration of credit risk is the risk that the City has a high percentage of its 

investments invested in one type of investment. The City’s investment policy 
requires diversification of investments to avoid unreasonable risk. The investments 
shall be diversified by: 

 
• Limiting investments to avoid over concentration in securities from a specific 

issuer or business sector (excluding U.S. Treasury securities); 
• Limiting investment in securities that have higher credit risks; 
• Investing in securities with varying maturities; and 
• Continuously investing a portion of the portfolio in readily available funds 

such as local government investment pools (LGIPs), money market funds, or 
overnight repurchase agreements to ensure that appropriate liquidity is 
maintained in order to meet ongoing obligations.  
 

- 28 -



CITY OF DARIEN, ILLINOIS 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
 
 
 

- 28 - 

3. RECEIVABLES 
 
 a. Property Taxes 
 
  Property taxes for 2018 attached as an enforceable lien on January 1, 2018, on 

property values assessed as of the same date. Taxes are levied by December of the 
subsequent fiscal year (by passage of a Tax Levy Ordinance). Tax bills are prepared 
by the County and issued on or about May 1, 2019, and are payable in two 
installments, on or about June 1, 2019 and September 1, 2019. The County collects 
such taxes and remits them periodically. The allowance for uncollectible taxes has 
been stated at 1% of the tax levy, to reflect actual collection experience. As the 2018 
tax levy is intended to fund expenditures for the 2019-2020 fiscal year, these taxes 
are unavailable/deferred as of April 30, 2019. 

 
  The 2019 tax levy, which attached as an enforceable lien on property as of January 1, 

2019, has not been recorded as a receivable as of April 30, 2019 as the tax has not 
yet been levied by the City and will not be levied until December 2019 and, 
therefore, the levy is not measurable at April 30, 2019.  

 
 b. Due from Other Governments and Other Receivables 
 

  
General 

Capital 
Improvements 

Nonmajor 
Governmental 

 
Total 

     
GOVERNMENTAL  
  ACTIVITIES 

    

 Intergovernmental     
  Sales tax $ 1,303,322 $ - $ - $ 1,303,322 
  Local use tax   169,983   -   -   169,983 
  Motor fuel tax   -   -   48,886   48,886 
  Telecommunications tax   131,584   -   -   131,584 
  Video gaming tax   18,963   -   -   18,963 
   Total intergovernmental   1,623,852   -   48,886   1,672,738 
     
 Other receivables     
  Franchise fees   4,750   -   -   4,750 
  Hotel/motel tax   5,789   -   -   5,789 
  Amusement tax   6,864   -   -   6,864 
  Utility tax   76,784   -   -   76,784 
  Food/beverage tax   50,854   -   -   50,854 
  Local gas tax   24,943   -   -   24,943 
  Rent receivable   357,241   -   -   357,241 
  IRMA   411,314   -   -   411,314 
  IPBC   573,275   -   -   573,275 
  Accounts   61,879   -   -   61,879 
  Other   4,807   -   -   4,807 
   Total other receivables   1,578,500   -   -   1,578,500 
     
TOTAL GOVERNMENTAL  
  ACTIVITIES 

 
$ 3,202,352 

 
$ - 

 
$ 48,886 

 
$ 3,251,238 

- 29 -



CITY OF DARIEN, ILLINOIS 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
 
 
 

- 29 - 

4. CAPITAL ASSETS 
 
 Capital asset activity for the year ended April 30, 2019 was as follows: 
 

 Balances 
May 1 

 
Increases 

 
Decreases 

Balances 
April 30 

     
GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES     
 Capital assets not being depreciated     
  Land  $ 819,529 $ - $ - $ 819,529 
  Construction in progress   319,248   -   319,248   - 
   Total capital assets not being depreciated   1,138,777   -   319,248   819,529 
     
 Capital assets being depreciated     
  Buildings and improvements   5,700,539   -   -   5,700,539 
  Machinery, vehicles, and equipment   2,884,007   1,454,985   316,349   4,022,643 
  Infrastructure   12,768,226   -   -   12,768,226 
   Total capital assets being depreciated   21,352,772   1,454,985   316,349   22,491,408 
     
 Less accumulated depreciation for     
  Buildings and improvements   3,095,295   130,347   -   3,225,642 
  Machinery, vehicles, and equipment   1,959,161   227,828   316,349   1,870,640 
  Infrastructure   10,368,828   384,450   -   10,753,278 
   Total accumulated depreciation   15,423,284   742,625   316,349   15,849,560 
     
   Total capital assets being depreciated, net   5,929,488   712,360   -   6,641,848 
     
GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES      
  CAPITAL ASSETS, NET $ 7,068,265 $ 712,360 $ 319,248 $ 7,461,377 

 
 Depreciation expense was charged to functions/programs of the governmental activities as 

follows: 
 

GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES  
 General government $ 55,653 
 Public safety   104,795 
 Highways and streets   582,177 
  
TOTAL DEPRECIATION EXPENSE - 
  GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES 

 
$ 742,625 
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4. CAPITAL ASSETS (Continued) 
 

 Balances 
May 1 

 
Increases 

 
Decreases 

Balances 
April 30 

     
BUSINESS-TYPE ACTIVITIES     
 Capital assets not being depreciated     
  Land $ 100,000 $ - $ - $ 100,000 
    Total capital assets not being depreciated   100,000   -   -   100,000 
     
 Capital assets being depreciated     
  Buildings and improvements   6,989,234   -   -   6,989,234 
  Machinery and equipment   952,556   -   -   952,556 
  Infrastructure   7,984,691   1,601,099   -   9,585,790 
    Total capital assets being depreciated   15,926,481   1,601,099   -   17,527,580 
     
 Less accumulated depreciation for     
  Buildings and improvements   3,951,100   165,142   -   4,116,242 
  Machinery and equipment   867,598   12,494   -   880,092 
  Infrastructure   6,008,229   151,934   -   6,160,163 
    Total accumulated depreciation   10,826,927   329,570   -   11,156,497 
     
    Total capital assets being depreciated, net   5,099,554   1,271,529   -   6,371,083 
     
BUSINESS-TYPE ACTIVITIES      
  CAPITAL ASSETS, NET $ 5,199,554 $ 1,271,529 $ - $ 6,471,083 

 
5. RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
 The City is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and 

destruction of assets; errors and omissions; employee health; natural disasters; illnesses of 
employees; and injuries to the City’s employees.  

 
 Intergovernmental Risk Management Agency  
 
 The City participates in the Intergovernmental Risk Management Agency (IRMA). IRMA 

is an organization of municipalities and special districts in northeastern Illinois that have 
formed an association under the Illinois Intergovernmental Cooperations Statute to pool 
their risk management needs. IRMA administers a mix of self-insurance and commercial 
insurance coverages; property/casualty and workers’ compensation claim administration/ 
litigation management services; unemployment claim administration; extension risk 
management/loss control consulting and training programs; and a risk information system 
and financial reporting service for its members. 
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5. RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 
 
 Intergovernmental Risk Management Agency (Continued) 
 
 The City’s payments to IRMA are displayed on the financial statements as 

expenditures/expenses in appropriate funds. Each member assumes the first $2,500 of each 
occurrence, and IRMA has a mix of self-insurance and commercial insurance at various 
amounts above that level. 

 
 Each member appoints one delegate, along with an alternate delegate, to represent the 

member on the Board of Directors. The City does not exercise any control over the 
activities of IRMA beyond its representation on the Board of Directors. 

 
 Initial contributions are determined each year based on the individual member’s eligible 

revenue as defined in the by-laws of IRMA and experience modification factors based on 
past member loss experience. Members have a contractual obligation to fund any deficit of 
IRMA attributable to a membership year during which they were a member. Supplemental 
contributions may be required to fund these deficits. The City is aware of no additional 
contributions due to IRMA as of April 30, 2019. 

 
 Intergovernmental Personnel Benefit Cooperative  
 
 The City participates in the Intergovernmental Personnel Benefit Cooperative (IPBC). 

IPBC is a public entity risk pool established by certain units of local government in Illinois 
to administer some or all of the personnel benefit programs (primarily medical, dental, and 
life insurance coverage) offered by these members to their officers and employees and to 
the officers and employees of certain governmental, quasi governmental, and nonprofit 
public service entities.  

 
 The IPBC receives, processes, and pays such claims as may come within the benefit 

program of each member. Management consists of a Board of Directors comprised of one 
appointed representative from each member. In addition, there are two officers; a Benefit 
Administrator and a Treasurer. The City does not exercise any control over the activities of 
the IPBC beyond its representation on the Board of Directors. 

 
6. LONG-TERM DEBT 
 
 a. General Obligation Bonds 
 

 The City issues general obligation bonds to provide funds for the acquisition and 
construction of major capital facilities. General obligation bonds have been issued 
for general government activities. In addition, general obligation bonds have been 
issued to refund general obligation bonds. General obligation bonds are direct 
obligations and pledge the full faith and credit of the City. 
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6. LONG-TERM DEBT (Continued) 
 
 a. General Obligation Bonds (Continued) 
 

A summary of changes in long-term debt reported in the governmental activities of 
the City for the year ended April 30, 2019 is as follows: 

 
  Governmental Activities  
 

 
 

Issue 

Fund 
Debt 

Retired by 

 
Balances 

May 1 

 
 

Issuances 

 
 

Retirements 

 
Balances 
April 30 

 
Due Within 
One Year 

       
       
$1,360,000 General Obligation 
Refunding Bonds, Series 2015 
are due in annual installments 
(beginning January 1, 2017) 
ranging from $110,000 to 
$185,000 with interest from 
1.25% to 2.20%. The last 
payment due is January 1, 2024. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Capital 
Improvement 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
$ 1,010,000 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
$ -      

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 $ 175,000 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
$ 835,000 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
$ 175,000 

       
TOTAL GOVERNMENTAL  
  BONDED DEBT 

  
$ 1,010,000 

 
$ - 

 
$ 175,000 

 
$ 835,000 

 
$ 175,000 

 
  Business-Type Activities 
 

 
 

Issue 

Fund 
Debt 

Retired by 

 
Balances 

May 1 

 
 

Issuances 

 
 

Retirements 

 
Balances 
April 30 

 
Due Within 
One Year 

       
$2,810,000 General Obligation 
Refunding Bonds, Series 2012 are 
due in annual installments 
(beginning December 15, 2012) 
ranging from $20,000 to 
$290,000 with interest from 
2.00% to 3.50%. The last 
payment is due on December 15, 
2025. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Water 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
$ 2,090,000 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
$ - 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
$ 230,000 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
$ 1,860,000 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
$ 240,000 

       
$3,500,000 General Obligation 
Bonds, Series 2018 are due in 
annual installments (beginning 
January 1, 2020) ranging from 
$210,000 to $375,000 with 
interest of 3%. The last payment 
is due on January 1, 2030. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Water 

 
 
 
 
 
 
  3,500,000 

 
 
 
 
 
 
  - 

 
 
 
 
 
 
  - 

 
 
 
 
 
 
  3,500,000 

 
 
 
 
 
 
  210,000 

       
TOTAL BUSINESS-TYPE  
  BONDED DEBT 

  
$ 5,590,000 

 
$ - 

 
$ 230,000 

 
$ 5,360,000 

 
$ 450,000 
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6. LONG-TERM DEBT (Continued) 
 
 b. Debt Service Requirements to Maturity 
 
  Annual debt service requirements to maturity are as follows: 
 

 Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities 
Fiscal General Obligation Bonds General Obligation Bonds 
Year Principal Interest Total Principal Interest Total 

       
2020 $ 175,000 $ 16,240 $ 191,240 $ 450,000 $ 236,375 $ 686,375 
2021   180,000   13,440   193,440   530,000   152,875   682,875 
2022   185,000   10,560   195,560   555,000   136,975   691,975 
2023   185,000   6,490   191,490   570,000   120,325   690,325 
2024   110,000   2,420   112,420   590,000   101,900   691,900 
2025   -   -   -   610,000   82,825   692,825 
2026   -   -   -   620,000    63,100   683,100 
2027   -   -   -   340,000   43,050   383,050 
2028   -   -   -   355,000   32,850   387,850 
2029   -   -   -   365,000   22,200   387,200 
2030   -   -    -   375,000   11,250   386,250 

       
TOTAL  $ 835,000 $ 49,150 $ 884,150 $ 5,360,000 $ 1,003,725 $ 6,363,725 

 
 c. Changes in Long-Term Liabilities 
 
  The following is a summary of changes in long-term liabilities during fiscal year 

2019:  
 

 Balances 
May 1, 

Restated 

 
 

Additions 

 
 

Reductions 

 
Balances 
April 30 

 
Due Within 
One Year 

      
GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES       
 General obligation bonds $ 1,010,000 $ - $ 175,000 $ 835,000 $ 175,000 
 Compensated absences payable*   599,726   221,175   89,959   730,942   109,641 
 Total OPEB liability*   1,610,857   22,242   -   1,633,099   128,920 
 Net pension liability*   19,603,473   3,994,540   -   23,598,013   - 
      
TOTAL GOVERNMENTAL       
  ACTIVITIES $ 22,824,056 $ 4,237,957 $ 264,959 $ 26,797,054 $ 413,561 

 
 Balances 

May 1, 
Restated 

 
 

Additions 

 
 

Reductions 

 
Balances 
April 30 

 
Due Within 
One Year 

      
BUSINESS-TYPE ACTIVITIES       
 General obligation bonds $ 5,590,000 $ - $ 230,000 $ 5,360,000 $ 240,000 
 Unamortized bond premium   151,577   -   17,097   134,480   - 
 Compensated absences payable   46,835   15,532   7,025   55,342   8,301 
 Total OPEB liability   242,834   3,353   -   246,187   19,434 
 Net pension liability   -   628,355   -   628,355   - 
      
TOTAL BUSINESS-TYPE       
  ACTIVITIES $ 6,031,246 $ 647,240 $ 254,122 $ 6,424,364 $ 267,735 

 
 *The General Fund has typically been used to liquidate the compensated absences payable, 

the net pension liability, and the total OPEB liability. 
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7. INDIVIDUAL FUND DISCLOSURES 
 
 Transfers between funds at April 30, 2019 consist of the following: 
 

 
Fund 

 Transfers  
In 

Transfers  
Out 

    
General   $ 38,041 $ 3,000,230 
Capital Improvements    3,000,000   - 
Nonmajor Governmental    230   38,041 
    
TOTAL  $ 3,038,271 $ 3,038,271 

 
 The purpose of significant transfers in/out is as follows: 

 
• $3,000,000 transferred from the General Fund to the Capital Improvements Fund for 

capital projects. This transfer will not be repaid. 
 
8. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 
 
 a. Litigation 
 
  The City is not aware of any pending or threatening litigation. 
 
 b. DuPage Water Commission 
 

 The City’s water supply agreement with the DuPage Water Commission (the 
Commission) provides that each customer is liable for its proportionate share of any 
costs arising from defaults in payment obligations by other customers. 

 
9. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS 
 
 The City contributes to two defined benefit pension plans, the Illinois Municipal 

Retirement Fund (IMRF), an agent multiple-employer public employee retirement system; 
and the Police Pension Plan, which is a single-employer pension plan. The benefits, benefit 
levels, employee contributions, and employer contributions for both plans are governed by 
ILCS and can only be amended by the Illinois General Assembly. IMRF issues a publicly 
available report that includes financial statements and supplementary information for the 
plan as a whole, but not for individual employers. That report can be obtained from IMRF, 
2211 York Road, Suite 500, Oak Brook, Illinois 60523 or at IMRF.org. The Police Pension 
Plan does not issue a separate report.  
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9. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS (Continued) 
 

a. Plan Descriptions 
 
  Illinois Municipal Retirement Fund  
 
  Plan Administration 

 
  All employees (other than those covered by the Police Pension Plan) hired in 

positions that meet or exceed the prescribed annual hourly standard must be enrolled 
in IMRF as participating members. 

 
  The plan is accounted for on the economic resources measurement focus and the 

accrual basis of accounting. Employer and employee contributions are recognized 
when earned in the year that the contributions are required, benefits and refunds are 
recognized as an expense and liability when due and payable. 
 

  Plan Membership 

 
  At December 31, 2018, IMRF membership consisted of: 

 
Inactive employees or their beneficiaries  
  currently receiving benefits   57 
Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits   65 
Active employees   36 
  
TOTAL   158 

 
  Benefits Provided 

 
All employees (other than those covered by the Police Pension Plan) hired in 
positions that meet or exceed the prescribed annual hourly standard must be enrolled 
in IMRF as participating members. IMRF provides two tiers of pension benefits. 
Employees hired prior to January 1, 2011, are eligible for Tier 1 benefits. For Tier 1 
employees, pension benefits vest after eight years of service. Participating members 
who retire at age 55 (reduced benefits) or after age 60 (full benefits) with eight years 
of credited service are entitled to an annual retirement benefit, payable monthly for 
life, in an amount equal to 1 2/3% of their final rate of earnings, for each year of 
credited service up to 15 years, and 2% for each year thereafter. 
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9. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS (Continued) 
 

a. Plan Descriptions (Continued) 
 

Illinois Municipal Retirement Fund (Continued) 
 

  Benefits Provided (Continued) 
 

Employees hired on or after January 1, 2011, are eligible for Tier 2 benefits. For 
Tier 2 employees, pension benefits vest after ten years of service. Participating 
members who retire at age 62 (reduced benefits) or after age 67 (full benefits) with 
ten years of credited service are entitled to an annual retirement benefit, payable 
monthly for life, in an amount equal to 1 2/3% of their final rate of earnings, for each 
year of credited service up to 15 years, and 2% for each year thereafter. 

 

IMRF also provides death and disability benefits. These benefit provisions and all 
are established by state statute.  
 
Contributions 

 

Participating members are required to contribute 4.50% of their annual salary to 
IMRF. The City is required to contribute the remaining amounts necessary to fund 
IMRF as specified by statute. The employer contribution for the fiscal year ended 
April 30, 2019 was 11.55% of covered payroll.  

 

  Actuarial Assumptions 

 
  The City’s net pension liability was measured as of December 31, 2018 and the total 

pension liability used to calculate the net pension liability was determined by an 
actuarial valuation performed as of the same date using the following actuarial 
methods and assumptions.  

 
Actuarial valuation date December 31, 2018 
  
Actuarial cost method  Entry-age normal 
  
Assumptions  
  
 Inflation 2.50% 
  
 Salary increases 3.39% to 14.25% 
  
 Investment rate of return 7.25% 
  
Asset valuation method  Market value 
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9. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS (Continued) 
 
 a. Plan Descriptions (Continued) 
 
  Illinois Municipal Retirement Fund (Continued) 
 

  Actuarial Assumptions (Continued) 
 

For nondisabled retirees, an IMRF specific mortality table was used with fully 
generational projection scale MP-2017 (base year 2015). IMRF specific rates were 
developed from the RP-2014 Blue Collar Health Annuitant Mortality Table with 
adjustments to match current IMRF experience. For disabled retirees, an IMRF 
specific mortality table was used with fully generational projection scale MP-2017 
(base year 2015). IMRF specific rates were developed from the RP-2014 Disabled 
Retirees Mortality Table applying the same adjustment that were applied for 
nondisabled lives. For active members, an IMRF specific mortality table was used 
with fully generational projection scale MP-2017 (base year 2015). IMRF specific 
rates were developed from the RP-2014 Employee Mortality Table with adjustments 
to match current IMRF experience. 

 

  Discount Rate 

 
  The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.25% at 

December 31, 2018. The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 
7.50% at December 31, 2017. The projection of cash flows used to determine the 
discount rate assumed that member contributions will be made at the current 
contribution rate and that the City contributions will be made at rates equal to the 
difference between actuarially determined contribution rates and the member rate. 
Based on those assumptions, the IMRF’s fiduciary net position was projected to be 
available to make all projected future benefit payments of current plan members. 
Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was 
applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension 
liability. 
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9. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS (Continued) 
 
 a. Plan Descriptions (Continued) 
 
  Illinois Municipal Retirement Fund (Continued) 

 
Changes in the Net Pension Liability 

 
 (a) 

Total  
Pension 

(b) 
Plan 

Fiduciary 

(a) - (b) 
Net  

Pension 
 Liability Net Position Liability 
    
BALANCES AT  
  JANUARY 1, 2018 

 
$ 19,326,507 

 
$ 19,386,661 

 
$ (60,154) 

    
Changes for the period    
 Service cost   245,279   -   245,279 
 Interest   1,425,656   -   1,425,656 
 Difference between expected    
   and actual experience    931,248   -   931,248 
 Changes in assumptions   597,080   -   597,080 
 Employer contributions   -   397,939   (397,939) 
 Employee contributions   -   112,439   (112,439) 
 Net investment income   -   (978,275)   978,275 
 Benefit payments and refunds   (880,787)   (880,787)   - 
 Other (net transfer)   -   566,121   (566,121) 
    
  Net changes   2,318,476   (782,563)   3,101,039 
    
BALANCES AT  
  DECEMBER 31, 2018 

 
$ 21,644,983 

 
$ 18,604,098 

 
$ 3,040,885 

 
  Changes in assumptions related to the discount rate were made in 2018. 
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9. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS (Continued) 
 
 a. Plan Descriptions (Continued) 
 
  Illinois Municipal Retirement Fund (Continued) 
 

Pension Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of  

  Resources  

 
For the year ended April 30, 2019, the City recognized pension expense of $28,828.  
 
At April 30, 2019, the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred 
inflows of resources related to IMRF from the following sources: 

 
 Deferred 

Outflows of 
Deferred 

Inflows of 
 Resources Resources 
   
Difference between expected and actual experience $ 534,297 $ 78,647 
Changes in assumption   342,570   114,854 
Contributions made after measurement date   77,088   - 
Net difference between projected and actual 
  earnings on pension plan investments 

 
  1,181,243 

 
  - 

   
TOTAL $ 2,135,198 $ 193,501 
 
$77,088 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pensions resulting from 
contributions subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction 
of the net pension liability in the reporting year ending April 30, 2020. Other 
amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources 
related to pensions will be recognized in pension expense as follows: 

 
Fiscal Year 

Ending 
  

April 30,   
   
2020  $ 844,885 
2021    386,221 
2022    145,581 
2023    487,922 
2024    - 
Thereafter    - 
   
TOTAL  $ 1,864,609 
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9. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS (Continued) 
 
 a. Plan Descriptions (Continued) 
 
  Illinois Municipal Retirement Fund (Continued) 
 
  Discount Rate Sensitivity 
 
  The following is a sensitivity analysis of the net pension liability to changes in the 

discount rate. The table below presents the net pension liability of the City calculated 
using the discount rate of 7.25% as well as what the City’s net pension liability 
would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1 percentage point lower 
(6.25%) or 1 percentage point higher (8.25%) than the current rate:  

 
  

1% Decrease 
Current  

Discount Rate 
 

1% Increase 
 (6.25%) (7.25%) (8.25%) 
    
Net pension liability  $ 5,776,027 $ 3,040,885 $ 828,242 

 
Police Pension Plan 

 
  Plan Administration 
 
  Police sworn personnel are covered by the Police Pension Plan. Although this is a 

single-employer pension plan, the defined benefits and employee and employer 
contribution levels are governed by Illinois Compiled Statutes (40 ILCS 5/3-1) and 
may be amended only by the Illinois legislature. The City accounts for the plan as a 
pension trust fund. 

 
  The plan is governed by a five-member Board of Trustees. Two members of the 

Board of Trustees are appointed by the City’s Mayor, one member is elected by 
pension beneficiaries, and two members are elected by active police employees. 

 
  The plan is accounted for on the economic resources measurement focus and the 

accrual basis of accounting. Employer and employee contributions are recognized 
when earned in the year that the contributions are required, benefits and refunds are 
recognized as an expense and liability when due and payable.  

 
Plan Membership 

 
  At April 30, 2019, membership consisted of: 

 
Inactive plan members currently receiving benefits   26 
Inactive plan members entitled to but not yet  
  receiving benefits   13 
Active plan members   33 
  
TOTAL   72 
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9. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS (Continued) 
 

a. Plan Descriptions (Continued) 
 
Police Pension Plan (Continued) 

 
  Benefits Provided 

 
The Police Pension Plan provides retirement benefits through two tiers of benefits as 
well as death and disability benefits. Tier 1 employees (those hired prior to 
January 1, 2011) attaining the age of 50 or older with 20 or more years of creditable 
service are entitled to receive an annual retirement benefit equal to one-half of the 
salary attached to the rank held on the last day of service, or for one year prior to the 
last day, whichever is greater. The annual benefit shall be increased by 2.50% of 
such salary for each additional year of service over 20 years up to 30 years to a 
maximum of 75% of such salary. Employees with at least eight years but less than 20 
years of credited service may retire at or after age 60 and receive a reduced benefit. 
The monthly benefit of a police officer who retired with 20 or more years of service 
after January 1, 1977 shall be increased annually, following the first anniversary date 
of retirement and be paid upon reaching the age of at least 55 years, by 3% of the 
original pension and 3% compounded annually thereafter.  

 
  Tier 2 employees (those hired on or after January 1, 2011) attaining the age of 55 or 

older with ten or more years of creditable service are entitled to receive an annual 
retirement benefit equal to the average monthly salary obtained by dividing the total 
salary of the police officer during the 96 consecutive months of service within the 
last 120 months of service in which the total salary was the highest by the number of 
months of service in that period. Police officers’ salary for pension purposes is 
capped at $106,800, plus the lesser of ½ of the annual change in the Consumer Price 
Index or 3% compounded. The annual benefit shall be increased by 2.50% of such 
salary for each additional year of service over 20 years up to 30 years to a maximum 
of 75% of such salary. Employees with at least ten years may retire at or after age 50 
and receive a reduced benefit (i.e., ½% for each month under 55). The monthly 
benefit of a Tier 2 police officer shall be increased annually at age 60 on the 
January 1st after the police officer retires, or the first anniversary of the pension 
starting date, whichever is later. Noncompounding increases occur annually, each 
January thereafter. The increase is the lesser of 3% or ½ of the change in the 
Consumer Price Index for the proceeding calendar year. 
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9. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS (Continued) 
 

a. Plan Descriptions (Continued) 
 
Police Pension Plan (Continued) 

 
Contributions 

 
  Employees are required by ILCS to contribute 9.91% of their base salary to the 

Police Pension Plan. If an employee leaves covered employment with less than 20 
years of service, accumulated employee contributions may be refunded without 
accumulated interest. The City is required to contribute the remaining amounts 
necessary to finance the plan, including the costs of administering the plan, as 
actuarially determined by an enrolled actuary. Effective January 1, 2011, the City has 
until the year 2040 to fund 90% of the past service cost for the Police Pension Plan. 
However, the City has decided to fund 100% of the past service cost by 2040. For 
the year ended April 30, 2019, the City’s contribution was 49.23% of covered 
payroll. 

 
  Investment Policy  

 
ILCS limits the Police Pension Fund’s (the Fund) investments to those allowable by 
ILCS and require the Fund’s Board of Trustees to adopt an investment policy which 
can be amended by a majority vote of the Board of Trustees. The Fund’s investment 
policy authorizes the Fund to invest in all investments allowed by ILCS. These 
include deposits/investments in insured commercial banks, savings and loan 
institutions, interest-bearing obligations of the U.S. Treasury and U.S. agencies, 
interest-bearing bonds of the State of Illinois or any county, township, or municipal 
corporation of the State of Illinois, money market mutual funds whose investments 
consist of obligations of the U.S. Treasury or U.S. agencies, separate accounts 
managed by life insurance companies, mutual funds, corporate bonds, common and 
preferred stock, The Illinois Funds (created by the Illinois State Legislature under the 
control of the State Treasurer that maintains a $1 per share value which is equal to 
the participants fair value), and IMET, a not-for-profit investment trust formed 
pursuant to the Illinois Municipal Code and managed by a Board of Trustees elected 
from the participating members. IMET is not registered with the SEC as an 
investment company. Investments in IMET are valued at IMET’s share price, the 
price for which the investment could be sold.  

 
 The investment policy was not updated during the year ended April 30, 2019. 
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9. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS (Continued) 
 

a. Plan Descriptions (Continued) 
 
Police Pension Plan (Continued) 

 
  Investment Policy (Continued) 
 
  It is the policy of the Fund to invest its funds in a manner which will provide the 

highest investment return with the maximum security while meeting the cash flow 
demands of the Fund and conforming to all state and local statutes governing the 
investment of public funds, using the “prudent person” standard for managing the 
overall portfolio. The primary objectives of the policy are, in order of priority, safety 
of principal, rate of return, public trust, and liquidity. 

 
  The Fund’s investment policy, in accordance with ILCS, establishes the following 

target allocation across asset classes:  
 

 
 

Asset Class 

 
 

Target 

Long-Term 
Expected Real 
Rate of Return 

   
Large Cap Domestic Equity 35.80% 6.60% 
   
Mid Cap Domestic Equity 5.50% 8.60% 
   
Small Cap Domestic Equity 5.50% 8.40% 
   
International Equity 8.30% 6.40% 
   
Fixed Income 45.00% 1.60% 

 
  The long-term expected real rates of return are calculated on a geometric mean basis 

and are net of a 2.70% factor for inflation and investment expense. ILCS limits the 
Fund’s investments in equities, mutual funds, and variable annuities to 65%. 
Securities in any one company should not exceed 5% of the total fund.  

 
  Asset class returns and risk premium data are from Morningstar Analyst Research 

Center - SBBI Data for the period of 12/31/1925 through 12/31/2018. International 
Equity = the MSCI EAFE Index 12/31/1969 through 12/31/2018. 
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9. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS (Continued) 
 
 a. Plan Descriptions (Continued) 
 
  Police Pension Plan (Continued) 
 
  Investment Rate of Return 
 
  For the year ended April 30, 2019, the annual money-weighted rate of return on 

pension plan investments, net of pension plan investment expense, was 6.41%. The 
money-weighted rate of return expresses investment performance, net of investment 
expense, adjusted for the changing amounts actually invested. 

 
  Deposits with Financial Institutions  
 
  Custodial credit risk for deposits with financial institutions is the risk that in the 

event of bank failure, the Fund’s deposits may not be returned to it. The Fund’s 
investment policy does not require pledging of collateral for all bank balances in 
excess of federal depository insurance, since flow-through FDIC insurance is 
available for the police pension funds deposits with financial institutions. 

 
  Fair Value Measurements 
 
  All investments in the plan are stated at fair value and are recorded as of the trade 

date. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer 
a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement 
date. 

 
  The Fund has the following recurring fair value measurements as of April 30, 2019. 

The U.S. Treasury notes, equity mutual funds, and common stock are valued using 
quoted prices in active markets for identical assets (Level 1 inputs). The U.S. agency 
obligation, municipal bonds, and corporate bonds are valued using quoted matrix 
pricing models (Level 2 inputs). 

 
  Interest Rate Risk 
 
  The following table presents the investments and maturities of the Fund’s debt 

securities as of April 30, 2019:  
  

  Investment Maturities (in Years) 
Investment Type Fair Value Less Than 1 1-5 6-10 Greater than 10 

      
U.S. Treasury notes $ 1,624,885 $ 449,633 $ 1,075,986 $ 99,266 $ - 
U.S. agency obligations   5,839,210   96,370   2,920,453   2,784,699   37,688 
Municipal bonds   906,676   100,141   582,245   203,411   20,879 
Corporate bonds   3,712,541   367,827   2,694,767   649,947   - 
      
TOTAL $ 12,083,312 $ 1,013,971 $ 7,273,451 $ 3,737,323 $ 58,567 
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9. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS (Continued) 
 
 a. Plan Descriptions (Continued) 
 
  Police Pension Plan (Continued) 
 
  Interest Rate Risk (Continued) 
 
  Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates will adversely affect the fair 

value of an investment. In accordance with its investment policy, the Fund limits its 
exposure to interest rate risk by structuring the portfolio to provide liquidity for all 
reasonably anticipated operating requirements while providing a reasonable rate of 
return based on the current market. 

 
  Credit Risk  

 
  In accordance with its investment policy, the Fund limits its exposure to credit risk, 

the risk that the issuer of a debt security will not pay its par value upon maturity, by 
requiring investments primarily in U.S. Treasury obligation, U.S. agency obligations, 
and corporate bonds. The U.S. agency securities are rated AA+. Municipal bonds are 
rated ranging from AA- to AA+. The corporate bonds have ratings ranging from 
BBB+ to AAA. 

 
  Custodial Credit Risk  

 
  Custodial credit risk for investments is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the 

counterparty to the investment, the Fund will not be able to recover the value of its 
investments that are in possession of an outside party. To limit its exposure, the 
Fund’s investment policy requires all security transactions that are exposed to 
custodial credit risk to be processed on a delivery versus payment (DVP) basis with 
the underlying investments held by a third-party custodian and evidenced by 
safekeeping receipts. The money market and equity mutual funds are not subject to 
custodial credit risk. 

 
  Concentration of Credit Risk 

 
  Concentration of credit risk is the risk that the Fund has a high percentage of its 

investments invested in one type of investment. The Fund’s investment policy 
requires diversification of investments to avoid unreasonable risk. 

 
  There are no significant investments (other than United States Government 

guaranteed obligations) in any one organization that represent 5% or more of the 
Fund’s investments. 
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9. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS (Continued) 
 
 a. Plan Descriptions (Continued) 
 
  Police Pension Plan (Continued)  
 

  Changes in the Net Pension Liability 

 
 (a) 

Total  
Pension 

(b) 
Plan 

Fiduciary 

(a) - (b) 
Net  

Pension 
 Liability Net Position Liability 
    
BALANCES AT  
  MAY 1, 2018 

 
$ 47,101,075 

 
$ 27,497,602 

 
$ 19,603,473 

    
Changes for the period    
 Service cost   685,980   -   685,980 
 Interest   3,270,691   -   3,270,691 
 Difference between expected    
   and actual experience    (473,570)   -   (473,570) 
 Changes in assumptions   1,749,927   -   1,749,927 
 Employer contributions   -   1,634,019   (1,634,019) 
 Employee contributions   -   319,775   (319,775) 
 Net investment income   -   1,738,762   (1,738,762) 
 Benefit payments and refunds   (2,125,790)   (2,125,790)   - 
 Administrative expense   -   (41,538)   41,538 
    
  Net changes   3,107,238   1,525,228   1,582,010 
    
BALANCES AT  
  APRIL 30, 2019 

 
$ 50,208,313 

 
$ 29,022,830 

 
$ 21,185,483 
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9. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS (Continued) 
 
 a. Plan Descriptions (Continued) 
 
  Police Pension Plan (Continued)  
 

Changes in assumptions related to updates to mortality rates to reflect the PubS-2010 
tables. 

 
  Actuarial Assumptions 

 
  The total pension liability above was determined by an actuarial valuation using the 

following actuarial methods and assumptions.  
 

Actuarial valuation date April 30, 2019 
  
Actuarial cost method  Entry-age normal 
  
Assumptions  
  
 Inflation 2.50% 
  
 Salary increases Service-based 
  
 Interest rate 7.00% 
  
 Cost of living adjustments 3.00% (Tier 1) 

1.25% (Tier 2) 
  
Asset valuation method  Market 

 
Mortality rates were based on PubS-2010 Employee mortality, projected five years 
past the valuation date with Scale MP-2018. 10% of active deaths are assumed to be 
in the line of duty for active lives. PubS-2010 Healthy Retiree mortality, projected 
five years past the valuation date with Scale MP-2018 for inactive lives. PubS-2010 
Survivor mortality, projected five years past the valuation date with Scale MP-2018 
for beneficiaries. PubS-2010 Disabled mortality, projected five years past the 
valuation date with Scale MP-2018 for disabled lives. 
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9. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS (Continued) 
 
 a. Plan Descriptions (Continued) 
 
  Police Pension Plan (Continued)  
 

Discount Rate 

 
  The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7%. The projection 

of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that member contributions 
will be made at the current contribution rate and that the City contributions will be 
made at rates equal to the difference between actuarially determined contribution 
rates and the member rate. Based on those assumptions, the Fund’s fiduciary net 
position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments 
of current plan members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension 
plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to 
determine the total pension liability. 

 
  Discount Rate Sensitivity 

 
  The following is a sensitivity analysis of the net pension liability to changes in the 

discount rate. The table below presents the net pension liability of the City calculated 
using the discount rate of 7% as well as what the City’s net pension liability would 
be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1 percentage point lower (6%) or 
1 percentage point higher (8%) than the current rate:  

 
  

1% Decrease 
Current  

Discount Rate 
 

1% Increase 
 (6%) (7%) (8%) 
    
Net pension liability $ 28,397,877 $ 21,185,483 $ 15,288,634 

 

- 49 -



CITY OF DARIEN, ILLINOIS 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
 
 
 

- 49 - 

9. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS (Continued) 
 
 a. Plan Descriptions (Continued) 
 
  Police Pension Plan (Continued)  
 

Pension Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of  

  Resources 

 
For the year ended April 30, 2019, the City recognized police pension expense of 
$2,212,596. At April 30, 2019, the City reported deferred outflows of resources and 
deferred inflows of resources related to the police pension from the following 
sources: 

 
 Deferred 

Outflows of 
Resources 

Deferred 
Inflows of 
Resources 

   
Difference between expected and actual experience $ 264,050 $ 869,478 
Changes in assumption   1,777,609   384,332 
Net difference between projected and actual 
  earnings on pension plan investments 

 
  383,297 

 
  - 

   
TOTAL $ 2,424,956 $ 1,253,810 
 
Amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of 
resources related to the police pension will be recognized in pension expense as 
follows: 

 
Fiscal Year 

Ending 
  

April 30,   
   
2020  $ 451,524 
2021    106,326 
2022    202,438 
2023    198,131 
2024    212,727 
Thereafter    - 
   
TOTAL  $ 1,171,146 
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10. TAX ABATEMENTS 
 
 The City rebates sales taxes to recruit, retain, or improve local business facilities or their 

supporting public infrastructure under certain circumstances. The terms of these rebate 
arrangements are specified within written agreements with the businesses concerned. 
These agreements are authorized through formal approval by the City Council. There are 
no recapture provisions in the agreements.  

 
 The City entered into an agreement in April 2012 with a local business wherein the City 

will rebate up to a net present value of $4,000,000 of incremental sales tax revenue, 
discounted at 8.15%. As of and for the year ended April 30, 2019, a liability of $283,494 
has been accrued and cumulative payments of $948,640 have been made under this 
agreement.  

 
 The City entered into an agreement in February 2013 with a local business wherein the 

City will rebate up to $750,000 of sales tax revenue over 11 years. As of and for the year 
ended April 30, 2019, a liability of $68,000 has been accrued and cumulative payments of 
$272,000 have been made under this agreement. 

 
11. OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS 
 
 a. Plan Description 
 

 In addition to providing the pension benefits described, the City provides 
postemployment health care benefits (OPEB) for retired employees through a 
single-employer defined benefit plan (the Plan). The benefits, benefit levels, 
employee contributions and employer contributions are governed by the City and can 
be amended by the City through its personnel manual and union contracts. No assets 
are accumulated in a trust that meets the criteria in paragraph 4 of GASB Statement 
No. 75. The Plan does not issue a separate report. The activity of the Plan is reported 
in the City’s governmental and business-type activities. 

 
 b. Benefits Provided 
 

 The City provides the opportunity for retirees, their spouses and dependents 
(enrolled at time of employee’s retirement) to participate in the City’s health 
insurance plan for pre and post-Medicare postretirement health insurance. To be 
eligible for benefits, the employee must qualify for retirement under one of the 
City’s three retirement plans. An implicit benefit is provided due to the retirees 
paying 100% of the actuarially determined premium to the plan. Pursuant to the 
Illinois Public Safety Employee Benefits Act, the City provides health insurance to 
any sworn police employee (their spouses and dependents) who suffers a 
catastrophic injury or is killed in the line of duty. The City is responsible for paying 
the entire actuarially determined contribution to the plan. Upon a retiree becoming 
eligible for Medicare, the amount payable under the City’s health plan will be 
reduced by the amount payable under Medicare for those expenses that are covered 
under both. 
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11. OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (Continued) 
 
 c. Membership 
 
  At April 30, 2019, membership consisted of: 

 
Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefit  
  payments 

 
  13 

Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefit payments    - 
Active employees   65 
  
TOTAL   78 

 
 d.  Total OPEB Liability 
 
  The City’s total OPEB liability of $1,879,286 was measured as of April 30, 2019 and 

was determined by an actuarial valuation as of that date. 
 
 e. Actuarial Assumptions and Other Inputs 
 
  The total OPEB liability at April 30, 2019, as determined by an actuarial valuation as 

of May 1, 2018 actuarial valuation, was determined using the following actuarial 
assumptions and other inputs, applied to all periods included in the measurement, 
unless otherwise specified. The total OPEB liability was rolled forward by the 
actuary using updating procedures to April 30, 2019, including updating the discount 
rate at April 30, 2019, as noted below. 

 
Actuarial cost method  Entry-age 
  
Actuarial value of assets Market value 
  
Inflation 3.00% 
  
Salary Increases 4.00% 
  
Discount rate 3.21% 
  
Healthcare cost trend rates  6.60% Initial to 

4.50% Ultimate 
 
  The discount rate was based the S&P Municipal Bond 20-Year High-Grade Rate 

Index as of April 30, 2019. 
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11. OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (Continued) 
 
 f.  Changes in the Total OPEB Liability 
 

 
Total OPEB 

Liability 
  
BALANCES AT MAY 1, 2018 $ 1,853,691 
  
Changes for the period  
 Service cost   31,356 
 Interest   64,349 
 Changes of assumption   91,892 
 Benefit payments   (162,002) 
  
  Net changes   25,595 
  
BALANCES AT APRIL 30, 2019 $ 1,879,286 

   
  Changes in assumptions related to the discount rate were made in 2019. 
 
 g. Rate Sensitivity 
 
  The following is a sensitivity analysis of the total OPEB liability to changes in the 

discount rate and the healthcare cost trend rate. The table below presents the total 
OPEB liability of the City calculated using the discount rate of 3.21% as well as 
what the City total OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate 
that is 1 percentage point lower (2.21%) or 1 percentage point higher (4.21%) than 
the current rate:  

 

 
 

1% Decrease 
Current 

Discount Rate 
 

1% Increase 
 (2.21%) (3.21%) (4.21%) 
    
Total OPEB liability $ 2,038,269 $ 1,879,286 $ 1,740,105 

 
 The table below presents the total OPEB liability of the City calculated using the 

healthcare rate of 6.60% to 4.50% as well as what the City’s total OPEB liability 
would be if it were calculated using a healthcare rate that is 1 percentage point lower 
(5.60% to 3.50%) or 1 percentage point higher (7.60% to 5.50%) than the current 
rate: 

 
  

1% Decrease 
Current  

Healthcare Rate 
 

1% Increase 
 (5.60% to 

3.50%) 
(6.60% to 

4.50%) 
(7.60% to 

5.50%) 
    
Total OPEB liability $ 1,725,837 $ 1,879,286 $ 2,056,992 
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11. OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (Continued) 
 
 h. OPEB Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of 

  Resources Related to OPEB 
 
  For the year ended April 30, 2019, the City recognized OPEB expense of $106,309. 

At April 30, 2019, the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred 
inflows of resources related to OPEB from the following sources: 

 

 

Deferred 
Outflows of 
Resources 

Deferred 
Inflows of 
Resources 

   
Changes in assumptions $ 81,288 $ - 
   
TOTAL $ 81,288 $ - 

 
Amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of 
resources will be recognized in OPEB expense as follows: 
 

Year Ending 
April 30   

   
2020  $ 10,604 
2021    10,604 
2022    10,604 
2023    10,604 
2024    10,604 
Thereafter    28,268 
   
TOTAL  $ 81,288 

 
12. CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLE/PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENT 
 

The City adopted GASB Statement No. 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting for 

Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions, which established standards for measuring 
and recognizing liabilities, deferred inflows and outflows of resources and expenses; and 
modified certain disclosures in the notes to financial statements and the required 
supplementary information. 
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12. CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLE/PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENT 
   (Continued) 
 

The City additionally restated certain fund balances to record revenues in the proper 
period. The beginning net position/fund balance has been restated to reflect the new 
guidance and corrections as follows: 
 
  

Governmental 
Activities 

 
Business-Type 

Activities 

 
 

General Fund 

Water 
Operations 

Fund 
     
FUND BALANCE/NET  
  POSITION, APRIL 30 

 
$ (3,309,768) 

 
$ 6,133,421 

 
$ 4,281,317 

 
$ 6,133,421 

     
RESTATEMENTS     
 To implement GASB 75  (1,610,857)  (242,834)  -  (242,834) 
     
 To record revenue  
   in the proper period 

 
 200,293 

 
 - 

 
 200,293 

 
 - 

     
  Subtotal  (1,410,564)  (242,834)  200,293  (242,834) 
     
FUND BALANCE/NET  
  POSITION, APRIL 30  
  (RESTATED) 

 
 
$ (4,720,332) 

 
 
$ 5,890,587 

 
 
$ 4,481,610 

 
 
$ 5,890,587 
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REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 



Variance
Original and Over
Final Budget Actual (Under)

REVENUES 
Taxes 5,157,296$       5,325,928$      168,632$          
Licenses, permits, and fees 947,097            1,250,081        302,984            
Intergovernmental 8,108,935         8,520,597        411,662            
Charges for services 414,853            612,789           197,936            
Investment income 5,000                76,040             71,040              
Miscellaneous 55,000              115,535           60,535              

Total revenues 14,688,181       15,900,970      1,212,789         

EXPENDITURES
Current

General government 1,892,151         1,885,065        (7,086)               
Highways and streets 2,894,283         2,755,954        (138,329)           
Public safety 8,266,357         8,165,123        (101,234)           

Total expenditures 13,052,791       12,806,142      (246,649)           
  

EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES 
  OVER EXPENDITURES 1,635,390         3,094,828        1,459,438         

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers in -                   38,041             38,041              
Transfers (out) -                   (3,000,230)      (3,000,230)        

Total other financing sources (uses) -                   (2,962,189)      (2,962,189)        

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE 1,635,390$       132,639           (1,502,751)$      

FUND BALANCE, MAY 1 4,281,317        

Prior period adjustment 200,293           

FUND BALANCE, MAY 1 (RESTATED) 4,481,610        

FUND BALANCE, APRIL 30 4,614,249$      

For the Year Ended April 30, 2019

CITY OF DARIEN, ILLINOIS

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND
CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

GENERAL FUND

(See independent auditor's report.)
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FISCAL YEAR ENDED APRIL 30, 2019 2018 2017 2016

Actuarially determined contribution 278,630$       403,827$       329,704$       335,289$       

Contributions in relation to the actuarially 
  determined contribution 278,630         403,827         329,704         335,289         

CONTRIBUTION DEFICIENCY (Excess) -$              -$              -$              -$              

Covered payroll 2,411,693$    2,594,734$    2,517,936$    2,525,245$    

Contributions as a percentage of  
  covered payroll 11.55% 15.56% 13.09% 13.28%

Notes to Required Supplementary Information

CITY OF DARIEN, ILLINOIS

SCHEDULE OF EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS
ILLINOIS MUNICIPAL RETIREMENT FUND

Last Four Fiscal Years

The information presented was determined as part of the actuarial valuations as of January 1 of the prior calendar
year. Additional information as of the latest actuarial valuation presented is as follows: the actuarial cost method
was entry-age normal; the amortization method was level percent of pay, closed and the amortization period was
25 years; the asset valuation method was five-year smoothed market; and the significant actuarial assumptions
were an investment rate of return at 7.50% annually, projected salary increases assumption of 3.75% to 14.50%
compounded annually, and inflation of 2.75%.

Ultimately, this schedule should present information for the last ten years. However, until ten years of information
can be compiled, information will be presented for as many years as is available.

(See independent auditor's report.)
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FISCAL YEAR ENDED APRIL 30, 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

Actuarially determined contribution 1,618,878$   1,456,052$   1,412,529$   1,200,005$    1,196,027$    

Contributions in relation to the actuarially 
  determined contribution 1,634,019      1,468,691      1,421,243      1,209,939      1,205,560      

CONTRIBUTION DEFICIENCY (Excess) (15,141)$       (12,639)$       (8,714)$         (9,934)$          (9,533)$          

Covered payroll 3,319,478$   3,163,883$   3,159,697$   3,054,195$    2,916,963$    

Contributions as a percentage of  
  covered payroll 49.23% 46.42% 44.98% 39.62% 41.33%

Notes to Required Supplementary Information

CITY OF DARIEN, ILLINOIS

SCHEDULE OF EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS
POLICE PENSION FUND

Last Five Fiscal Years

Ultimately, this schedule should present information for the last ten years. However, until ten years of information can be
compiled, information will be presented for as many years as is available.

The information presented was determined as part of the actuarial valuations as of May 1 of the prior fiscal year. Additional
information from the actuarial valuation used to determine the current year contributions is as follows: the actuarial cost
method was entry age normal; the amortization method was level percent of pay, 100% closed basis and the amortization
period was 22 years; the asset valuation method was five-year smoothed market value; and the significant actuarial
assumptions were an investment rate of return at 7.00% annually, projected salary increases assumption of 3.50% compounded
annually, and postretirement benefit increases of 3.00% compounded annually (Tier 1) and an annual increase equal to the
lesser of 3.00% per year or 1/2 the annual unadjusted percentage increase in the CPI-U.

(See independent auditor's report.)
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MEASUREMENT DATE DECEMBER 31, 2018 2017 2016 2015

TOTAL PENSION LIABILITY 
Service cost 245,279$          263,857$          278,904$          286,420$          
Interest 1,425,656         1,428,582         1,382,894         1,327,546         
Changes of benefit terms -                   -                   -                   -                   
Differences between expected and actual experience 931,248            (372,485)          (320,532)          (169,723)           
Changes of assumptions 597,080            (543,970)          (48,542)            24,074              
Benefit payments, including refunds of member contributions (880,787)          (730,617)          (720,046)          (681,770)           

Net change in total pension liability 2,318,476         45,367              572,678            786,547            

Total pension liability - beginning 19,326,507       19,281,140       18,708,462       17,921,915       

TOTAL PENSION LIABILITY - ENDING 21,644,983$     19,326,507$     19,281,140$     18,708,462$     

PLAN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION 
Contributions - employer 397,939$          314,655$          353,272$          335,354$          
Contributions - member 112,439            111,740            115,595            114,576            
Net investment income (978,275)          2,968,029         1,126,831         80,704              
Benefit payments, including refunds of member contributions (880,787)          (730,617)          (720,046)          (681,770)           
Other 566,121            (360,471)          84,073              18,009              

Net change in plan fiduciary net position (782,563)          2,303,336 959,725 (133,127)

Plan fiduciary net position - beginning 19,386,661       17,083,325       16,123,600       16,256,727       

PLAN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION - ENDING 18,604,098$     19,386,661$     17,083,325$     16,123,600$     

EMPLOYER'S NET PENSION LIABILITY (ASSET) 3,040,885$       (60,154)$          2,197,815$       2,584,862$       

Plan fiduciary net position
  as a percentage of the total pension liability 85.95% 100.31% 88.60% 86.18%

Covered payroll 2,498,644$       2,483,111$       2,568,770$       2,525,245$       

Employer's net pension liability
  as a percentage of covered payroll 121.70% (2.42%) 85.56% 102.36%

Notes to Required Supplementary Information

Changes in assumptions related to price inflation, salary increases, retirement age, and mortality rates were made in 2017.

Changes in assumptions related to the discount rate were made in 2018.

Ultimately, this schedule should present information for the last ten years. However, until ten years of information can be compiled,
information will be presented for as many years as is available.

CITY OF DARIEN, ILLINOIS

SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN THE EMPLOYER'S NET
PENSION LIABILITY AND RELATED RATIOS
ILLINOIS MUNICIPAL RETIREMENT FUND

Last Four Calendar Years

Changes in assumptions for the discount rate were made in 2015 and 2016.

(See independent auditor's report.)
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MEASUREMENT DATE  APRIL 30, 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

TOTAL PENSION LIABILITY 
Service cost 685,980$            730,502$            797,055$            754,785$            688,515$            
Interest 3,270,691           3,168,022           2,970,623           2,938,342           2,599,067           
Changes of benefit terms -                      -                      -                      -                     -                     
Differences between expected and actual experience (473,570)             274,605              202,447              (1,424,513)          (388,710)             
Changes of assumptions 1,749,927           (576,498)             798,335              -                     2,888,856           
Contributions - buy back -                      -                      106,677              -                     -                     
Benefit payments, including refunds of member contributions (2,125,790)          (2,045,013)          (1,932,191)          (1,767,269)          (1,624,179)          

Net change in total pension liability 3,107,238           1,551,618           2,942,946           501,345              4,163,549           

Total pension liability - beginning 47,101,075         45,549,457         42,606,511         42,105,166         37,941,617         

TOTAL PENSION LIABILITY - ENDING 50,208,313$       47,101,075$       45,549,457$       42,606,511$       42,105,166$       

PLAN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION 
Contributions - employer 1,634,019$         1,468,691$         1,421,243$         1,209,939$         1,205,560$         
Contributions - member 319,775              295,483              313,126              308,852              302,058              
Contributions - buy back -                      -                      106,677              -                     -                     
Net investment income 1,738,762           1,789,255           1,982,144           (21,989)              1,604,934           
Benefit payments, including refunds of member contributions (2,125,790)          (2,045,013)          (1,932,191)          (1,767,269)          (1,624,179)          
Administrative expense (41,538)               (39,377)               (41,720)               (34,650)              (39,881)              

Net change in plan fiduciary net position 1,525,228           1,469,039 1,849,279 (305,117) 1,448,492

Plan fiduciary net position - beginning 27,497,602         26,028,563         24,179,284         24,484,401         23,035,909         

PLAN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION - ENDING 29,022,830$       27,497,602$       26,028,563$       24,179,284$       24,484,401$       

EMPLOYER'S NET PENSION LIABILITY 21,185,483$       19,603,473$       19,520,894$       18,427,227$       17,620,765$       

Plan fiduciary net position
  as a percentage of the total pension liability 57.80% 58.38% 57.14% 56.75% 58.15%

Covered payroll 3,319,478$         3,163,883$         3,159,697$         3,054,195$         2,916,963$         

Employer's net pension liability
  as a percentage of covered payroll 638.22% 619.60% 617.81% 603.34% 604.08%

Notes to Required Supplementary Information

Last Five Fiscal Years

SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN THE EMPLOYER'S 

CITY OF DARIEN, ILLINOIS

POLICE PENSION FUND
NET PENSION LIABILITY AND RELATED RATIOS

Ultimately, this schedule should present information for the last ten years. However, until ten years of information can be compiled, information will be presented for
as many years as is available.

There was a change to actuarial assumptions in 2015 to reflect revised expectations with respect to mortality rates, disability rates, turnover rates, and retirement rates.

There was a change to actuarial assumptions in 2017 to reflect updated mortality assumptions to include a projection to the valuation date using Scale BB and the
salary scale assumption was updated from a flat 5.50% to a service-graded schedule.

There were changes in assumptions in 2018 for retirement, termination, and disability rate tables, salary increase rates, percentage of disabilities and deaths assumed
to be in the line of duty.

There were changes in assumptions in 2019 to update the mortality rates to reflect the PubS-2010 tables.

(See independent auditor's report.)
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MEASUREMENT DATE APRIL 30, 2019

TOTAL OPEB LIABILITY 
Service cost 31,356$              
Interest 64,349                
Changes of benefit terms -                      
Differences between expected and actual experience -                      
Changes of assumptions 91,892                
Benefit payments (162,002)             
Other changes -                      

Net change in total OPEB liability 25,595                

Total OPEB liability - beginning 1,853,691           

TOTAL OPEB LIABILITY  - ENDING 1,879,286$         

Covered payroll 5,460,822$         

Employer's total OPEB liability
  as a percentage of covered payroll 34.41%

Changes in assumptions related to the discount rate were made in 2019.

Ultimately, this schedule should present information for the last ten years. However, until ten
years of information can be compiled, information will be presented for as many years as is
available.

CITY OF DARIEN, ILLINOIS

SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN THE EMPLOYER'S
TOTAL OPEB LIABILITY AND RELATED RATIOS

OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFIT PLAN

Last Fiscal Year

No assets are accumulated in a trust that meets the criteria in paragraph 4 of GASB Statement
No. 75.

(See independent auditor's report.)
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FISCAL YEAR ENDED APRIL 30, 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

Annual money-weighted rate of return,
  net of investment expense 6.41% 6.99% 8.30% (0.09%) 6.90%

Notes to Required Supplementary Information

CITY OF DARIEN, ILLINOIS

SCHEDULE OF INVESTMENT RETURNS
POLICE PENSION FUND

Last Five Fiscal Years

Ultimately, this schedule should present information for the last ten years. However, until ten years of information can be
compiled, information will be presented for as many years as is available.

(See independent auditor's report.)
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CITY OF DARIEN, ILLINOIS 
 

NOTES TO REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 
 

April 30, 2019 
 
 
 
BUDGETS 
 
Annual budgets are adopted on a basis consistent with GAAP for all governmental funds except 
as noted below. Budget amounts are as originally adopted by the City Council. All annual 
appropriations lapse at fiscal year end. As the City does not budget for its Drug Seizure Fund (it 
is not legally required to do so), budget to actual schedules are not presented. In addition, no 
budgets were adopted for the Storm Sewer or Federal Equitable Sharing Funds. 
 
Prior to April 30, the City Administrator submits to the City Council a proposed operating 
budget for the fiscal year commencing May 1. The operating budget includes proposed 
expenditures and the means of financing them. Public hearings are conducted to obtain taxpayer 
comments. Formal budgetary integration is employed as a management control device during the 
year of the General Fund and  budgeted Special Revenue Funds. 
 
The City is authorized to change budgeted amounts within any fund; however, revision must be 
approved by two-thirds of the members of the City Council. No revisions can be made increasing 
the budget unless funding is available for the purpose of the revision. The legal level of 
budgetary control (i.e., the level at which expenditures may not legally exceed appropriations) is 
the fund level. 
 
The appropriated budget is prepared by fund, function, and department. The City Administrator 
is authorized to transfer budget amounts between departments within any fund; however, the 
City Council must approve revisions that alter the total expenditures of any fund. 
 
Expenditures exceeded budget in the Motor Fuel Tax Fund by $81,313 for the period ending 
April 30, 2019. 
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COMBINING AND INDIVIDUAL FUND 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SCHEDULES 

 



MAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 
 
 
General Fund - The General Fund was established to account for all revenues and expenditures 
which are not accounted for in other funds. This is the largest fund of the City, providing for the 
majority of the City’s revenues, expenditures, and services. The General Fund is supported 
predominately with taxes, licenses, and fees. It funds the operations of the City’s Police Department, 
Community Development Department, Mayor/City Council, Street Department, and Administration. 
 
Capital Improvements Fund - The Capital Improvement Fund was established to account for the 
proceeds of the Taxable General Obligation Bonds, Series 2007A and the expenditures for the 
related capital projects. 



Variance
Original and Over 2018
Final Budget Actual (Under) Actual

TAXES
Property taxes - current 2,183,796$         2,230,641$        46,845$             2,205,810$         
Road and bridge tax 205,000              210,370             5,370                 206,523              
Municipal utility tax 985,000              1,073,098          88,098               1,014,070           
Telecommunication tax 590,000              526,582             (63,418)              572,521              
Amusement tax 82,000                86,383               4,383                 90,516                
Hotel/motel tax 75,000                69,528               (5,472)                68,984                
Local gas tax 310,000              321,616             11,616               322,543              
Food and beverage tax 580,000              606,667             26,667               601,918              
Replacement tax 6,500                  6,433                 (67)                     6,233                  
Auto rental tax -                      2,014                 2,014                 3,739                  
Video gaming tax 140,000              192,596             52,596               163,830              

Total taxes 5,157,296           5,325,928          168,632             5,256,687           

LICENSES, PERMITS, AND FEES
Business licenses 38,000                40,132               2,132                 37,824                
Liquor licenses 66,500                70,700               4,200                 69,625                
Contractors licenses 20,000                21,000               1,000                 18,170                
Court fines 100,000              127,454             27,454               119,516              
Ordinance fines 20,000                51,389               31,389               20,075                
Building permits and fees 35,000                220,407             185,407             204,030              
Cable TV franchise fees 452,800              453,525             725                    463,004              
PEG fees AT&T -                      10,610               10,610               15,103                
NICOR franchise fees 25,000                29,664               4,664                 29,151                
Public hearing fees 5,000                  2,580                 (2,420)                5,823                  
Elevator inspections 4,500                  4,600                 100                    5,350                  
Public improvement permit fees -                      -                     -                     3,450                  
Legal fee reimbursements -                      13,833               13,833               -                      
NSF check fee -                      140                    140                    70                        
Engineering fee reimbursements 74,000                76,743               2,743                 96,513                
DUI technology fines 6,500                  11,861               5,361                 15,448                
Police special service 99,597                115,043             15,446               134,065              
Developer contribution/impact 200                      -                     (200)                   -                      
Stormwater management fees -                      400                    400                    450                      

Total licenses, permits, and fees 947,097              1,250,081          302,984             1,237,667           

INTERGOVERNMENTAL
State income taxes 2,053,998           2,144,307          90,309               2,002,800           
Local use tax 545,524              684,045             138,521             573,692              
Sales tax 5,509,413           5,667,938          158,525             5,681,573           
Drug forfeiture receipts -                      19,465               19,465               3,806                  
Grants -                      4,842                 4,842                 2,255                  

Total intergovernmental 8,108,935           8,520,597          411,662             8,264,126           

2019

CITY OF DARIEN, ILLINOIS

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL
GENERAL FUND

For the Year Ended April 30, 2019
(With Prior Year Actual)

(This schedule is continued on the following page.)
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Variance
Original and Over 2018
Final Budget Actual (Under) Actual

CHARGES FOR SERVICES
Towing fees 37,000$              72,500$             35,500$             62,500$              
E-Citation fees -                      6,537                 6,537                 8,686                  
Police report/prints 5,000                  5,741                 741                    6,328                  
Rents 324,853              343,155             18,302               403,906              
Other reimbursements 45,000                131,680             86,680               121,036              
Residential concrete reimbursement -                      51,511               51,511               -                      
Reimbursement - rear yard drain -                      (4,610)                (4,610)                57,037                
Mail box reimbursement -                      2,805                 2,805                 4,135                  
Sales of wood chips 3,000                  3,470                 470                    3,625                  

Total charges for services 414,853              612,789             197,936             667,253              

INVESTMENT INCOME
Investment income 5,000                  76,040               71,040               24,776                

Total investment income 5,000                  76,040               71,040               24,776                

MISCELLANEOUS
Drug forfeiture receipts -                      -                     -                     1,851                  
Reimbursement - workers' compensation -                      -                     -                     -                      
Impact fees -                      1,125                 1,125                 1,000                  
Refund -                      -                     -                     -                      
Miscellaneous 55,000                114,410             59,410               160,867              

Total miscellaneous 55,000                115,535             60,535               163,718              

TOTAL REVENUES 14,688,181$       15,900,970$      1,212,789$        15,614,227$       

2019

CITY OF DARIEN, ILLINOIS

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL (Continued)
GENERAL FUND 

(With Prior Year Actual)
For the Year Ended April 30, 2019

(See independent auditor's report.)
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Variance
Original and Over 2018
Final Budget Actual (Under) Actual

GENERAL GOVERNMENT
Administration

Personnel services
Salaries 286,406$          301,154$          14,748$            520,393$          
Overtime -                    530                   530                   -                    
Social Security 21,039              17,578              (3,461)               27,616              
Medicare 4,153                4,111                (42)                    7,482                
IMRF 36,288              33,477              (2,811)               100,488            
Medical/life insurance 69,080              77,170              8,090                85,583              
State unemployment insurance -                    -                    -                    7,337                
Supplemental pensions 4,800                3,646                (1,154)               21,367              

Total personnel services 421,766            437,666            15,900              770,266            

Materials and supplies
Dues and subscriptions 1,490                387                   (1,103)               2,041                
Liability insurance 311,639            271,949            (39,690)             265,399            
Legal notices 2,000                1,246                (754)                  1,598                
Maintenance - building -                    -                    -                    69                     
Maintenance - equipment 7,900                6,944                (956)                  6,647                
Postage/mailings 3,350                1,970                (1,380)               1,618                
Printing and forms 4,200                3,015                (1,185)               3,912                
Public relations 34,170              25,823              (8,347)               40,235              
Rent - equipment 2,019                119                   (1,900)               1,019                
Supplies - office 8,000                6,277                (1,723)               7,279                
Supplies - other 500                   39                     (461)                  -                    
Training and education 2,000                -                    (2,000)               1,107                
Travel/meetings 550                   99                     (451)                  238                   
Telephone 51,200              35,666              (15,534)             33,894              
Utilities 3,000                1,800                (1,200)               1,724                
Gas and oil 650                   272                   (378)                  1,067                
Other -                    -                    -                    18                     

Total materials and supplies 432,668            355,606            (77,062)             367,865            

Contractual services
Audit 13,200              13,200              -                    12,500              
Consulting/professional 304,750            288,193            (16,557)             118,188            
Contingency 10,000              -                    (10,000)             10,000              
Janitorial services 20,500              17,318              (3,182)               18,167              

Total contractual services 348,450            318,711            (29,739)             158,855            

Capital outlay
Equipment 45,000              33,580              (11,420)             -                    

Total capital outlay 45,000              33,580              (11,420)             -                    

Total administration 1,247,884         1,145,563         (102,321)           1,296,986         

City Council
Personnel services

Salaries 42,750              42,750              -                    42,348              
Social Security 2,651                2,651                -                    2,632                
Medicare 620                   620                   -                    616                   

Total personnel services 46,021              46,021              -                    45,596              

2019

CITY OF DARIEN, ILLINOIS

SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL
GENERAL FUND

For the Year Ended April 30, 2019
(With Prior Year Actual)

(This schedule is continued on the following pages.)
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Variance
Original and Over 2018
Final Budget Actual (Under) Actual

GENERAL GOVERNMENT (Continued)
City Council (Continued)

Materials and supplies
Board and commissions 2,000$              698$                 (1,302)$             687$                 
Cable operations 8,000                2,150                (5,850)               3,400                
Dues and subscriptions 2,850                2,829                (21)                    1,835                
Liability insurance -                    -                    -                    -                    
Public relations 500                   2                       (498)                  500                   
Training and education 1,000                155                   (845)                  200                   
Travel/meetings 50                     -                    (50)                    -                    

Total materials and supplies 14,400              5,834                (8,566)               6,622                

Contractual services
Rear yard drain proj-reimb -                    -                    -                    375                   
Consulting/professional 5,000                3,640                (1,360)               2,563                
Tolley contracts 600                   251                   (349)                  105                   

Total contractual services 5,600                3,891                (1,709)               3,043                

Total city council 66,021              55,746              (10,275)             55,261              

Community development
Personnel services

Salaries 296,685            296,434            (251)                  301,066            
Overtime 500                   -                    (500)                  -                    
Social Security 17,361              16,417              (944)                  16,701              
Medicare 4,316                4,107                (209)                  4,120                
IMRF 37,717              33,346              (4,371)               40,826              
Medical/life insurance 49,362              49,556              194                   52,519              
Supplemental pensions 3,600                1,708                (1,892)               923                   

Total personnel services 409,541            401,568            (7,973)               416,155            

Materials and supplies
Boards and commissions 1,200                1,530                330                   1,730                
Dues and subscriptions 500                   175                   (325)                  368                   
Liabilities insurance 23,000              30,832              7,832                19,899              
Maintenance - vehicles 500                   326                   (174)                  -                    
Miscellaneous expenditures -                    -                    -                    50                     
Printing and forms 1,865                470                   (1,395)               813                   
Supplies - office 900                   673                   (227)                  952                   
Training and educational 550                   514                   (36)                    1,014                
Travel/meetings 200                   148                   (52)                    78                     
Gas and oil 1,350                1,204                (146)                  1,230                

Total materials and supplies 30,065              35,872              5,807                26,134              

For the Year Ended April 30, 2019

2019

CITY OF DARIEN, ILLINOIS

SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL (Continued)
GENERAL FUND 

(With Prior Year Actual)

(This schedule is continued on the following pages.)
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Variance
Original and Over 2018
Final Budget Actual (Under) Actual

For the Year Ended April 30, 2019

2019

CITY OF DARIEN, ILLINOIS

SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL (Continued)
GENERAL FUND 

(With Prior Year Actual)

GENERAL GOVERNMENT (Continued)
Community development (Continued)

Contractual services
Economic development 278,000$          351,494$          73,494$            308,226$          
Consulting/professional 42,640              58,999              16,359              48,301              
Consulting/professional reimbursable 68,000              85,823              17,823              70,676              
Tree trim/removal -                    -                    -                    -                    

Total contractual services 388,640            496,316            107,676            427,203            

Capital outlay
Equipment -                    -                    -                    23,123              

Total capital outlay -                    -                    -                    23,123              

Total community development 828,246            933,756            105,510            892,615            

Subtotal general government 2,142,151         2,135,065         (7,086)               2,244,862         

Less reimbursements from Water Fund (250,000)           (250,000)           -                    (250,000)           

Total general government 1,892,151         1,885,065         (7,086)               1,994,862         

HIGHWAYS AND STREETS
Public works

Personnel services
Salaries 639,375            645,492            6,117                627,367            
Overtime 70,000              56,938              (13,062)             85,536              
Social Security 38,191              41,259              3,068                43,655              
Medicare 8,932                9,650                718                   9,877                
IMRF 110,717            72,152              (38,565)             74,146              
Medical/life insurance 119,361            118,992            (369)                  98,072              
Supplemental pensions 2,400                1,385                (1,015)               1,023                

Total personnel services 988,976            945,868            (43,108)             939,676            

Materials and supplies
Liability insurance 23,029              23,414              385                   27,743              
Maintenance - building 341,288            298,607            (42,681)             266,464            
Maintenance - equipment 36,500              27,000              (9,500)               95,705              
Maintenance - vehicles 48,000              106,452            58,452              57,712              
Postage/mailings 1,000                343                   (657)                  268                   
Rent - equipment 23,700              8,605                (15,095)             7,690                
Supplies - office 3,053                2,389                (664)                  771                   
Supplies - other 138,165            96,949              (41,216)             60,180              
Small tools and equipment 63,300              60,800              (2,500)               5,802                
Training and education 4,600                2,750                (1,850)               1,550                
Travel/meetings -                    -                    -                    18                     
Uniforms 6,446                6,277                (169)                  4,687                
Utilities 6,400                4,372                (2,028)               8,126                
Gas and oil 60,300              53,452              (6,848)               47,760              

Total materials and supplies 755,781            691,410            (64,371)             584,476            

(This schedule is continued on the following pages.)
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Variance
Original and Over 2018
Final Budget Actual (Under) Actual

For the Year Ended April 30, 2019

2019

CITY OF DARIEN, ILLINOIS

SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL (Continued)
GENERAL FUND 

(With Prior Year Actual)

HIGHWAYS AND STREETS (Continued)
Public works (Continued)

Contractual services
Consulting/professional 16,250$            13,864$            (2,386)$             6,324$              
Consulting/professional reimbursable -                    -                    -                    (210)                  
Forestry 65,411              43,794              (21,617)             66,092              
Street light operation and maintenance 73,000              63,142              (9,858)               114,486            
Tree trim - removal 306,715            257,683            (49,032)             109,459            
Residential concrete program -                    52,787              52,787              227                   
Street sweeping 38,250              35,098              (3,152)               33,213              
Mosquito abatement 41,700              40,887              (813)                  40,887              
Drainage projects 81,300              101,264            19,964              87,854              

Total contractual services 622,626            608,519            (14,107)             458,332            

Capital outlay
Equipment 526,900            510,157            (16,743)             345,858            

Total capital outlay 526,900            510,157            (16,743)             345,858            

Total public works 2,894,283         2,755,954         (138,329)           2,328,342         

Total highways and streets 2,894,283         2,755,954         (138,329)           2,328,342         

PUBLIC SAFETY
Police department

Personnel services
Salaries 414,970            403,410            (11,560)             417,867            
Salaries - officers 3,572,349         3,504,249         (68,100)             3,270,379         
Overtime 475,000            568,222            93,222              543,085            
Social Security 25,728              26,154              426                   24,237              
Medicare 64,704              58,424              (6,280)               54,335              
IMRF 48,409              40,377              (8,032)               46,551              
Medical/life insurance 434,053            443,810            9,757                395,526            
Police pension 1,618,878         1,634,019         15,141              1,468,691         
Supplemental pensions 44,800              34,462              (10,338)             26,709              

Total personnel services 6,698,891         6,713,127         14,236              6,247,380         

Materials and supplies
Animal control 1,500                1,570                70                     775                   
Auxiliary police 4,500                2,856                (1,644)               1,414                
Boards and commissions 22,300              11,631              (10,669)             34,636              
Dues and subscriptions 5,150                2,098                (3,052)               1,682                
Investigation and equipment 42,980              148,437            105,457            6,830                
Liability insurance 65,520              41,745              (23,775)             43,474              
Maintenance - equipment 15,850              11,406              (4,444)               13,335              
Maintenance - vehicles 21,200              38,046              16,846              50,451              
Postage/mailings 4,300                1,465                (2,835)               993                   
Printing and forms 1,500                553                   (947)                  1,248                
Public relations 4,500                2,858                (1,642)               1,776                
Rent - equipment 5,500                1,600                (3,900)               1,500                
Supplies - office 6,500                6,534                34                     5,145                

(This schedule is continued on the following page.)
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Variance
Original and Over 2018
Final Budget Actual (Under) Actual

For the Year Ended April 30, 2019

2019

CITY OF DARIEN, ILLINOIS

SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL (Continued)
GENERAL FUND 

(With Prior Year Actual)

PUBLIC SAFETY (Continued)
Police department (Continued)

Materials and supplies (Continued)
Training and education 38,755$            13,859$            (24,896)$           28,386$            
Travel/meetings 14,400              5,995                (8,405)               7,216                
Telephone 14,375              11,106              (3,269)               10,836              
Uniforms 63,100              52,617              (10,483)             33,025              
Utilities 7,500                7,718                218                   7,678                
Gas and oil 75,000              89,490              14,490              87,028              

Total materials and supplies 414,430            451,584            37,154              337,428            

Contractual services
Consulting/professional 444,460            433,953            (10,507)             395,748            
Dumeg/fiat/child center 7,000                3,500                (3,500)               10,500              

Total contractual services 451,460            437,453            (14,007)             406,248            

Capital outlay
Equipment 701,576            562,959            (138,617)           14,152              

Total capital outlay 701,576            562,959            (138,617)           14,152              

Total police department 8,266,357         8,165,123         (101,234)           7,005,208         

Total public safety 8,266,357         8,165,123         (101,234)           7,005,208         

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 13,052,791$     12,806,142$     (246,649)$         11,328,412$     

(See independent auditor's report.)
- 70 -



Variance
Original and Over 2018
Final Budget Actual (Under) Actual

REVENUES 
Taxes 193,427$          192,472$          (955)$               194,298$          
Intergovernmental -                   -                   -                   57,263              
Investment income 25,000              77,718              52,718              37,693              

Total revenues 218,427            270,190            51,763              289,254            

EXPENDITURES
Current

Highways and streets
Contractual services 47,500              27,871              (19,629)            37,906              

Capital outlay 4,002,941         3,932,932         (70,009)            3,412,554         
Debt service

Principal payments -                   175,000            175,000            175,000            
Interest and fiscal charges 194,427            19,178              (175,249)           21,665              

Total expenditures 4,244,868         4,154,981         (89,887)            3,647,125         

EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES
  OVER EXPENDITURES (4,026,441)        (3,884,791)        141,650            (3,357,871)        

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers in 2,450,000         3,000,000         550,000            4,100,000         

Total other financing sources (uses) 2,450,000         3,000,000         550,000            4,100,000         

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE (1,576,441)$      (884,791)           691,650$          742,129            

FUND BALANCE, MAY 1 6,122,046         5,379,917         

FUND BALANCE, APRIL 30 5,237,255$       6,122,046$       

2019

(With Prior Year Actual) 
For the Year Ended April 30, 2019

CITY OF DARIEN, ILLINOIS

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND
CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT FUND

(See independent auditor's report.)
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NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 
 
 

SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS 
 
Motor Fuel Tax Fund - The Motor Fuel Tax Fund is used to account for state-shared motor fuel 
tax revenues that are legally restricted to maintenance and construction of streets, sidewalks, 
alleys, and signals. 
 
Special Service Area Fund - A Special Service Area (SSA) is created to fund improvements 
which benefit an identifiable segment of the City, with a special property tax levied on and 
restricted to the benefited properties. SSA #1 was created to handle maintenance of the wetlands 
in the Tara Hill development.  
 
Storm Sewer Fund - The Storm Sewer Fund is used to account for storm water management fees 
that are restricted for storm sewer improvements.  
 
Federal Equitable Sharing Fund - The Federal Equitable Sharing Fund is used to account for the 
revenues and expenditures of restricted forfeited money provided through the Federal Equitable 
Sharing program. 
 
Drug Seizure Fund - When property or money is seized by the Police Department in relation to 
violations of drug laws, the Police Department is entitled to receive a portion of the property or 
money to offset the cost of drug enforcement. Requirements which govern forfeiture activities 
require these monies be segregated and restricted for drug enforcement purposes. 



Federal
Motor Special Storm Equitable Drug

Fuel Tax Service Area Sewer Sharing Seizure Total

Cash and cash equivalents 300,004$       14,530$         79,693$         244,549$       2,473$           641,249$       
Receivables

Intergovernmental 48,886           -                -                -                -                48,886           

TOTAL ASSETS 348,890$       14,530$         79,693$         244,549$       2,473$           690,135$       

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable 549$              -$              -$              39,924$         2,473$           42,946$         

Total liabilities 549                -                -                39,924           2,473             42,946           

FUND BALANCES
Restricted

Special service area -                14,530           -                -                -                14,530           
Storm sewer -                -                79,693           -                -                79,693           
Public safety -                -                -                204,625         -                204,625         
Highways and streets 348,341         -                -                -                -                348,341         

Total fund balances 348,341         14,530           79,693           204,625         -                647,189         

TOTAL LIABILITIES
  AND FUND BALANCES 348,890$       14,530$         79,693$         244,549$       2,473$           690,135$       

AND FUND BALANCES
LIABILITIES 

CITY OF DARIEN, ILLINOIS

COMBINING BALANCE SHEET
NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

April 30, 2019

ASSETS

Special Revenue

(See independent auditor's report.)
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Federal
Motor Special Storm Equitable Drug

Fuel Tax Service Area Sewer Sharing Seizure Total

REVENUES
Taxes -$               5,061$           -$               -$               -$               5,061$           
Intergovernmental 560,644          -                 -                 27,848           -                 588,492         
Investment income 7,106              199                1,095             4,965             -                 13,365           

  
Total revenues 567,750          5,260             1,095             32,813           -                 606,918         

   
EXPENDITURES 

Current
Highways and streets 608,848          5,000             -                 -                 -                 613,848         
Public safety -                 -                 -                 141,579         -                 141,579         

  
Total expenditures 608,848          5,000             -                 141,579         -                 755,427         

EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES 
  OVER EXPENDITURES (41,098)          260                1,095             (108,766)        -                 (148,509)        

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers in -                 -                 -                 230                -                 230                
Transfers (out) -                 -                 -                 -                 (38,041)          (38,041)          

Total other financing sources (uses) -                 -                 -                 230                (38,041)          (37,811)          

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCES (41,098)          260                1,095             (108,536)        (38,041)          (186,320)        

FUND BALANCES, MAY 1 389,439          14,270           78,598           313,161         38,041           833,509         

FUND BALANCES, APRIL 30 348,341$        14,530$         79,693$         204,625$       -$               647,189$       

For the Year Ended April 30, 2019

CITY OF DARIEN, ILLINOIS

COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES,
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES

NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

Special Revenue

(See independent auditor's report.)
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Variance
Original and Over 2018
Final Budget Actual (Under) Actual

REVENUES 
Intergovernmental

Motor fuel tax allotment 552,150$          560,644$          8,494$              563,922$          
Investment income 1,000                7,106                6,106                4,135                

Total revenues 553,150            567,750            14,600              568,057            

EXPENDITURES
Current

Highways and streets
Commodities 225,570            294,306            68,736              249,790            
Wages 296,965            308,404            11,439              296,965            
Contractual services 5,000                6,138                1,138                17,520              

Total expenditures 527,535            608,848            81,313              564,275            
  

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE 25,615$            (41,098)            (66,713)$          3,782                

FUND BALANCE, MAY 1 389,439            385,657            

FUND BALANCE, APRIL 30 348,341$          389,439$          

2019

(With Prior Year Actual)
For the Year Ended April 30, 2019

CITY OF DARIEN, ILLINOIS

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND
CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

MOTOR FUEL TAX FUND

(See independent auditor's report.)
- 74 -



Variance
Original and Over 2018
Final Budget Actual (Under) Actual

REVENUES 
Taxes 5,000$              5,061$              61$                   5,066$              
Investment income 100                   199                   99                     100                   

Total revenues 5,100                5,260                160                   5,166                

EXPENDITURES
Current

Contractual services 8,000                5,000                (3,000)               4,784                

Total expenditures 8,000                5,000                (3,000)               4,784                
 

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE (2,900)$             260                   3,160$              382                   

FUND BALANCE, MAY 1 14,270              13,888              

FUND BALANCE, APRIL 30 14,530$            14,270$            

2019

CITY OF DARIEN, ILLINOIS

For the Year Ended April 30, 2019

SPECIAL SERVICE AREA FUND
CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND

(With Prior Year Actual)

(See independent auditor's report.)
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MAJOR ENTERPRISE FUND 
 
 
Water Operations Fund - to account for the financing of self-supporting municipal activities which 
render services generally on a user charge basis to the general public. The significant characteristic of 
an enterprise fund is that the accounting system makes it possible to determine whether that 
particular service area is operated at a profit or a loss in accordance with the GAAPs followed by 
private business concerns.  
 

 



CITY OF DARIEN, ILLINOIS

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENSES,
AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

WATER OPERATIONS FUND

Variance
Original and Over 2018
Final Budget Actual (Under) Actual

OPERATING REVENUES
Charges for services

Water sales 8,037,378$       7,794,496$       (242,882)$         8,178,605$       
Inspections/tap on/permits 10,000              21,916              11,916              28,353              
Sale of meters 3,500                7,755                4,255                5,033                
Other water sales 1,000                21,043              20,043              12,288              

Total operating revenues 8,051,878         7,845,210         (206,668)           8,224,279         

OPERATING EXPENSES
  EXCLUDING DEPRECIATION

Personnel services
Salaries 513,355            469,672            (43,683)             457,133            
Overtime 75,000              90,056              15,056              88,500              
Social Security 38,028              31,845              (6,183)               32,359              
Medicare 8,894                7,448                (1,446)               7,464                
IMRF 78,809              67,469              (11,340)             108,594            
Medical/life insurance 107,403            103,833            (3,570)               94,562              
Supplemental pensions 2,400                2,400                -                    923                   

Total personnel services 823,889            772,723            (51,166)             789,535            

Materials and supplies
Liability insurance 204,140            164,890            (39,250)             168,814            
Maintenance - building 88,540              68,994              (19,546)             38,066              
Maintenance - equipment 39,150              25,079              (14,071)             24,537              
Maintenance - water system 174,200            148,856            (25,344)             143,907            
Postage/mailings 2,000                50                     (1,950)               60                     
Quality controls 10,850              13,297              2,447                6,648                
Service charge 250,000            250,000            -                    250,000            
Supplies - operation 3,000                2,528                (472)                  983                   
Training and education 2,900                2,118                (782)                  1,753                
Telephone 10,450              8,109                (2,341)               6,440                
Uniforms 8,150                3,624                (4,526)               3,312                
Utilities 51,500              47,039              (4,461)               48,607              
Vehicle (gas and oil) 15,975              14,894              (1,081)               14,468              

Total materials and supplies 860,855            749,478            (111,377)           707,595            

Contractual
Audit 11,513              6,966                (4,547)               10,575              
Consulting/professional 20,450              5,599                (14,851)             31,710              
Leak detection 20,100              25,636              5,536                24,446              
Data processing 152,500            161,730            9,230                139,327            
DuPage Water Commission 5,020,033         4,480,123         (539,910)           4,880,016         
Bond issuance costs -                    -                    -                    33,838              

Total contractual 5,224,596         4,680,054         (544,542)           5,119,912         

For the Year Ended April 30, 2019

2019

(With Prior Year Actual)

(This schedule is continued on the following page.)
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CITY OF DARIEN, ILLINOIS

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENSES,
AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION - BUDGET AND ACTUAL (Continued)

WATER OPERATIONS FUND

For the Year Ended April 30, 2019

Variance
Original and Over 2018
Final Budget Actual (Under) Actual

OPERATING EXPENSES
  EXCLUDING DEPRECIATION (Continued)

Capital outlay
Equipment 78,525$            67,548$            (10,977)$           92,221$            
Water meters 27,000              33,651              6,651                27,785              
Infrastructure 1,608,000         1,601,099         (6,901)               110,556            

Total capital outlay 1,713,525         1,702,298         (11,227)             230,562            

Total operating expenses excluding
  depreciation 8,622,865         7,904,553         (718,312)           6,847,604         

OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) (570,987)           (59,343)             511,644            1,376,675         

NON-OPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)
Investment income 2,000                59,439              57,439              5,421                
Miscellaneous income -                    43,682              43,682              50,563              
Debt service

Bond proceeds 3,500,000         -                    (3,500,000)        -                    
Principal repayment (300,025)           (230,000)           70,025              (225,000)           
Interest expense -                    (153,715)           (153,715)           (72,504)             

Total non-operating revenues (expenses) 3,201,975         (280,594)           (3,482,569)        (241,520)           

NET INCOME (LOSS) BUDGETARY BASIS 2,630,988$       (339,937)           (2,970,925)$      1,135,155         

ADJUSTMENTS TO GAAP BASIS 
Capital outlay capitalized 1,601,099         -                    
Principal repayment 230,000            225,000            
Bond amortization (3,220)               (6,920)               
Pension/OPEB expense 58,914              58,083              
Depreciation (329,570)           (321,565)           

Total adjustments to GAAP basis 1,557,223         (45,402)             

CHANGE IN NET POSITION 1,217,286         1,089,753         

NET POSITION, MAY 1 6,133,421         5,043,668         

Change in accounting principle (242,834)           -                    

NET POSITION, MAY 1, RESTATED 5,890,587         5,043,668         

NET POSITION, APRIL 30 7,107,873$       6,133,421$       

2019

(With Prior Year Actual)

(See independent auditor's report.)
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FIDUCIARY FUNDS 
 
 
Agency Funds - to account for amounts held on behalf of outside parties, including other 
governments, as their agent.  



COMBINING SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
AGENCY FUNDS

For the Year Ended April 30, 2019

Balances Balances
May 1 Additions Deletions April 30

 ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 5,780$              99,300$            105,080$          -$                 
Due from other funds 10,175              -                   10,175              -                   

TOTAL ASSETS 15,955$            99,300$            115,255$          -$                 

LIABILITIES

Impact fees payable 15,955$            99,300$            115,255$          -$                 

TOTAL LIABILITIES 15,955$            99,300$            115,255$          -$                 

CITY OF DARIEN, ILLINOIS

Impact Fees Fund

(See independent auditor's report.)
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SUPPLEMENTAL DATA 
 



CSFA Program
Number Name State Federal Other Total

494-00-1488 Motor Fuel Tax Program 608,847$      -$              -$                     608,847$         

Other grant programs and activities -                2,938            1,904               4,842               

All other costs not allocated -                -                23,728,295      23,728,295      

TOTALS 608,847$      2,938$          23,730,199$    24,341,984$    

CITY OF DARIEN, ILLINOIS

ILLINOIS GRANT ACCOUNTABILITY AND TRANSPARENCY ACT
CONSOLIDATED YEAR END FINANCIAL REPORT

For the Year Ended April 30, 2019

(See independent auditor's report.)
- 79 -



Date of Issue July 12, 2012
Date of Maturity December 15, 2025
Authorized Issue $2,810,000
Interest Rates 2.00% to 3.50%
Interest Dates June 15 and December 15
Principal Maturity Date December 15
Payable at Bank of New York Mellon

Fiscal
Year Principal Interest Total June 15 Amount December 15 Amount

2020 240,000$      61,375$       301,375$      2019 30,688$      2019 30,687$      
2021 245,000        54,175         299,175        2020 27,088        2020 27,087        
2022 260,000        46,825         306,825        2021 23,413        2021 23,412        
2023 265,000        39,025         304,025        2022 19,513        2022 19,512        
2024 275,000        29,750         304,750        2023 14,875        2023 14,875        
2025 285,000        20,125         305,125        2024 10,063        2024 10,062        
2026 290,000        10,150         300,150        2025 5,075          2025 5,075          

1,860,000$   261,425$     2,121,425$   130,715$    130,710$    

Interest Due on

CITY OF DARIEN, ILLINOIS

LONG-TERM DEBT REQUIREMENTS
GENERAL OBLIGATION REFUNDING BONDS, SERIES 2012

April 30, 2019

FUTURE PRINCIPAL AND INTEREST REQUIREMENTS

Tax Levy

(See independent auditor's report.)
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Date of Issue December 21, 2015
Date of Maturity January 1, 2024
Authorized Issue $1,360,000
Interest Rates 1.25% to 2.20%
Interest Dates January 1 and July 1
Principal Maturity Date January 1
Payable at Bank of New York Mellon

Fiscal
Year Principal Interest Total July 1 Amount January 1 Amount

2020 175,000$      16,240$        191,240$      2019 8,120$        2020 8,120$        
2021 180,000        13,440          193,440        2020 6,720          2021 6,720          
2022 185,000        10,560          195,560        2021 5,280          2022 5,280          
2023 185,000        6,490            191,490        2022 3,245          2023 3,245          
2024 110,000        2,420            112,420        2023 1,210          2024 1,210          

835,000$      49,150$        884,150$      24,575$      24,575$      

FUTURE PRINCIPAL AND INTEREST REQUIREMENTS

Interest Due on

CITY OF DARIEN, ILLINOIS

LONG-TERM DEBT REQUIREMENTS
GENERAL OBLIGATION REFUNDING BONDS, SERIES 2015

April 30, 2019

Tax Levy

(See independent auditor's report.)
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Date of Issue April 16, 2018
Date of Maturity January 1, 2030
Authorized Issue $3,500,000
Interest Rates 3%
Interest Dates January 1 and July 1
Principal Maturity Date January 1
Payable at Amalgamated Bank of Chicago

Fiscal
Year Principal Interest Total July 1 Amount January 1 Amount

2020 210,000$      175,000$     385,000$      2019 122,500$    2020 52,500$      
2021 285,000        98,700         383,700        2020 49,350        2021 49,350        
2022 295,000        90,150         385,150        2021 45,075        2022 45,075        
2023 305,000        81,300         386,300        2022 40,650        2023 40,650        
2024 315,000        72,150         387,150        2023 36,075        2024 36,075        
2025 325,000        62,700         387,700        2024 31,350        2025 31,350        
2026 330,000        52,950         382,950        2025 26,475        2026 26,475        
2027 340,000        43,050         383,050        2026 21,525        2027 21,525        
2028 355,000        32,850         387,850        2027 16,425        2028 16,425        
2029 365,000        22,200         387,200        2028 11,100        2029 11,100        
2030 375,000        11,250         386,250        2029 5,625          2030 5,625          

3,500,000$   742,300$     4,242,300$   406,150$    336,150$    

CITY OF DARIEN, ILLINOIS

LONG-TERM DEBT REQUIREMENTS
GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS, SERIES 2018

April 30, 2019

FUTURE PRINCIPAL AND INTEREST REQUIREMENTS

Tax Levy Interest Due on

(See independent auditor's report.)
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Approval is hereby given to have the City Treasurer of Darien, Illinois pay to the 
officers, employees, independent contractors, vendors, and other providers of
goods and services in the indicated amounts as set forth.

A summary indicating the source of funds used to pay the above is as follows:

General Fund $105,176.40
Water Fund $23,623.61
Motor Fuel Tax Fund $104.52
Water Depreciation Fund $3,692.00
Special Service Area Tax Fund
E-Citation Fund
Capital Improvement Fund 556,506.30 
State Drug Forfeiture Fund $187.88

Federal Equitable Sharing Fund $5,601.65

DUI Technology Fund

Subtotal: $694,892.36

General Fund Payroll 09/26/19 247,197.13$       
Water Fund Payroll 09/26/19 23,047.70$    

Subtotal: 270,244.83$       

Total to be Approved by City Council: 965,137.19$       

Approvals:

Joseph A. Marchese, Mayor

JoAnne E. Ragona, City Clerk

Michael J. Coren, Treasurer

Bryon D. Vana, City Administrator

FOR CITY COUNCIL MEETING ON
October 7, 2019

 WARRANT NUMBER:  19-20-12

CITY OF DARIEN
EXPENDITURE APPROVAL LIST



CITY OF DARIEN

Expenditure Journal

General Fund

Administration

From 9/17/2019 Through 10/7/2019

Vendor Name Invoice Description Session ID Acct Code Acct Title Dept Amount

ADVANCE AUTO PARTS 12V BATTERY AP100719 4229 Maintenance - Vehicles 260.34 

ADVANCE AUTO PARTS RETURN FOR INV 
726958

AP100719 4229 Maintenance - Vehicles (260.34)

AIS MONTHLY BACK-UP 
SERVICE

AP100719 4325 Consulting/Professional 1,250.00 

AIS CLOUD CONTROLLER AP100719 4325 Consulting/Professional 20.00 

AIS MONTHLY BLOCK 
HOURS

AP100719 4325 Consulting/Professional 5,130.26 

ALPINE BANQUETS, INC. DEPOSIT -CITIZEN OF 
THE YEAR 2020

AP100719 4239 Public Relations 500.00 

ALPINE BANQUETS, INC. DEPOSIT-CITIZEN OF 
THE YEAR 2020

AP100719-2 4239 Public Relations 500.00 

ALPINE BANQUETS, INC. CREDIT FOR VOIDED 
CK 053664

APCREDIT100... 4239 Public Relations (500.00)

CALL ONE, INC. CITY TELEPHONE BILL AP100719 4267 Telephone 1,488.12 

CINTAS FIRST AID AND SAFETY REPLENISH FIRST AID 
CABINET

AP100719 4219 Liability Insurance 12.79 

CLEAN SLATE INC JANITORIAL CONTRACT AP100719 4345 Janitorial Service 1,884.20 

COMCAST BUSINESS CITY HALL CABLE BILL AP100719 4271 Utilities (Elec,Gas,Wtr,Sewer) 8.40 

DUPAGE COUNTY PUBLIC WORKS RECORDING: 
CARRIAGE GREENS 
AGREEMENTS (R-92-19)

AP100719 4221 Legal Notices 90.00 

DUPAGE COUNTY PUBLIC WORKS CITY SEWER BILL (6-26 
thru 8-27-19)

AP100719 4271 Utilities (Elec,Gas,Wtr,Sewer) 150.26 

DUPAGE COUNTY PUBLIC WORKS RECORDING: 
CARRIAGE GREENS 
AGREEMENTS (R-92-19)

APVOID100719... 4221 Legal Notices (90.00)

DUPAGE COUNTY RECORDER R-2019-073297  LIEN 
-7014 HIGH RD - WEED 
REMOVAL/LAWN MAINT

AP100719 4221 Legal Notices 11.00 

DUPAGE COUNTY RECORDER RECORDING: 
CARRIAGE GREENS 
AGREEMENT 
R2019-082586

AP100719-5 4221 Legal Notices 90.00 

GOVTEMPSUSA LLC VANA (9-15-19) AP100719 4325 Consulting/Professional 3,415.38 

Date: 10/3/19 11:18:43 AM Page: 1



CITY OF DARIEN

Expenditure Journal

General Fund

Administration

From 9/17/2019 Through 10/7/2019

Vendor Name Invoice Description Session ID Acct Code Acct Title Dept Amount

GOVTEMPSUSA LLC VANA (9-22-19) AP100719 4325 Consulting/Professional 3,415.38 

GOVTEMPSUSA LLC VANA (9-1-19) AP100719 4325 Consulting/Professional 3,415.38 

GOVTEMPSUSA LLC VANA (9-8-19) AP100719 4325 Consulting/Professional 3,415.38 

IMPACT NETWORKING, LLC KONICA COPIER 
CONTRACT

AP100719 4225 Maintenance - Equipment 158.56 

MUNICIPAL WEB SERVICES WEBSITE HOSTING 
/MAINTENANCE -AUG 
2019

AP100719 4325 Consulting/Professional 420.00 

NEOFUNDS POSTAGE PURCHASE 
FOR POSTAGE MACHINE

AP100719 4233 Postage/Mailings 150.00 

NICOR GAS NICOR 82541110001  
1702 PLAINFIELD RD

AP100719 4271 Utilities (Elec,Gas,Wtr,Sewer) 108.76 

OFFICE DEPOT OFFICE SUPPLIES FOR 
CITY HALL

AP100719 4253 Supplies - Office 28.73 

OFFICE DEPOT OFFICE SUPPLIES FOR 
CITY HALL

AP100719 4253 Supplies - Office 78.49 

OFFICE DEPOT OFFICE SUPPLIES FOR 
CITY HALL

AP100719 4253 Supplies - Office 11.49 

PETTY CASH TABLECLOTH 
CLEANING BILL -LISA 
KLEMM

AP100719 4232 Miscellaneous Expenditures 20.00 

PETTY CASH TABLECLOTH 
CLEANING BILL 
-PAULINA NOGA

AP100719 4232 Miscellaneous Expenditures 20.00 

PETTY CASH MILEAGE TO COUNTY 
OFFICES -MARIA 
GONZALEZ

AP100719 4265 Travel/Meetings 22.11 

PETTY CASH MILEAGE TO COUNTY 
OFFICES -MARIA 
GONZALEZ

AP100719 4265 Travel/Meetings 22.11 

PETTY CASH MILEAGE TO COUNTY 
OFFICES -MARIA 
GONZALEZ

AP100719 4265 Travel/Meetings 22.11 

Date: 10/3/19 11:18:43 AM Page: 2



CITY OF DARIEN

Expenditure Journal

General Fund

Administration

From 9/17/2019 Through 10/7/2019

Vendor Name Invoice Description Session ID Acct Code Acct Title Dept Amount

PETTY CASH MILEAGE TO COUNTY 
OFFICES- MARIA 
GONZALEZ

AP100719 4265 Travel/Meetings 22.11 

PETTY CASH MILEAGE TO COUNTY 
OFFICES- MARIA 
GONZALEZ

AP100719 4265 Travel/Meetings 22.11 

ROSENTHAL, MURPHEY, COBLENTZ STERIGENICS AP100719 4219 Liability Insurance 3,563.28 

ROSENTHAL, MURPHEY, COBLENTZ CARRIAGE GREENS 
ECONOMIC DEV 
AGREEMENT

AP100719 4219 Liability Insurance 2,731.25 

ROSENTHAL, MURPHEY, COBLENTZ MISCELLANEOUS-PHO...
CONFERENCES, 
REVIEWS

AP100719 4219 Liability Insurance 55.00 

ROSENTHAL, MURPHEY, COBLENTZ MISCELLANEOUS-PHO...
CONFERENCES, 
REVIEWS

AP100719 4219 Liability Insurance 55.00 

ROSENTHAL, MURPHEY, COBLENTZ MISCELLANEOUS-PHO...
CONFERENCES, 
REVIEWS

AP100719 4219 Liability Insurance 55.00 

ROSENTHAL, MURPHEY, COBLENTZ PHOTOCOPIES AP100719 4219 Liability Insurance 2.40 

RUNCO OFFICE SUPPLY NAME PLATE: NICK 
PITZER (EDC)

AP100719 4253 Supplies - Office 17.50 

UNLIMITED GRAPHIX, INC. AR INVOICES AP100719 4235 Printing and Forms 311.47 

Total Administration 32,104.03 

Date: 10/3/19 11:18:43 AM Page: 3



CITY OF DARIEN

Expenditure Journal

General Fund

City Council

From 9/17/2019 Through 10/7/2019

Vendor Name Invoice Description Session ID Acct Code Acct Title Dept Amount

STERLING CODIFIERS, INC. CODIFIERS 
SUPPLEMENT #54

AP100719 4325 Consulting/Professional 603.00 

Total City Council 603.00 

Date: 10/3/19 11:18:43 AM Page: 4



CITY OF DARIEN

Expenditure Journal

General Fund

Community Development

From 9/17/2019 Through 10/7/2019

Vendor Name Invoice Description Session ID Acct Code Acct Title Dept Amount

CHRISTOPHER B. BURKE ENG, LTD EROSION CONTROL 
INSPECTION- 1035 S 
FRONTAGE RD

AP100719 4328 Conslt/Prof Reimbursable 139.69 

CHRISTOPHER B. BURKE ENG, LTD REVIEW PLANS- 
HANGER HOME 
DEVELOPMENT-KEAR...
RD

AP100719 4328 Conslt/Prof Reimbursable 275.00 

CHRISTOPHER B. BURKE ENG, LTD NPDES PERMIT 
ASSISTANCE

AP100719 4328 Conslt/Prof Reimbursable 220.00 

CHRISTOPHER B. BURKE ENG, LTD CODIFIER 
ASSISTANCE-STORMW...
ORDINANCE

AP100719 4328 Conslt/Prof Reimbursable 110.00 

DUPAGE LAWN AND HOME SERVICES 6726 LEONARD-FRONT 
ONLY

AP100719 4328 Conslt/Prof Reimbursable 25.00 

DUPAGE LAWN AND HOME SERVICES PLAINFIELD RD & 
CLARENDON HILLS RD

AP100719 4328 Conslt/Prof Reimbursable 75.00 

DUPAGE LAWN AND HOME SERVICES 6929 CLARENDON 
HILLS RD

AP100719 4328 Conslt/Prof Reimbursable 50.00 

DUPAGE LAWN AND HOME SERVICES 8721 LAKERIDGE AP100719 4328 Conslt/Prof Reimbursable 50.00 

DUPAGE LAWN AND HOME SERVICES LAWN MAINTENANCE AP100719 4328 Conslt/Prof Reimbursable 225.00 

DUPAGE LAWN AND HOME SERVICES LAWN MAINTENANCE 
-7014 HIGH RD

AP100719 4328 Conslt/Prof Reimbursable 50.00 

LIZ LAHEY SECRETARIAL 
SERVICES: (4-6-19 thru 
9-30-19)

AP100719 4205 Boards and Commissions 830.00 

NEOFUNDS POSTAGE PURCHASE 
FOR POSTAGE MACHINE

AP100719 4233 Postage/Mailings 125.00 

ROSENTHAL, MURPHEY, COBLENTZ MISCELLANEOUS-PHO...
CONFERENCES, 
REVIEWS

AP100719 4219 Liability Insurance 220.00 

ROSENTHAL, MURPHEY, COBLENTZ TRAVEL-COURT 
APPEARANCE : 7737 
LINDEN-LONGFIELD

AP100719 4219 Liability Insurance 660.00 

Date: 10/3/19 11:18:43 AM Page: 5



CITY OF DARIEN

Expenditure Journal

General Fund

Community Development

From 9/17/2019 Through 10/7/2019

Vendor Name Invoice Description Session ID Acct Code Acct Title Dept Amount

ROSENTHAL, MURPHEY, COBLENTZ COMPLIANCE FOLLOW 
UP, COURT 
APPEARANCE

AP100719 4219 Liability Insurance 1,045.00 

Total Community 
Development

4,099.69 

Date: 10/3/19 11:18:43 AM Page: 6



CITY OF DARIEN

Expenditure Journal

General Fund

Public Works, Streets

From 9/17/2019 Through 10/7/2019

Vendor Name Invoice Description Session ID Acct Code Acct Title Dept Amount

ABILITY SEPTIC SERVICE EMERGENCY SEWER 
WORK AT PW

AP100719 4223 Maintenance - Building 1,762.50 

ADVANCE AUTO PARTS BATTERIES FOR #204 AP100719 4225 Maintenance - Equipment 192.94 

ADVANCE AUTO PARTS BRAKES FOR 114 AP100719 4229 Maintenance - Vehicles 588.46 

ADVANCE AUTO PARTS CORE RETURN FOR INV 
708532

AP100719 4229 Maintenance - Vehicles (65.00)

ADVANCE AUTO PARTS LASER TOOL, OIL 
FILTER FOR SHOP

AP100719 4229 Maintenance - Vehicles 114.79 

ADVANCE AUTO PARTS VULCANIZING CEMENT AP100719 4229 Maintenance - Vehicles 26.49 

AUTOMATED LOGIC TELEPHONE SUPPORT 
AT PD

AP100719 4223 Maintenance - Building 160.00 

CARMEL LAUDIZIO REIMBURSEMENT FOR 
DAMAGED IRRIGATION 
LINE

AP100719 4257 Supplies - Other 152.00 

CINTAS #769 MATT RENTAL -CITY 
HALL

AP100719 4223 Maintenance - Building 44.04 

CINTAS #769 MATT RENTAL -POLICE 
DEPT

AP100719 4223 Maintenance - Building 48.81 

CINTAS #769 MATT RENTAL - PUBLIC 
WORKS

AP100719 4223 Maintenance - Building 49.98 

COM ED CLOCK TOWER 
0633028127 - 7535 S 
CASS

AP100719 4271 Utilities (Elec,Gas,Wtr,Sewer) 102.73 

COM ED COM ED 0788310001  
1041 S FRONTAGE RD

AP100719 4271 Utilities (Elec,Gas,Wtr,Sewer) 28.05 

COM ED STREET LIGHTS  
0269155053 - 2101 W 
75TH ST DARIEN

AP100719 4359 Street Light Oper & Maint. 61.87 

CONSTELLATION NEW ENERGY, INC. SW CORNER 75TH 
/PLAINFIELD RD

AP100719 4359 Street Light Oper & Maint. 319.25 

CONSTELLATION NEW ENERGY, INC. CASS AVE LITE RT/25 N 
OF JAMES PETER CT

AP100719 4359 Street Light Oper & Maint. 21.86 

CONSTELLATION NEW ENERGY, INC. LITE RT/25 CONTROLR 
S FRONTA 0 E CASS ST

AP100719 4359 Street Light Oper & Maint. 41.06 

DUPAGE COUNTY PUBLIC WORKS SEPTIC HAULING AP100719 4223 Maintenance - Building 48.13 
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CITY OF DARIEN

Expenditure Journal

General Fund

Public Works, Streets

From 9/17/2019 Through 10/7/2019

Vendor Name Invoice Description Session ID Acct Code Acct Title Dept Amount

FIRST ADVANTAGE OCCUPATIONAL DRUG SCREEN FEE AP100719 4219 Liability Insurance 10.57 

I.R.M.A. DEDUCTIBLE- AUG 2019 AP100719 4219 Liability Insurance 5,000.00 

IL ARBORIST ASSOCIATION NOV 2019 IAA ANNUAL 
CONFERENCE & TRADE 
SHOW-JOHN CARR

AP100719 4263 Training and Education 265.00 

ILLINOIS SECRETARY OF STATE TITLE FOR TRUCK #106 AP100719 4229 Maintenance - Vehicles 158.00 

ILLINOIS SECRETARY OF STATE TITLE FOR TRUCK 101 AP100719 4229 Maintenance - Vehicles 158.00 

JC LANDSCAPING/TREE SERVICE REAR YARD DRAINAGE: 
7101 WIRTH

AP100719 4374 Drainage Projects 2,725.00 

JC LANDSCAPING/TREE SERVICE REAR YARD DRAINAGE: 
6914 SIERRA DR

AP100719 4374 Drainage Projects 2,914.00 

JC LANDSCAPING/TREE SERVICE REAR YARD DRAINAGE: 
1528 WILLOW CREEK LN

AP100719 4374 Drainage Projects 9,655.00 

JEFFREY L. CORNEILS CORNEILS - CDL 
REIMBURSEMENT

AP100719 4219 Liability Insurance 66.46 

JX ENTERPRISES INC NUT WHEEL FOR #108 AP100719 4229 Maintenance - Vehicles 23.52 

JX ENTERPRISES INC STUD WHEEL FOR #108 AP100719 4229 Maintenance - Vehicles 24.90 

KIN-KO ACE STORES INC FASTENERS AP100719 4225 Maintenance - Equipment 30.00 

KLOA, INC. TRAFFIC SIGNAL 
WARRANT STUDY &  
MEETING

AP100719 4325 Consulting/Professional 4,998.35 

LAWSON PRODUCTS INCORPORATED MECHANIC'S SUPPLIES AP100719 4225 Maintenance - Equipment 233.51 

MARTIN IMPLEMENT SALES, INC. SOD CUTTER AP100719 4815 Equipment 4,536.20 

McMASTER-CARR SHELF FOR MAILBOX 
MATERIALS

AP100719 4257 Supplies - Other 390.12 

NEOFUNDS POSTAGE PURCHASE 
FOR POSTAGE MACHINE

AP100719 4233 Postage/Mailings 110.00 

NICOR GAS NICOR 90841110001  
1041 S FRONTAGE

AP100719 4271 Utilities (Elec,Gas,Wtr,Sewer) 196.08 

OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH CENTERS RANDOM DRUG 
SCREEN

AP100719 4219 Liability Insurance 97.00 

OFFICE DEPOT JANITORIAL SUPPLIES 
FOR CITY HALL

AP100719 4223 Maintenance - Building 41.56 

OFFICE DEPOT OFFICE SUPPLIES FOR 
PW

AP100719 4253 Supplies - Office 14.45 
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CITY OF DARIEN

Expenditure Journal

General Fund

Public Works, Streets

From 9/17/2019 Through 10/7/2019

Vendor Name Invoice Description Session ID Acct Code Acct Title Dept Amount

OFFICE DEPOT HANGING FILE 
FOLDERS FOR PUBLIC 
WORKS

AP100719 4253 Supplies - Office 31.49 

OFFICE DEPOT PENS FOR PW AP100719 4253 Supplies - Office 6.66 

RAGS ELECTRIC STREET LIGHT OUT- 
1301 DARIEN CLUB DR

AP100719 4359 Street Light Oper & Maint. 180.75 

RAGS ELECTRIC STREET LIGHT OUT- 
SLEEPY HOLLOW & 
ADAMS

AP100719 4359 Street Light Oper & Maint. 180.75 

SEASON COMFORT, CORP. AIR TEMP CONDENSER 
CITY HALL

AP100719 4223 Maintenance - Building 472.85 

SEASON COMFORT, CORP. SERVICE: CITY HALL 
FURNACE

AP100719 4223 Maintenance - Building 360.00 

STATE CHEMICAL SOLUTIONS PRIMEZYME FOR 
SEPTIC

AP100719 4223 Maintenance - Building 250.86 

STATE CHEMICAL SOLUTIONS SLUDGE HAMMER AND 
PRIMEZYME FOR 
SEPTIC

AP100719 4223 Maintenance - Building 496.89 

STATE CHEMICAL SOLUTIONS SLUDGE HAMMER AND 
PRIMEZYME FOR 
SEPTCI

AP100719-3 4223 Maintenance - Building 496.89 

STATE CHEMICAL SOLUTIONS PRIMEZYME FOR 
SEPTIC

AP100719-3 4223 Maintenance - Building 250.86 

STATE CHEMICAL SOLUTIONS CREDIT AP100719-3 4223 Maintenance - Building (257.03)

STATE CHEMICAL SOLUTIONS CREDIT FOR VOIDED 
053752

APCREDIT100... 4223 Maintenance - Building (250.86)

STATE CHEMICAL SOLUTIONS CREDIT FOR VOIDED 
053752

APCREDIT100... 4223 Maintenance - Building (496.89)

SUBURBAN CONCRETE, INC. RESIDENT 
REIMBURSEMENT

AP100719 4381 Residential Concrete Program 18,675.00 

SYN-TECH SYSTEMS SERVICE CALL FUEL 
PUMP MAINTENANCE

AP100719 4223 Maintenance - Building 22.28 

SYN-TECH SYSTEMS SERVICE CALL- FUEL 
PUMP MAINTENANCE 
DUE TO NEW DESKTOP

AP100719 4223 Maintenance - Building 62.10 
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CITY OF DARIEN

Expenditure Journal

General Fund

Public Works, Streets

From 9/17/2019 Through 10/7/2019

Vendor Name Invoice Description Session ID Acct Code Acct Title Dept Amount

TITAN IMAGE GROUP INC CABLE AND BRUZAN 
-CLOTHING

AP100719 4269 Uniforms 189.69 

TRAFFIC CONTROL AND PROTECTION STREET SIGN -SEAN 
CIRCLE

AP100719 4257 Supplies - Other 53.90 

UNIQUE PRODUCTS & SERVICE CORP JANITORIAL SUPPLIES 
FOR POLICE DEPT

AP100719 4223 Maintenance - Building 122.75 

US GAS WELDING GLOVES AP100719 4219 Liability Insurance 25.55 

US GAS GASES AP100719 4257 Supplies - Other 45.60 

Total Public Works, 
Streets

56,265.77 
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CITY OF DARIEN

Expenditure Journal

General Fund

Police Department

From 9/17/2019 Through 10/7/2019

Vendor Name Invoice Description Session ID Acct Code Acct Title Dept Amount

ADVANCE AUTO PARTS BRAKE PADS, DISCS 
FOR D34

AP100719 4229 Maintenance - Vehicles 290.46 

ADVANCE AUTO PARTS HEADLIGHT FOR SHOP AP100719 4229 Maintenance - Vehicles 29.34 

ALPINE BANQUETS, INC. SIGN LANGUAGE 
ITERPRETER FOR CASE 
#19-10945

AP100719 4217 Investigation and Equipment 460.00 

ALPINE BANQUETS, INC. CREDIT FOR VOIDED 
CK 053664

APCREDIT100... 4217 Investigation and Equipment (460.00)

B & B JOINT VENTURE ADMIN TOW JUDGE FEE 
- SEPT 2019

AP100719 4219 Liability Insurance 200.00 

DJOA SRO RUNDELL- DJOA 
FALL CONFERENCE

AP100719 4263 Training and Education 65.00 

DUPAGE COUNTY PUBLIC WORKS POLICE DEPT SEWER 
BILL

AP100719 4271 Utilities (Elec,Gas,Wtr,Sewer) 425.86 

DUPAGE FEDERATION-HUMAN SERV SIGN LANGUAGE 
INTERPRETER CASE 
#19-10945

AP100719-2 4217 Investigation and Equipment 460.00 

EBY GRAPHICS CSO CAR -D35 DECALS AP100719 4229 Maintenance - Vehicles 70.00 

FIRE TOWING INC TOWING FEE- TO 
POLICE DEPT/EVIDENCE

AP100719 4217 Investigation and Equipment 123.75 

I.R.M.A. DEDUCTIBLE- AUG 2019 AP100719 4219 Liability Insurance 3,667.08 

INDUSTRIAL ORG SOLUTIONS PSYCH EVAL- 
CANDIDATE MOORE

AP100719 4205 Boards and Commissions 485.00 

ITOA TOPEL - 2019 ITOA 
CONFERENCE

AP100719 4263 Training and Education 325.00 

JP MORGAN CHASE BANK FEE FOR RECORDS 
SEARCH DA19-013829

AP100719 4217 Investigation and Equipment 15.50 

KING CAR WASH SQUAD CAR WASHES - 
AUG 2019

AP100719 4229 Maintenance - Vehicles 270.00 

NAP'S JUMP- NAMEPLATE AP100719 4253 Supplies - Office 43.00 

NEOFUNDS POSTAGE PURCHASE 
FOR POSTAGE MACHINE

AP100719 4233 Postage/Mailings 115.00 

NICOR GAS NICOR 82800010009  
1710 PLAINFIELD RD

AP100719 4271 Utilities (Elec,Gas,Wtr,Sewer) 310.36 
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CITY OF DARIEN

Expenditure Journal

General Fund

Police Department

From 9/17/2019 Through 10/7/2019

Vendor Name Invoice Description Session ID Acct Code Acct Title Dept Amount

NORTHEAST MULTIREGIONAL TRNG LOREK- SUPERVISING 
FTO OFFICERS

AP100719 4263 Training and Education 225.00 

NORTHEAST MULTIREGIONAL TRNG RUNDELL - SRO 
TRAINING

AP100719 4263 Training and Education 80.00 

NORTHEAST MULTIREGIONAL TRNG KEOUGH- FTO 
REFRESHER

AP100719 4263 Training and Education 100.00 

NORTHEAST MULTIREGIONAL TRNG JUMP- ARREST, 
SEARCH AND SEIZURE 
TRAINING

AP100719 4263 Training and Education 50.00 

NORTHEAST MULTIREGIONAL TRNG NORTON- ARREST, 
SEARCH AND SEIZURE 
TRAINING

AP100719 4263 Training and Education 50.00 

RAY O'HERRON CO. INC. NOGA - START UP 
UNIFORM

AP100719 4269 Uniforms 1,249.96 

RAY O'HERRON CO. INC. NOGA -START UP 
UNIFORM

AP100719 4269 Uniforms 554.50 

ROCK RIVER ARMS, INC. JUMP -RIFLE REPAIR AP100719 4217 Investigation and Equipment 135.10 

ROSE GONZALEZ ROSE G- REIMBURSE 
FOR MILEAGE /ILEAP 
CONF, RECORDS  
MEETING

AP100719 4265 Travel/Meetings 87.81 

ROSENTHAL, MURPHEY, COBLENTZ FOIA 
COMPLIANCE-CONFER...
CALL WITH POLICE 
DEPT

AP100719 4219 Liability Insurance 55.00 

ROSENTHAL, MURPHEY, COBLENTZ MISCELLANEOUS-PHO...
CONFERENCES, 
REVIEWS

AP100719 4219 Liability Insurance 55.00 

ROSENTHAL, MURPHEY, COBLENTZ MISCELLANEOUS-PHO...
CONFERENCES, 
REVIEWS

AP100719 4219 Liability Insurance 110.00 

ROSENTHAL, MURPHEY, COBLENTZ MISCELLANEOUS-PHO...
CONFERENCES, 
REVIEWS

AP100719 4219 Liability Insurance 220.00 
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CITY OF DARIEN

Expenditure Journal

General Fund

Police Department

From 9/17/2019 Through 10/7/2019

Vendor Name Invoice Description Session ID Acct Code Acct Title Dept Amount

ROSENTHAL, MURPHEY, COBLENTZ MISCELLANEOUS-PHO...
CONFERENCES, 
REVIEWS

AP100719 4219 Liability Insurance 220.00 

THEODORE POLYGRAPH SERVICE POLY EXAM - NICHOLAS 
NELSON

AP100719 4205 Boards and Commissions 175.00 

THOMSON REUTERS - CLEAR LE AP100719 4217 Investigation and Equipment 316.19 

WEST SUBURBAN BANK LOSS PREV INVESTIGATIVE 
SEARCH FEE FOR 
CASE #19-7923

AP100719 4217 Investigation and Equipment 25.00 

Total Police 
Department

10,603.91 
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CITY OF DARIEN

Expenditure Journal

General Fund

SSA  Expenditures

From 9/17/2019 Through 10/7/2019

Vendor Name Invoice Description Session ID Acct Code Acct Title Dept Amount

JEROME LANDRY BEAVER TRAPPING IN 
DONEGAL POND 
OUTFLOW

AP100719 4325 Consulting/Professional 1,500.00 

Total SSA  
Expenditures

1,500.00 

Total General Fund 105,176.40 
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CITY OF DARIEN

Expenditure Journal

Water Fund

Public Works, Water

From 9/17/2019 Through 10/7/2019

Vendor Name Invoice Description Session ID Acct Code Acct Title Dept Amount

ABILITY SEPTIC SERVICE EMERGENCY SEWER 
WORK AT PW

AP100719 4223 Maintenance - Building 1,762.50 

ADVANCE AUTO PARTS ROTOR . SHOCK FOR 
TRUCK 400

AP100719 4229 Maintenance - Vehicles 271.53 

ALTORFER INDUSTRIES INC REPAIR PARTS 
INCLUDING FREIGHT 
CHARGES

AP100719 4225 Maintenance - Equipment 1,907.44 

ALTORFER INDUSTRIES INC REPAIR PARTS 
INCLUDING FREIGHT 
CHARGE

AP100719-2 4225 Maintenance - Equipment 1,626.62 

ALTORFER INDUSTRIES INC REPAIR PARTS 
INCLUDING FREIGHT 
CHARGES

APVOID100719 4225 Maintenance - Equipment (1,907.44)

CHRISTOPHER STANKO STANKO- 
REIMBURSEMENT FOR 
CDL

AP100719 4219 Liability Insurance 61.35 

COM ED COM ED 3118112014  
2103 75TH ST

AP100719 4271 Utilities (Elec,Gas,Wtr,Sewer) 117.89 

COM ED COM ED 0788310001  
1041 S FRONTAGE RD

AP100719 4271 Utilities (Elec,Gas,Wtr,Sewer) 28.04 

CORE & MAIN HYDRANT FLAGS AP100719 4231 Maintenance - Water System 900.00 

CORE & MAIN 1 INCH WATER METERS AP100719 4815 Equipment 3,780.00 

DUPAGE COUNTY PUBLIC WORKS SEPTIC HAULING AP100719 4223 Maintenance - Building 48.12 

DYNEGY ENERGY SERVICES ENERGY -DARIEN 
WATER PLANTS

AP100719 4271 Utilities (Elec,Gas,Wtr,Sewer) 2,412.78 

HBK WATER METER SERVICE WATER METER 
TEST-951 FRONTAGE 
RD-WOODSPRING 
SUITES

AP100719 4880 Water Meter Purchases 420.00 

IL SECTION AMERICAN WATER WORK BEUSSE- NEW WATER 
MAIN INSPECTION 
STRATEGIES CLASS

AP100719 4263 Training and Education 36.00 

IL SECTION AMERICAN WATER WORK THROM- NEW WATER 
MAIN INSPECTION 
STRATEGIES CLASS

AP100719 4263 Training and Education 36.00 
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CITY OF DARIEN

Expenditure Journal

Water Fund

Public Works, Water

From 9/17/2019 Through 10/7/2019

Vendor Name Invoice Description Session ID Acct Code Acct Title Dept Amount

NICOR GAS NICOR 05002110004  
1930 MANNING RD

AP100719 4271 Utilities (Elec,Gas,Wtr,Sewer) 49.97 

OFFICE DEPOT PENS FOR PW AP100719 4255 Supplies - Operation 6.66 

OFFICE DEPOT HANGING FILE 
FOLDERS FOR PUBLIC 
WORKS

AP100719 4255 Supplies - Operation 31.48 

OFFICE DEPOT OFFICE SUPPLIES FOR 
PW

AP100719 4255 Supplies - Operation 14.44 

ORANGE CRUSH LLC PATCH AP100719 4231 Maintenance - Water System 381.16 

RAY O'HERRON CO. INC. BEUSSE- CLOTHING AP100719 4269 Uniforms 89.99 

RED WING SHOES BEUSSE- BOOTS AP100719 4219 Liability Insurance 84.26 

RED WING SHOES TUTTLE- BOOTS AP100719 4219 Liability Insurance 250.00 

RED WING SHOES TUTTLE- SOCKS AP100719 4269 Uniforms 54.73 

RED WING SHOES BEUSSE- BOOTS AP100719 4269 Uniforms 81.48 

SHREVE SERVICES INC WATER DEPT 
RESTORATIONS

AP100719 4231 Maintenance - Water System 448.00 

SHREVE SERVICES INC DIRT- WATER DEPT 
RESTORATIONS

AP100719 4231 Maintenance - Water System 672.00 

SUBURBAN CONCRETE, INC. WATER DEPT AP100719 4231 Maintenance - Water System 4,013.40 

SUBURBAN LABORATORIES WATER SAMPLING AP100719 4241 Quality Control 294.28 

SUBURBAN LABORATORIES WATER SAMPLING AP100719 4241 Quality Control 302.60 

SUBURBAN LABORATORIES WATER SAMPLING AP100719 4241 Quality Control 2,027.86 

SYN-TECH SYSTEMS SERVICE CALL FUEL 
PUMP MAINTENANCE

AP100719 4223 Maintenance - Building 22.27 

SYN-TECH SYSTEMS SERVICE CALL- FUEL 
PUMP MAINTENANCE 
DUE TO NEW DESKTOP

AP100719 4223 Maintenance - Building 62.10 

TITAN IMAGE GROUP INC CABLE AND BRUZAN 
-CLOTHING

AP100719 4269 Uniforms 351.64 

US GAS GASES AP100719 4231 Maintenance - Water System 45.60 

VULCAN CONSTRUCTION MATERIALS DITCH PROJECT- 67TH 
STREET STONE

AP100719 4231 Maintenance - Water System 1,202.96 

ZIEBELL WATER SERVICE PRODUCTS WATER MAINTENANCE 
CLAMPS

AP100719 4231 Maintenance - Water System 562.00 
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CITY OF DARIEN

Expenditure Journal

Water Fund

Public Works, Water

From 9/17/2019 Through 10/7/2019

Vendor Name Invoice Description Session ID Acct Code Acct Title Dept Amount

ZIEBELL WATER SERVICE PRODUCTS WATER MAINTENANCE- 
REPAIR SLEEVES

AP100719 4231 Maintenance - Water System 1,073.90 

Total Public Works, 
Water

23,623.61 

Total Water Fund 23,623.61 
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CITY OF DARIEN

Expenditure Journal

Motor Fuel Tax

MFT Expenses

From 9/17/2019 Through 10/7/2019

Vendor Name Invoice Description Session ID Acct Code Acct Title Dept Amount

ORANGE CRUSH LLC PATCH AP100719 4245 Road Material 104.52 

Total MFT Expenses 104.52 

Total Motor Fuel Tax 104.52 
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CITY OF DARIEN

Expenditure Journal

State Drug Forfeiture Fund

Drug Forfeiture Expenditures

From 9/17/2019 Through 10/7/2019

Vendor Name Invoice Description Session ID Acct Code Acct Title Dept Amount

WEX BANK GAS FOR POLICE DEPT AP100719 4273 Vehicle (Gas and Oil) 187.88 

Total Drug Forfeiture 
Expenditures

187.88 

Total State Drug 
Forfeiture Fund

187.88 
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CITY OF DARIEN

Expenditure Journal

Water Depreciation Fund

Depreciation Expenses

From 9/17/2019 Through 10/7/2019

Vendor Name Invoice Description Session ID Acct Code Acct Title Dept Amount

CHRISTOPHER B. BURKE ENG, LTD R-61-19 GIS MAPPING 
OF WATER ATLAS

AP100719 4390 Capital Improv-Infrastructure 3,692.00 

Total Depreciation 
Expenses

3,692.00 

Total Water 
Depreciation Fund

3,692.00 

Date: 10/3/19 11:18:43 AM Page: 20



CITY OF DARIEN

Expenditure Journal

FESA - Justice - 1

Drug Forfeiture Expenditures

From 9/17/2019 Through 10/7/2019

Vendor Name Invoice Description Session ID Acct Code Acct Title Dept Amount

ITOUCH BIOMETRICS LLC LIVESCAN WARRANTY 
RENEWAL-SUPPORT, 
MAINTENANCE

AP100719 4213 Dues and Subscriptions 2,970.00 

RAY O'HERRON CO. INC. SOMOGYE- SWAT VEST AP100719 4213 Dues and Subscriptions 2,631.65 

Total Drug Forfeiture 
Expenditures

5,601.65 

Total FESA - Justice 
- 1

5,601.65 
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CITY OF DARIEN

Expenditure Journal

Capital Improvement Fund

Capital Fund Expenditures

From 9/17/2019 Through 10/7/2019

Vendor Name Invoice Description Session ID Acct Code Acct Title Dept Amount

BRODERICK HOLDINGS LLC PAY #2 ECONOMIC 
INCENTIVE AGREEMENT

AP100719 4400 Economic Incentive 54,353.90 

CORE & MAIN DITCH PROJECT:  67TH 
ST PRESSURE PIPE

AP100719 4376 Ditch Projects 4,214.00 

CORE & MAIN DITCH PROJECT:  67TH 
ST PIPE

AP100719 4376 Ditch Projects 150.50 

JC LANDSCAPING/TREE SERVICE REMOVE BRICK DRIVE 
-6019 TENNESSEE

AP100719 4376 Ditch Projects 800.00 

NORWALK TANK DITCH PROJECT:  67TH 
ST BARRELS

AP100719 4376 Ditch Projects 532.00 

NORWALK TANK DITCH PROJECT:  67TH 
ST SUPPLIES

AP100719 4376 Ditch Projects 2,620.00 

NORWALK TANK DITCH PROJECT:  67TH 
ST PIPE BANDS

AP100719 4376 Ditch Projects 107.70 

NORWALK TANK DITCH PROJECT:  67TH 
ST SUPPLIES

AP100719 4376 Ditch Projects 606.80 

RYAN MCMURRAY REIMBURSED FOR 
ASPHALT APRON

AP100719 4376 Ditch Projects 555.00 

SCORPIO CONSTRUCTION CORP DITCH PROJECT: 67TH 
STREET & DIRT 
REMOVAL

AP100719 4376 Ditch Projects 249,684.70 

SCORPIO CONSTRUCTION CORP DITCH PROJECT: 67TH 
STREET & DIRT 
REMOVAL

AP100719 4376 Ditch Projects 1,750.00 

SUBURBAN CONCRETE, INC. DITCH PROJECTS AP100719 4376 Ditch Projects 67,690.75 

SUBURBAN CONCRETE, INC. SIDEWALK AP100719 4380 Sidewalk Replacement Progr... 112,273.15 

SUBURBAN CONCRETE, INC. COTTAGE LANE BOND 
REIMBURSEMENT

AP100719 4381 Residential Concrete Program 4,104.00 

SUBURBAN CONCRETE, INC. PUBLIC WORKS 
PROJECTS

AP100719 4383 Curb & Gutter Replacement ... 5,147.88 

TRAFFIC SERVICE, INC. STREETS- 
CONSTRUCTION 
SIGNAGE

AP100719 4376 Ditch Projects 4,800.00 

VULCAN CONSTRUCTION MATERIALS DITCH PROJECT- 67TH 
STREET STONE

AP100719 4376 Ditch Projects 6,582.17 
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CITY OF DARIEN

Expenditure Journal

Capital Improvement Fund

Capital Fund Expenditures

From 9/17/2019 Through 10/7/2019

Vendor Name Invoice Description Session ID Acct Code Acct Title Dept Amount

VULCAN CONSTRUCTION MATERIALS DITCH PROJECT:  67TH 
ST STONE

AP100719 4376 Ditch Projects 7,025.36 

VULCAN CONSTRUCTION MATERIALS DITCH PROJECT:  67TH 
ST STONE

AP100719 4376 Ditch Projects 5,287.73 

VULCAN CONSTRUCTION MATERIALS DITCH PROJECT:  67TH 
ST STONE

AP100719 4376 Ditch Projects 6,284.04 

VULCAN CONSTRUCTION MATERIALS DITCH PROJECT:  67TH 
ST STONE

AP100719 4376 Ditch Projects 3,137.62 

WILLCO GREEN LLC DITCH PROJECT:  67TH 
ST SPOILS

AP100719 4376 Ditch Projects 864.00 

WILLCO GREEN LLC DITCH PROJECT:  67TH 
ST SPOILS

AP100719 4376 Ditch Projects 2,268.00 

XBE CHICAGO TRUCKING- ELEANOR AP100719 4376 Ditch Projects 1,000.00 

XBE CHICAGO DITCH PROJECT:  
TRUCKING 67TH ST

AP100719 4376 Ditch Projects 836.40 

XBE CHICAGO DITCH PROJECT:  
TRUCKING 67TH ST

AP100719 4376 Ditch Projects 820.00 

XBE CHICAGO DITCH PROJECT:  
TRUCKING 67TH ST

AP100719 4376 Ditch Projects 738.00 

XBE CHICAGO DITCH PROJECT:  
TRUCKING 67TH ST

AP100719 4376 Ditch Projects 746.20 

XBE CHICAGO DITCH PROJECT:  
TRUCKING 67TH ST

AP100719 4376 Ditch Projects 3,378.40 

ZIEBELL WATER SERVICE PRODUCTS DITCH PROJECT:  67TH 
ST PRESSURE PIPE

AP100719 4376 Ditch Projects 8,148.00 

Total Capital Fund 
Expenditures

556,506.30 

Total Capital 
Improvement Fund

556,506.30 

Report Total 694,892.36 
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AGENDA MEMO 
CITY COUNCIL 
October 7, 2019 

Issue Statement 

Consideration of a Motion Granting a Waiver of the $50.00 a Day Fee for the class “J” Temporary 
Liquor License for Our Lady of Peace School. 

BACKUP 

Background/History 

Our Lady of Peace Catholic School will be conducting a Fundraiser on Friday, November 8, 2019 
and has requested a waiver of the fee for the Temporary Liquor License as our Liquor License 
Code requires a $50.00 per day fee. 

Staff/Committee Recommendation 

Staff recommends waiving the fee for the Temporary Liquor License for Our Lady of Peace 
School. 

Alternate Consideration 

Not approving the motion at this time would be an alternate consideration. 

Decision Mode 

This item will be on the October 7, 2019 City Council Agenda for formal consideration. 



Anton S Lessmeister 
7533 Comstock Lane + Darien IL. 60561 + 630-730-7264 

Alessmeister64@gmail.com 

Good Day Ms. Gonzalez, 

Our Lady of Peace School is hosting a fundraiser on November 8th 2019 from 6:30-10:30pm in the school 
gym.  This fundraiser will be our annual Trivia night which is designed to bring our parish and school 
community together for an evening of fun while also raising money to support school initiatives.  Since 
this is a charitable event, we kindly ask the City Council to waive the liquor license fee.  Thank you in 
advance for your consideration and your assistance with this matter.  If you have any questions, please 
contact me anytime. 

Sincerely. 
Tony 

Anton S Lessmeister 
Our Lady of Peace School 
630-730-7264 





AGENDA MEMO 
City Council 

Meeting Date: October 7, 2019 

Issue Statement 

Consideration of a motion to grant a waiver of the raffle license bond requirement for the Darien 
Woman’s Club. 

BACKUP 

Background/History 

The Darien Woman’s Club has applied for a Class B Raffle License.  The dates of the Raffles are 
March 1, 2020 through March 31, 2020.  They have also requested waiver of the bond 
requirement.  The City regularly waives the bond requirement for qualified charitable 
organizations. 

Staff/Committee Recommendation 

It is recommended that the raffle license bond requirement for the Darien Woman’s Club raffle 
be waived. 

Alternate Consideration 

Not approve waiver. 

Decision Mode 

This item will be placed on the October 7, 2019 City Council Agenda for formal consideration. 







AGENDA MEMO 
City Council 

     October 7, 2019 

OLD BUSINESS - ISSUE STATEMENT 
Motion – Authorizing Staff to implement Option No. 3 for the 67th Street and Clarendon Hills 
Road traffic signal warrant study as presented from Kenig, Lindgren, O'Hara, Aboona, Inc. 
(KLOA), traffic-engineering consultants. The scope of work includes: 

1. Trim the trees along the intersection’s right-of-way and, if possible, along the private
properties adjacent to the intersection.

2. Relocate the stop bar on the eastbound approach of 67th Street. Cost $1,000.
3. Install Cross Road (MUTCD W2 -1) warning signs with an advance street name plaque

on Clarendon Hills Road. Cost $5,000.
4. Install Cross Road warning signs on both sides of the road both north and south of the

intersection. Cost include within the above item.
5. Install warning beacons on the warning signs. Cost include with the above item.
6. Install speed limits signs and/or radar speed feedback signs on Clarendon Hills Road

both north and south of the intersection. Cost $10,000.
7. Design and Engineering for the widening of the eastbound approach of 67th Street and

provide a westbound lane and an eastbound separate left-turn lane and a shared
through/right-turn lane.

BACKGROUND-Updates from the September 23, 2019 Municipal Services Committee 

The Staff reported to the Committee that the Village of Willowbrook would not contribute to any 
of the proposed options. 

The Municipal Services Committee discussed this item and provided a recommendation to the 
City Council to implement Option 3 as follows.  

 Option 3-Roadway modifications. 

Presented in bold, below are additional comments 

The results of the evaluation for the roadway modifications recommend maintaining the existing 
two-way stop sign control and implementing the following enhancements: 

1. Trim the trees along the intersection’s right-of-way and, if possible, along the private
properties adjacent to the intersection. Cost $1,000.
The Municipal Services Dept. trimmed the trees and will maintain to a turf area.

2. Relocate the stop bar on the eastbound approach of 67th Street. Cost $1,000.
The striping will be completed next year as 67th Street is scheduled for a resurfacing
project for 2020.

3. Install Cross Road (MUTCD W2 -1) warning signs with an advance street name plaque
on Clarendon Hills Road. Cost $5,000.
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October 7, 2019 
September 23, 2019 Update 
July 22, 2019 
Page 2 
 

Cost revised to under $1,000-To be completed by Municipal Services Dept. by 
November, 2019 

4. Install Cross Road warning signs on both sides of the road both north and south of the 
intersection. Cost include within the above item. 
The proposed signs are scheduled to be completed by November, 2019 

5. Install warning beacons on the warning signs. Cost include with the above item. 
The Cost for warning beacons is estimated to be approximately $1,500 and is 
tentatively scheduled for inclusion with the above, Funds for the beacons are 
available through the FY19/20 Budget under the Sign line item. 

6. Install speed limits signs and/or radar speed feedback signs on Clarendon Hills Road 
both north and south of the intersection. Cost $10,000. 
The FY19/20 Budget currently has a line item for the purchase of 2 Solar Speed Limit 
Flashing Signs. The signs were earmarked for Beller Road in the event additional 
signage was required. Currently there are 2 Solar Signs that were placed mid-block 
of Beller in 2018. To date, no additional concerns of speeding have been received. 
The Municipal Services Committee recommends to utilize the funds for the signs at 
the above locations. This item will be presented through a future agenda item. 

7. Widen the eastbound approach of 67th Street to provide a westbound lane and an 
eastbound separate left-turn lane and a shared through/right-turn lane.  

 
The proposed construction would be scheduled for 2020 and the costs will be forwarded 
for 2020/21 Budget upon receipt of the engineering plans. The 67th Street roadway is 
scheduled for a resurfacing project in 2020. Upon a field review the following deficiencies 
have been identified for treatment:   
 
1. Limited curb and gutter will be included for removal and replacement   
2. Striping will be required upon resurfacing completion 
3. The existing northern right of way shoulder area continues to be damaged due to the 

existing tight radius. 
 
Since the roadway is slated for a resurfacing project, there is an opportunity to construct the 
suggested geometrical reconfiguration with cost savings. The reasoning is since the city bids 
and oversees various facets of road construction; curb and gutter, paving and striping, the items 
would be included as part of our annual contracts. The cost savings would be further realized 
due to the various contracts which provide an economy of scale and the ability to utilize key 
Staff individuals to implement the layout and construction of the project versus the project being 
bid as a sole contract. Director Gombac informed the Committee that the City could realize up 
to a 30 % savings from the estimated construction cost of $425,000.  
 

8. The Municipal Services Committee recommends to City Council to approve the 
engineering agreement with Christopher Burke Engineering for the geometrical 
reconfiguration. The engineering design and plans would be required for quantities 
and field layout. The engineering agreement will be presented through a separate 
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agenda at a cost not to exceed $32,017. While the engineering for the proposed work 
was not considered for this year’s budget, costs saving have been recognized within 
this year’s Road Program that would allow the expense to be absorbed.  
The Committee also commented in regards to additional funds on file due to 
postponement of the Antenna Tower Painting in the amount of $25,000.  

 
BACKGROUND - Updates from the July 22, 2019 Municipal Services Committee-Italicized  
The Municipal Services Committee discussed this item on July 22, 2019. Director Gombac 
presented the traffic engineering report as prepared by Kenig, Lindgren, O'Hara, Aboona, Inc. 
(KLOA). The report included traffic counts, accident history and general comments regarding 
the intersection.  
 
Upon review, the two options considered by the Municipal Services were Option 1-Traffic 
signalization and Option 3-Roadway modifications. Upon discussion the following was 
determined 
  
Option 1-Traffic signalization  
 Does not meet the warrants per the Manual on Uniform Control Devices (MUTCD) 
 Cost prohibitive-Grants are not available due to lack of warrants 
 Joint Share Project-Committee directed Staff to contact Willowbrook for a cost share 
 
Willowbrook representatives were contacted and will not participate with the signalization. 
Attached and labeled as Attachment 1 (Pages 1-5) is the correspondence regarding the signal 
warrant analysis. 
 
Upon review, Staff recommends not to move forward with Option 1. 
 
Option 3-Roadway modifications. 
 

Presented in bold, below are additional comments 
 

The results of the evaluation for the roadway modifications recommend maintaining the existing 
two-way stop sign control and implementing the following enhancements: 
 

9. Trim the trees along the intersection’s right-of-way and, if possible, along the private 
properties adjacent to the intersection. Cost $1,000. 
Municipal Services Dept. trimmed the trees and will maintain to a turf area. 

10. Relocate the stop bar on the eastbound approach of 67th Street. Cost $1,000. 
The striping will be completed next year as 67th Street is scheduled for a resurfacing 
project for 2020.  

11. Install Cross Road (MUTCD W2 -1) warning signs with an advance street name plaque 
on Clarendon Hills Road. Cost $5,000.  
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Cost revised to under $1,000-To be completed by Municipal Services Dept. by 
November, 2019 

12. Install Cross Road warning signs on both sides of the road both north and south of the 
intersection. Cost include within the above item. 
The proposed signs are scheduled to be completed by November, 2019 

13. Install warning beacons on the warning signs. Cost include with the above item. 
The Cost for warning beacons is estimated to be approximately $1,500 and is 
tentatively scheduled for inclusion with the above, pending Committee and City 
Council recommendation. Funds for the beacons are available through the FY19/20 
Budget under the Sign line item. 

14. Install speed limits signs and/or radar speed feedback signs on Clarendon Hills Road 
both north and south of the intersection. Cost $10,000. 
The FY19/20 Budget currently has a line item for the purchase of 2 Solar Speed Limit 
Flashing Signs. The signs were earmarked for Beller Road in the event additional 
signage was required. Currently there are 2 Solar Signs that were placed mid-block 
of Beller in 2018. To date, no additional concerns of speeding have been received. 
Staff recommends to utilize the funds for the signs at the above locations, pending 
Committee concurrence and recommendation. 

15. Widen the eastbound approach of 67th Street to provide a westbound lane and an 
eastbound separate left-turn lane and a shared through/right-turn lane. $425,000. 
The 67th Street roadway is scheduled for a resurfacing project in 2020. Upon a field 
review the following concerns have been identified for treatment:   

 
4. Limited curb and gutter will be included for removal and replacement   
5. Striping will be required upon resurfacing completion 
6. The existing northern right of way shoulder area continues to be damaged due to the 

existing tight radius. 
 
Since the roadway is slated for a resurfacing project, there is an opportunity to construct the 
suggested geometrical reconfiguration with cost savings. The reasoning is since the city bids 
and oversees various facets of road construction; curb and gutter, paving and striping, the items 
would be included as part of our annual contracts. The cost savings would be further realized 
due to the above-mentioned versus the project being bid as a sole contract.  
 
Should the Committee and City Council consider to implement Option 3, Staff would request 
approval of an engineering agreement with Christopher Burke Engineering for the geometrical 
reconfiguration. The engineering design and plans would be required for quantities and field 
layout. The engineering agreement will be presented through a separate agenda at a cost not to 
exceed $32,017. While the engineering for the proposed work was not considered for this year’s 
budget, costs saving have been recognized within this year’s Road Program that would allow 
the expense to be absorbed. 
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BACKGROUND-As presented on July 22, 2019 
The City Council approved a resolution with Kenig, Lindgren, O'Hara, Aboona, Inc. (KLOA), 
traffic-engineering consultants Ltd. On May 6, 2019 to perform, an intersection evaluation and 
traffic signal warrant study at Clarendon Hills Road and 67th Street. The intersection is located on 
the border with the Village of Willowbrook. Currently, the intersection operates with two-way 
stop signs at 67th Street, for east and westbound traffic. The primary purpose of this study was to 
determine if the existing intersection traffic and pedestrian volumes and/or crash experience 
warrant the need for the following: 
  

16. Traffic signalization 
17. Multi-way stop sign  
18. Roadway modifications 

 
Attached and labeled as Attachment 2, is the report as prepared by KLOA dated July 17, 2019, 
and addresses the above components in greater detail. 
 
In summary, the report concludes the following as it relates to the following: 
 

19. Option 1-Traffic signalization 
 

The existing traffic volumes do not meet the requirements for a traffic signal, with the exception 
of one of nine requirements/warrants.  Regardless, the City could install a traffic signal. The cost 
of the signal and limited roadway reconfigurations would be approximately $750,000. Please note, 
while the report states the cost of the signal ($675,000), it does not include preliminary site valued 
at approximately engineering, $75,000.  
 

20. Option 2- Multi-way stop sign  
 

The results of the evaluation does not warrant a multi-way stop sign and indicates that the 
intersection currently satisfies only one of the various  criterions  for the installation of a multi-
way stop sign control. Due to the volume of traffic on Clarendon Hills Road and the vertical curve 
along the road north of 67th Street, the multi-way stop sign control may result in additional crashes. 
 
The cost to implement a multi-way stop sign would cost approximately $475,500. Please note, 
while the report states the cost of the multi way stop ($425,500), it does not include preliminary 
site engineering valued at approximately $50,000.  
 

21. Option 3-Roadway modifications 
 

The results of the evaluation for the roadway modifications recommend maintaining the existing 
two-way stop sign control and implementing the following enhancements: 
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22. Trim the trees along the intersection’s right-of-way and, if possible, along the private 
properties adjacent to the intersection. Cost $1,000. 

23. Relocate the stop bar on the eastbound approach of 67th Street. Cost $1,000. 
24. Install Cross Road (MUTCD W2 -1) warning signs with an advance street name plaque 

on Clarendon Hills Road. Cost $5,000. 
25. Install Cross Road warning signs on both sides of the road both north and south of the 

intersection. Cost include with the above item. 
26. Install warning beacons on the warning signs. Cost include with the above item. 
27. Install speed limits signs and/or radar speed feedback signs on Clarendon Hills Road 

both north and south of the intersection. Cost $10,000. 
28. Widen the eastbound approach of 67th Street to provide a westbound lane and an 

eastbound separate left-turn lane and a shared through/right-turn lane. $425,000. 
 
The cost to implement the roadway modifications would cost approximately $492,000. Please 
note, while the report states the cost of the roadway modifications ($442,000), it does not include 
preliminary site engineering valued at approximately $50,000. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Staff requests further input with a recommendation to be forwarded to the City Council. Pending 
the decision mode the Staff would include the item for the FY20/21 budget. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION-September 23, 2019 
Staff recommends to move forward with Option 3-Roadway Reconfiguration. 
 
COMITEE RECOMMENDATION- September 23, 2019 
The Municipal Services Committee recommends to the City Council to implement Option 3-
Roadway Configuration as presented. 
 
ALTERNATE CONSIDERATION 
As directed. 

DECISION MODE 
This item will be placed on the agenda for the October 7, 2019 City Council agenda, for formal 
consideration. 



Frank Trilla 

From: 

Sent: 
To: 
Cc: 

Subject: 

Dan-

Tim Halik 

Thursday, March 21, 2019 8·43 AM 
Dan Gombac 
BryonVana 
RE· 67th& Cl Hills Rd intersection 

YoL• may want to further discuss with Dan Lynch or Michael Werthmann, but I question whether performing a 
full signal warrant analysis ,s needed at this time. It didn't meet warrants m 2012 and 1t may not meet them 
now, but that doesn't matter if you're looking to signalize the intersection as a local safety improvement 
project. It's very doubtful that the project would qualify for STP grant funding anyway, especially with OMMC's 
new scoring methodology in place as mandated by CMAP. It just won't rank high enough for funding unless 
you can include other new scoring criteria such as improvements to other modes of transportaf1on {e.g., 
pedestrians, bicyclists), green improvements, improvements to a mass transit system, or show that the project 
will help improve low-income areas or create jobs I agree that traffic counts will be needed for the IDS, but 
this stand-alone signal improvement will likely need to be locally funded. 

As you know, through past developer contribution, Willowbrook has already completed intersection 
improvements to the north leg {located in Willowbrook) and the south leg (located in Darien). In 2016 we also 
completed the necessary geometric improvements to the east leg (located in Willowbrook) at our own 
expense. So, all that's left to do now to signalize is to design and construct the required improvements on the 
west leg (located in Darien) and install signals. If you are asking whether we'll agree to cost share the design 
and construction of the necessary improvements to the last leg of the intersection (the west leg, located in 
Darien), the answer is no. At this time, I also cannot commit to any possible cost share arrangement for signals, 
since the intersection itself is in Dari en's Jurisdiction and our FY 2019/20 budget is already set. I will need to 
speak further with Mayor Trilla, and you would likely be working with a new Willowbrook administrator on that 
project 

I'll let you decide if you want to share this response with the others you included in your e�mail, but I intend to 
share it with Mayor Trilla and the two {2) Willowbrook Trustees that have been heavily involved in trying to 
obtain safety improvements to your intersection since at least 2012. 

Tim Halik 
Village Administrator 
Village of Willowbrook 
835 Midway Drive 
wmowbrook, IL 60527

Office (direct): 630.920.2261 
Fax: 630.323.0787 

E-mail: thalik@willowbrook.il.us
Web: www.willowbrookil.org
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From: Dan Gombac<dgombac@darienll.goV> 
Sent: Wednesday, March 20, 201910:06 AM 

To: Mlrhael Werthmann <mwerthmann@kloamc.com>; Tim H&lik <thalfk@wiUowbrookii.us> 
Cc: Lynch, Daniell <dlync:h@cbbel.com>, Bryon Vana <bvana@danenil.gov>; Kathy Weaver (Kathy_Weaver@AJG.com} 
<Kathy_Weaver@AJG.com>; Lester.Vaughan <lester.vaughan@gmail.com> 
Subject: FW: 67th& Cl. Hills Rd intersection 

Good morning Mike, 

Regarding the mtersect1on of 67th StrE'et and Clarendon Hills Rd, would you forward a preliminary estimate for the 
following items, 

1. Reevaluat� and update the attached 2012 report to determine whether signalization of the intersection is
warranted. We understand that the 2012 study did not warrant a signal through state funding If required,
Darien could provide a traffic count for the legs as directed

2 Cost for des1gn 1 letting and construction ·observation 
3. Preliminary estimate for an 1ntersectron configuration and signalization. The structures should include street

hghts

GC1od morf'ling Tim, 

City Staff was directed to revisit the abovementioned intersection for signalization. While the City did not participate in 
2012 with th� study or the geometrical configuration, would Willowbrook consider a cost share for the project as 
broken down above, pending support and costs? 

Thanl<:s to all. 

t>4'tiet tjoHtdae 
z>� ol �µt SelWl.a4
630-853-C106

To receive important information from the City of Darien sign up for 
our electronic newsletter: 
DARIEN DIRECT CONNECT 

Follow the link below and subscribing is simple! 

http://www.da rien. ii .us/Depa rtments/Administration/CityNews.ht 
ml 
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From: Tim Halik <thallk@wlllowbrook.il.uS> 
Sent: Monday, December 18, 2017 4:10 PM 
To: Dan Gombac <dgombac@darieniLgov> 
Subject: RE: 67th& Cl. Hills Rd intersection 

I was advised of that recent tragic accident from our police chief. My understanding was that Darien PO and 
FIAT were completing the investigatron, since it's your intersection. So, I wouldn't have any details. 

If you recall, we never performed a comprehensive engineering analysis of that intersection. Willowbrook 
wanted to do so back in 2015 at a cost of $14,250 ($7,125/each town) as part of a plan to consider 
signalization, but Darien declined due to lack of available funding. Therefore, we moved forward on our own 
to determine whether Willowbrook could do anything within the areas under our control (1.e., portions of the 
north and east legs) to improve condrbons. We hired CBBEL to perform an evaluation (copy attached). Several 
available options were recommended to improve traffic flow. The preferred option identified at that time was a 
widening of the east leg to provide for a separate dedicated left tu

r

n lane. The Willowbrook Village Board 
approved the completion of the project in July of 2016 at a final cost of $108,818 

I continue to believe that the ultimate design improvement at that intersection would be signalization. 

Tim Halik 
Village Administrator 
Village of Willowbrook 
835 Midway Drive 
Willowbroolc, IL 60527 

Office (direct): 630.9202261 
Fax: 630.920.2427 
E-mail: thalik@willowbrook11.us
Web� www willowbrook1I org

From: Dan Gombac rmailto:dgombac@darlenil.gm,1 
Sent: Monday, December 18, 2017 3:09 PM 
To: Tim Halik <thaHk@wiUowbrook.il.us> 
Subject: FW; 67th& Cl. Hills Rd intersection 

Hey Tim. 
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Pis six helow regarding ,t I\.cs:nl fatality m 67lh& CL !·!ills Rd. i\ot 'illl� ifrh,: person h�hw: \\Ill hi.:! reaching 
out h.l ym1. 1 c.lo•i"i. hm e any tkt�1ih or the uccidenl. She i, �1pp�uentl; cuinir1g Lu llllr meeting 1onight and ,,�mh.!J 
to 5e� if you ha\'c an cxecuti\'c summary regarding the traffic sigm.t �llld) for abm e. 

Tlwn�:.) 

1>aldet ljo,;:t,�.(. 

Diiedo-i ol �ieipat Sew«e4 

630-353- !106

To receive important information from the City of Darien sign up for
our electronic newsletter:
DARIEN DIRECT CONNECT

Follow the link below and subscribing is simple! 
http://www.darien. ii. us/Departments/Adm inistration/CityN 
ews.html 

From: Lauren Kaeseberg [mailto laurenkaeseberr;@gmaiLcom]
Sent: Monday, December 18, 201712;01 PM 
To: Dan Gombac <dgombac@darien1l.gov>, Bryon Vana <bvana@darienil.gov>; Tina M. Beilke <tbeilke@darienil.gov>; 

Kathy Weaver (Kathv Weaver@AJG com) <Kathy Weaver@a1g com> 
Subject: 67th& Cl. Hills Rd intersection 

Hi - As you may recall, I have spoken at the city council meeting and with a number of you personally about 
my concerns over the intersection at 67th Street and Clarendon Hills Road (as well as issues surrounding a 
crosswalk for residents on the east side of Clarendon Hills Road to be able to safely cross). 
I was heartbroken and so troubled by the news of the woman who was killed a little over a week ago at that 
intersection. This is simply unacceptable and tragic and it has become increasingly more dangerous with the 
amount of cars taking Clarendon Hills Road as an alternate to avoid the traffic on Route 83. I would like to 
address this with the city council and propose at a stop sign be put in at the comer for drivers going N/S. 
I'll plan on attending the meeting tonight - please let me know if there is already something on the agenda 
addressing this? Or if I should be there for public comments? 
Thanks ... please let me know. 

On Friday, October 20, 2017, Lauren Kaeseberg <laurenkaeseberg@gmail.com> wrote: 

Hi Dan, Tina & Bryan, 
Just heard about this scary situation about gasoline or volatile gasses in the sewer system just down 
the street at the Knolls and on 63rd street (you'll recall our home is very close to the 
Darien.l\Nillowbrook border). Should we be concemed? Is Darien looking into this too? 
Thanks. 
Here1s a link: http://cltv.com/2017/10/20/possible-building ... explosion-reported-in-willowbrook/ 

Lauren Kaeseberg 
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Legal Director, Chicago office 
11lino1s Innocence Project 
T: 773.517.0622 
E: LaurenKaeseberg@gmail.com 

This e-mail me.ssage and any attachments may contain confidential and/or privileged information. If you have 
received this e-mail message in error, please immediately notify the sender by reply message and then delete 
the electronic message and any attachments. Thank you.. 

Lauren Kaeseberg 
Legal Director, Chicago office 
Illinois Innocence Project 
T: 773,517.0622 
E '. LaurenKaeseberg@gmail.com 

This e-mail message and any attachments may contain confidential and/or privileged information. If you have 
received this e-mail message in error. please immediately notify the sender by reply message and then delete the 
electronic message and any attachments. Thank you. 
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1. Introduction 
 
 
This report summarizes the methodologies, results, and findings of a traffic signal warrant and 
operational evaluation conducted by Kenig, Lindgren, O’Hara, Aboona, Inc. (KLOA, Inc.) for the 
intersection of Clarendon Hills Road with 67th Street in Darien, Illinois. The intersection is located 
in the northwest quadrant of the City of Darien on the border with the Village of Willowbrook. 
Currently, the intersection operates with the 67th Street approaches under stop sign control (two-
way stop sign control).  
 
The sections of this report present the following: 
 
• A summary of the existing roadway conditions including vehicle traffic volumes at the 

study intersection 
 
• A traffic signal warrant analysis for the study intersection assuming existing traffic 

conditions 
 
• A multi-way stop sign control evaluation assuming the existing traffic volumes 
 
The primary purpose of this study is to determine if the existing intersection traffic and pedestrian 
volumes and/or crash experience warrant the need for a traffic signal or multi-way stop sign 
control. In addition, the study also examined other intersection improvements, traffic control 
modifications, and/or safety measures to improve the operation of the intersection.  
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2. Existing Conditions 
 

 

Existing transportation conditions in the vicinity of the intersection were documented based on 
field visits conducted by KLOA, Inc. in order to obtain a database for projecting future conditions. 
The following provides a description of the geographical location of the intersection, physical 
characteristics and operation of the intersection, the existing traffic volumes, and the intersection 
crash data. 
 

Study Intersection Location 
 
The intersection of Clarendon Hills Road with 67th Street is located in the northeast quadrant of 
the City of Darien on the border with the Village of Willowbrook. The closest signalized 
intersections to the subject intersection are 63rd Street approximately 3,500 feet to the north, 
Plainfield Road approximately 3,500 feet to the south, IL 83 approximately 2,700 feet to the east, 
and Cass Avenue approximately one mile to the west. Land uses in the vicinity of the site are 
primarily residential and include multi-family housing to the north and east and single-family 
housing to the west and south. Figure 1 shows an aerial of the study intersection and Figure 2 

shows the location of the intersection with respect to the area roadways. 
 
Existing Roadway System Characteristics 
 

The intersection of Clarendon Hills Road with 67th Street is under the jurisdiction of the City of 
Darien. The characteristics of the existing roadways that form the subject intersection are described 
below.  
 

Clarendon Hills Road is a north-south, major collector roadway that has one lane in each direction. 
At its unsignalized intersection with 67th Street, Clarendon Hills Road has an exclusive left-turn 
lane and a shared through/right-turn lane on both approaches. Clarendon Hills Road has a posted 
speed limit of 30 mph, carries an annual average daily traffic volume (AADT) of 8,450 vehicles 
(Illinois Department of Transportation [IDOT] 2016), and is under the jurisdiction of the City of 
Darien south of 67th Street and the Village of Willowbrook north of 67th Street. 
 
67th Street is an east-west, minor collector that has one lane in each direction. At its unsignalized 
intersection with Clarendon Hills Road, 67th Street provides a shared left-turn/through/right-turn 
lane on the eastbound approach and an exclusive left-turn lane and a shared through/right-turn lane 
on the westbound approach. Both approaches are under stop sign control. 67th Street has a posted 
speed limit of 25 mph, carries an AADT of 2,400 vehicles (IDOT 2016), and is under the 
jurisdiction of the City of Darien west of Clarendon Hills Road and the Village of Willowbrook 
east of Clarendon Hills Road.  
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Aerial View of Intersection Figure 1 
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Site Location Figure 2 

  

Study 

Intersection 



 

Clarendon Hills Road and 67th Street 

Darien, Illinois 5 

Intersection Enhancements and Safety /Measures  

 
The following intersection enhancements and safety measures have been installed at the 
intersection in order to enhance its operation: 
 
• Overhead street lights are located in the northwest and southeast corners of the intersection. 
 
• Flashing stop signs are located on both approaches of 67th Street.  

 
• Cross Traffic Does Not Stop warning signs are located below the stop signs on both 

approaches of 67th Street. 
 

• A crosswalk is located on the east leg of 67th Street. 
 
Intersection Sight Distance  

 
The sight distance from the 67th Street approaches is reduced due to the landscaping, utility poles, 
and fencing along Clarendon Hills Road in addition to the slight vertical curve along Clarendon 
Hills Road north of 67th Street. A Policy on Geometric Design of Highways and Streets (Green 
Book) published by the American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials 
(AASHTO) indicates that, at a minimum, the location of a side road or access road must meet the 
minimum stopping sight distance requirements. According to the Green Book, the minimum 
stopping sight distance for a road with a 30 mph speed limit (35 mph design speed) is 250 feet.  
 
Field inspection of the intersection shows that the sight distance for traffic along 67th Street when 
stopped at the stop bars is impaired, particularly for eastbound traffic looking north along 
Clarendon Hills Road. However, when traffic pulls up past the stop bar closer to the 67th Street 
edge of pavement, the 67th Street traffic has sufficient sight lines that meet and exceed the 
minimum stopping sight distance. It is important to note that it is common for traffic to have to 
pull up after stopping at the stop bar in order to improve sight lines. Pictures are included in the 
Appendix showing the sight lines for each 67th Street approach at both the stop bar and when 
pulling up past the stop bar.  
 
Crash Data 
 
KLOA, Inc. obtained crash data1 from IDOT and the City of Darien for the past five years (2014 
to 2018) for the subject intersection. Tables 1 and 2 provide summaries of the crash data. In 
addition, the City of Darien provided a comprehensive analysis of the crash history at the subject 
intersection, which is included in the Appendix.  
 

                                                 
1 IDOT DISCLAIMER: The motor vehicle crash data referenced herein was provided by the Illinois Department of Transportation. 
Any conclusions drawn from analysis of the aforementioned data are the sole responsibility of the data recipient(s). Additionally, 
for coding years 2015 to present, the Bureau of Data Collection uses the exact latitude/longitude supplied by the investigating law 
enforcement agency to locate crashes. Therefore, location data may vary in previous years since data prior to 2015 was physically 
located by bureau personnel.  
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Table 1 
CLARENDON HILLS ROAD WITH 67TH STREET – CRASH TYPE 

 Crash Type 

Year Angle Object Rear End Sideswipe Turning Other Total 

2014 4 0 0 0 0 0 4 

2015 8 0 1 0 1 0 10 

2016 4 0 1 0 0 0 5 

2017 9 2 1 0 0 1 13 

2018 7 0 0 0 2 0 9 

Total 32 2 3 0 3 1 41 

Average/Year 6.4 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 <1.0 8.2 

 
 
Table 2 
CLARENDON HILLS ROAD WITH 67TH STREET – CRASH SEVERITY 

 Crash Severity 

Year 
Property 

Damage Crash 
Injury Crash Fatality Crash Total 

2014 1 3 0 4 

2015 7 3 0 10 

2016 4 1 0 5 

2017 8 4 1 13 

2018 6 3 0 9 

Total 26 14 1 41 

Average/Year 5.2 2.8 <1.0 8.2 

 
 
The following summarizes the crash experience over the past five years: 
 
• The intersection had a total of 41 crashes between 2014 and 2018, which averages to just 

over eight crashes per year.  
 

• Of the 41 crashes, 14 of the crashes resulted in injuries and one crash resulted in a fatality. 
It should be noted that the fatal crash was a head-on collision with a driver that was under 
the influence of alcohol. 

 
• 35 of the 41 crashes were either angle or turning crashes, which are the type of crashes that 

can be corrected by a traffic signal or multi-way stop sign control.  
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IDOT Five Percent Crash Locations 
 
IDOT reviews statewide crash data every other year to identify approximately five percent of all 
roadway locations and intersections within the State of Illinois with the greatest potential for safety 
improvement (PSI). The process identifies those locations and intersections experiencing a higher 
severity of crashes when compared to similar locations statewide based on the latest available crash 
data for a five-year period. The most recent Five Percent reports produced by IDOT were in 2014, 
which is based on crash data from 2008 through 2012, and 2017, which is based on crash data for 
2011 through 2015. The Clarendon Hills Road/67th Street intersection was classified as a Five 
Percent location in 2017, but was not classified as a Five Percent location in 2014. 
 
Existing Traffic Volumes 
 

In order to determine the volume of traffic traversing the intersection of Clarendon Hills Road with 
67th Street, KLOA, Inc. conducted a 13-hour traffic count (6:00 A.M. to 7:00 P.M.) on Thursday, 
May 17, 2019. The hourly results of the traffic count are summarized in Table 3, which shows the 
individual movements for each intersection approach. The raw traffic count data is included in the 
Appendix. Based on a review of the traffic data, it was determined that the morning peak hour of 
traffic occurred from 7:30 to 8:30 A.M. and the evening peak hour of traffic occurred from 5:00 
to 6:00 P.M. Figure 3 illustrates the peak hour hourly traffic volumes as well as the existing 
roadway characteristics. It should be noted that the intersection of IL 83 with Plainfield Road was 
under construction when the traffic counts were conducted. As such, the volume of traffic 
traversing the intersection was likely higher than normal. 
 
Existing Intersection Operation 
 
Analysis of the existing operation of the intersection of Clarendon Hills Road with 67th Street was 
performed for the weekday morning and weekday evening peak hours. The traffic analyses were 
performed using the methodologies outlined in the Transportation Research Board’s Highway 

Capacity Manual (HCM), 6th Edition and analyzed using Synchro/SimTraffic 10 software.  
 
The ability of an intersection to accommodate traffic flow is expressed in terms of level of service, 
which is assigned a letter from A to F based on the average control delay experienced by vehicles 
passing through the intersection. The Highway Capacity Manual definitions for levels of service 
and the corresponding control delay for signalized intersections and unsignalized intersections are 
shown in the Appendix.  
 
Summaries of the traffic analysis results showing the level of service and delay (measured in 
seconds) for the existing conditions are presented in Table 4. Summary sheets for the capacity 
analyses are included in the Appendix. From Table 4 it can be seen that all of the critical 
movements at the intersection are operating at Level of Service (LOS) D or better, except the 
westbound left-turn movement. During the evening peak hour, the left-turn movement is operating 
on the threshold between a LOS E and LOS F. This level of service is common for stop sign 
controlled movements or approaches along major collector and arterial roads such as Clarendon 
Hills Road. The 67th Street traffic is able to enter or cross Clarendon Hills Road. However, during 
the morning and evening peak periods, this movement experiences some additional delay. As such, 
the intersection has sufficient capacity to accommodate the existing traffic volumes.  
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Table 3 
CLARENDON HILLS ROAD WITH 67TH STREET 
TRAFFIC VOLUME SUMMARY - THURSDAY, MAY 17, 2019 

 

 
 

Time 

67th Street 
Eastbound Approach 

67th Street 
Westbound Approach 

Clarendon Hills Road 
Northbound Approach 

Clarendon Hills Road 
Southbound Approach 

Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right Left Thru Right 

6:00 AM 12 31 20 19 15 20 8 232 32 10 66 8 

7:00 AM 16 61 33 18 24 28 21 370 74 7 172 16 

8:00 AM 27 58 36 10 26 35 24 416 66 16 139 20 

9:00 AM 8 38 29 18 26 33 17 221 30 23 146 14 

10:00 AM 11 41 21 19 29 30 21 225 43 17 155 14 

11:00 AM 15 39 18 17 29 23 21 196 40 20 195 18 

12:00 PM 15 43 31 34 47 18 32 222 31 26 249 16 

1:00 PM 5 29 23 26 35 27 22 200 21 20 178 15 

2:00 PM 11 28 30 38 37 25 29 179 30 16 264 20 

3:00 PM 15 43 41 54 44 27 38 271 38 28 466 34 

4:00 PM 9 43 45 27 51 27 29 250 32 32 555 29 

5:00 PM 8 43 44 41 59 24 44 275 33 32 611 36 

6:00 PM 10 33 37 50 56 27 43 255 29 30 447 33 

Total 162 530 408 371 478 344 349 3312 499 277 3643 273 



N

NOT  TO  SCALE

Figure:  3Job No: 19-127

LEGEND

00

(00)

Kenig,Lindgren,O'Hara,Aboona,Inc.

- AM PEAK HOUR (7:30-8:30 AM)

- PM PEAK HOUR (5:00-6:00 PM)

R
O

A
D

C
L

A
R

E
N

D
O

N
 H
IL

L
S

STREET

67TH

Darien, Illinois

Clarendon Hills Rd & 67th St

Traffic Signal Warrant Study

and Traffic Volumes
Existing Roadway Characteristics

- TRAVEL LANE

- STOP SIGN

- SPEED LIMITXX

30

25

7
5
 
(3

3
)

2
4
 
(4

4
)

35 (44)

74 (43)

35 (24)

25 (59)

17 (41)

1
1
 
(3

2
)

2
0
 
(3

6
)

1
6
0
 
(6

1
1
)

29 (8)

4
4
5
 
(2

7
5
)

2,400

8
,4

5
0

- AVERAGE DAILY TRAFFIC (ADT)00



 

Clarendon Hills Road and 67th Street 

Darien, Illinois  10 

Table 4 
CAPACITY ANALYSIS - EXISTING CONDITIONS 
CLARENDON HILLS ROAD WITH 67TH STREET 

 Weekday Morning 

Peak Hour 

7:30-8:30 A.M. 

 

Weekday Evening 

Peak Hour 

5:00-6:00 P.M. 

Intersection LOS Delay  LOS Delay 

Two-Way Stop Sign Control      

• Northbound Left Turn A 7.7  A 9.2 

• Southbound Left Turn A 8.7  A 8.0 

• Eastbound Approach C 21.9  D 31.8 

• Westbound Left Turn C 22.4  F 57.0 

• Westbound Through/Right Turn B 14.9  D 29.6 
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3. Traffic Signal Warrant Analysis 
 
 
Typically, the installation of a traffic signal requires the satisfaction of one or more of the following 
nine warrants from the Federal Highway Administration’s Manual on Uniform Traffic Control 

Devices for Streets and Highways (MUTCD), 2009. The satisfaction of one or more of the warrants 
does not in itself justify the installation of a traffic signal. A review of the intersection’s physical 
characteristics and traffic conditions is also necessary to determine whether a traffic control signal 
installation is justified. It should be noted that due to the low volume of left-turn movements, the 
intersection was assumed to provide one lane on all approaches. 

Warrant 1 (A and B): Eight-Hour Vehicular Volume 
Warrant 2: Four-Hour Vehicular Volume 
Warrant 3: Peak Hour 
Warrant 4: Pedestrian Volume 
Warrant 5: School Crossing 
Warrant 6: Coordinated Signal System 
Warrant 7: Crash Experience 
Warrant 8: Roadway Network 
Warrant 9: Intersection Near a Railroad Grade Crossing 
 
A description of each of the nine warrants is summarized below:  
 
Warrant 1 (Eight-Hour Vehicular Volume) has three conditions: Condition A-Minimum Vehicular 
Volume, Condition B-Interruption of Continuous Traffic, or a combination of both Condition A 
and B. Condition A is intended for application where a large volume of intersecting traffic is the 
principal reason to consider installing a traffic control signal. Condition B is intended for 
application where the traffic volume on a major street is so heavy the traffic on a minor intersecting 
street suffers excessive delay or conflict in entering or crossing the major street. Warrant 1 
Conditions A or B are satisfied when the traffic volumes for each of any eight hours of an average 
day are above a threshold value of minor street traffic, which varies depending on the major street 
traffic volume and the number of travel lanes on the major and minor streets. For this analysis, a 
minimum of 500 vehicles and 150 vehicles are needed for each hour on Clarendon Hills Road and 
67th Street, respectively, for Warrant 1A. For Warrant 1B, a minimum of 750 vehicles and 75 
vehicles are needed on Clarendon Hills Road and 67th Street, respectively. For the combination, 
both Condition A and Condition B need to be meet 80 percent of the required volume for any eight 
hours of an average day. 
 
Warrant 2 (Four-Hour Vehicular Volume) 2 is applied when the volume of intersecting traffic is 
the principal reason to consider installing a traffic signal. The warrant is satisfied when the traffic 
volumes for each of any four hours of an average day are above a threshold value of minor street 
traffic, which varies depending on the major street traffic volume and the number of travel lanes. 
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Warrant 3 (Peak Hour) is intended for application when traffic conditions are such that for a 
minimum of one hour of an average day, the minor-street traffic suffers undue delay when entering 
or crossing the major street. As with Warrant 2, the threshold value of minor street traffic varies 
depending on the major street traffic volume and number of travel lanes. This signal warrant is 
primarily used in cases where a high volume of traffic is discharged over a short time. 
  
Warrant 4 (Pedestrian Volume) is intended for application where the traffic volume on the major 
street is so heavy that pedestrians experience excessive delay in crossing the major street. The 
warrant is satisfied when the pedestrian volumes for each of any four hours of an average day are 
above a threshold value of major street traffic, which varies depending on the major street traffic 
volume and has a minimum value of 75 pedestrian crossings per hour. The warrant can also be 
satisfied when the pedestrian volumes for any one-hour period of an average day are above a 
threshold value of major street traffic, which also varies depending on the major street traffic 
volume and has a minimum value of 93 pedestrian crossings per hour. The volume thresholds can 
be reduced by 50 percent if the 15th-percentile crossing speed of pedestrians is less than 3.5 
feet/second.  
 
Warrant 5 (School Crossing) applies to locations where the fact that school children cross the 
major street is the principal reason to consider installing a traffic control signal. This warrant 
evaluates the number of adequate gaps in the traffic stream of the major street and has a threshold 
value of 20 student crossings during the highest hour. In addition, other remedial measures should 
be considered first, such as warning signs, flashers, school speed zones, and school crossing 
guards. 
 
Warrant 6 (Coordinated Signal System) applies when the upstream traffic control signals do not 
provide the necessary degree of vehicle platooning, but the proposed signal in combination with 
the upstream signal will collectively provide a progressive operation.  
 
Warrant 7 (Crash Experience) is applicable where the severity and frequency of traffic crashes are 
susceptible to correction by the presence of a traffic signal. The warrant is satisfied when five or 
more crashes have occurred within a 12-month period and specific traffic or pedestrian volume 
threshold values are exceeded for the major and minor streets.  
 
Warrant 8 (Roadway Network) states that installing a traffic control signal at some intersections 
might be justified to encourage concentration and organization of traffic flow on a roadway 
network. It is intended to be applied to the intersection of two major through routes in a city. 
 
Warrant 9 (Intersection Near a Railroad Grade Crossing) is intended for use at a location where 
none of the conditions described in the other eight warrants are met, but the proximity of a grade 
crossing to an intersection controlled by a STOP or YIELD sign is the principal reason to consider 
installing a traffic control signal. There are two criteria for this warrant, one related to the distance 
between the grade crossing and the intersection, and the other related to the volume of traffic on 
the intersecting roadways.   
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Traffic Signal Warrant Analysis  

A traffic signal warrant analysis was performed for the Clarendon Hills Road with 67th Street 
intersection to determine if the existing traffic conditions warrant the installation of a traffic signal. 
Of the nine warrants that can be applied in establishing the justification for a traffic signal, only 
the following five warrants were considered for this analysis:  
 
 Warrant 1, Eight-Hour Vehicular Volume 
 Warrant 2, Four-Hour Vehicular Volume 
 Warrant 3, Peak Hour 
 Warrant 4, Pedestrian Volume  
 Warrant 7, Crash Experience 
 
The other four warrants were not considered as the intersection is not a primary school crossing 
(Warrant 5) or part of a coordinated traffic signal system (Warrant 6), does not consist of two 
major through routes (Warrant 8), and is not located near a railroad crossing (Warrant 9).  
 
Evaluation of Warrants 1, 2, and 3 - Intersection Traffic Volumes 
 
Table 5 summarizes the hourly and peak hour traffic volumes traversing the intersection of 
Clarendon Hills Road and 67th Street (refer to Table 3) for the 13-hour traffic count performed on 
May 17, 2019. The table also highlights which hours of the day satisfy the minimum volume 
threshold for Warrant 1A, Warrant 1B, combination of Warrant 1A/1B, Warrant 2, and Warrant 3. 
The Warrants computer program was used to evaluate the existing traffic volumes to determine if 
they satisfy any of the three traffic volume warrants. 
 
The flowing and Table 2 summarize the results of the evaluation of the existing traffic volumes:  
 
 Warrant 1A: None of the hourly volumes satisfy the minimum volumes when eight hours 

are required. 
 

 Warrant 1B: Only four hours satisfy the minimum volumes when eight hours are required. 
 

 Combination of Warrants 1A/1B: Only four hours satisfy the minimum volumes when 
eight hours are required. 

 
 Warrant 2: Only one hour satisfies the minimum volumes when four hours are required. 

 
 Warrant 3: None of the hourly volumes satisfy the minimum volumes when one hour is 

required. 
 
Therefore, the existing traffic volumes do not satisfy Warrant 1, Warrant 2, or Warrant 3. The 
existing traffic volumes are closest to satisfying Warrant 1B where four of eight hours are met. 
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Table 5 
VOLUME WARRANT SUMMARY - CLARENDON HILLS ROAD AND 67TH STREET 

Hour 
Clarendon 
Hills Road 

(Major) 

67th Street 
Eastbound 

(Minor) 

67th Street 
Westbound 

(Minor) 

Signal Warrants 

Warrant 1 
Warrant 2 
(4-Hour) 

Warrant 3 
(1-Hour) 

Warrant 
1A 

(8-Hour)

Warrant 
1B 

(8-Hour)

Combination 

1A 80% 1B 80% 

6:00 to 7:00 AM 356 63 54 No No No No No No 
7:00 to 8:00 AM 660 110 70 No No No Yes No No 
8:00 to 9:00 AM 681 121 71 No No Yes Yes No No 
9:00 to 10:00 AM 451 75 77 No No No No No No 
10:00 to 11:00 AM 475 73 78 No No No No No No 
11:00 AM to 12:00 PM 490 72 69 No No No No No No 
12:00 to 1:00 PM 576 89 99 No No No No No No 
1:00 to 2:00 PM 456 57 88 No No No No No No 
2:00 to 3:00 PM 538 69 100 No No No No No No 
3:00 to 4:00 PM 875 99 125 No Yes Yes Yes No No 
4:00 to 5:00 PM 927 97 105 No Yes No Yes No No 
5:00 to 6:00 PM 1031 95 124 No Yes Yes Yes Yes No 
6:00 to 7:00 PM 837 80 133 No Yes Yes Yes No No 

Total Hours Met: 0 4 4 6 1 0 

Required Hours: 8 8 8 8 4 1 

Warrant Satisfied: No No No No No 
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Evaluation of Warrant 4 - Intersection Pedestrian Volumes 
 
The intersection had a total of 30 pedestrians during the 13-hour count. As such, given the low 
pedestrian activity, this intersection does not satisfy Warrant 4.  
 
Evaluation of Warrant 7 – Crash Experience  
 
Per the MUTCD, the following indicates the requirements to meet Warrant 7 – Crash Experience:  
 

The need for a traffic control signal shall be considered if an engineering study finds that all 

of the following criteria are met: 

 

A. Adequate trial of alternatives with satisfactory observance and enforcement has failed to 

reduce the crash frequency; and 

 

B. Five or more reported crashes, of types susceptible to correction by a traffic control signal, 

have occurred within a 12-month period, each crash involving personal injury or property 

damage apparently exceeding the applicable requirements for a reportable crash; and 

 

C. For each of any 8 hours of an average day, the vehicles per hour (vph) given in both of the 

80 percent columns of Condition A in Table 4C-1 (see Section 4C.02), or the vph in both 

of the 80 percent columns of Condition B in Table 4C-1 exists on the major-street and the 

higher-volume minor-street approach, respectively, to the intersection, or the volume of 

pedestrian traffic is not less than 80 percent of the requirements specified in the Pedestrian 

Volume warrant. These major-street and minor-street volumes shall be for the same 8 

hours. On the minor street, the higher volume shall not be required to be on the same 

approach during each of the 8 hours. 

 
The following evaluates each of the three criteria required to satisfy Warrant 7. 
 

Criteria A requires that adequate trial of alternative measures at the intersection has failed to reduce 
the crash frequency. The MUTCD provides the following guidance as to alternatives to traffic 
signal control.  
 

Since vehicle delay and the frequency of some types of crashes are sometimes greater under 

traffic signal control than under stop sign control, consideration should be given to 

providing alternatives to traffic control signals even if one or more of the signal warrants 

have been satisfied.  

 
Table 6 lists 13 potential alternative measures to traffic signal control as outlined in the MUTCD 
and whether the alternatives have been implemented or considered at the intersection. It is 
important to note that the MUTCD indicates that the alternatives are not limited to those shown in 
Table 6. 
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Table 6 
ALTERNATIVE MEASURES TO BE CONSIDERED BEFORE INSTALLING A TRAFFIC SIGNAL 

Measure 
Currently 

Installed 
Comments 

Installing signs along the major street to warn 
road users approaching the intersection No  

Relocating the stop line(s) and making other 
changes to improve the sight distance at the 
intersection 

No  

Installing measures designed to reduce speeds 
on the approaches No  

Installing a flashing beacon at the intersection 
to supplement STOP control Yes Flashing STOP signs located on 67th 

Street 
Installing flashing beacons on warning signs in 
advance of a STOP sign controlled intersection 
on major- and/or minor-street approaches 

No  

Adding one or more lanes on a minor-street 
approach to reduce the number of vehicles per 
lane on the approach 

Yes Westbound approach provides separate 
left-turn lane 

Revising the geometrics at the intersection to 
channelize vehicular movements and reduce 
the time required for a vehicle to complete a 
movement, which could also assist pedestrians 

No  

Revising the geometrics at the intersection to 
add pedestrian median refuge islands and/or 
curb extensions 

N.A.  Intersection has minimal pedestrian 
activity 

Installing roadway lighting if a 
disproportionate number of crashes occur at 
night 

Yes Overhead streetlights are located in NW 
and SE corners of the intersection 

Restricting one or more turning movements, 
perhaps on a time-of-day basis, if alternate 
routes are available 

No  

If the warrant is satisfied, installing multi-way 
STOP sign control No As discussed later, traffic volumes do 

not warrant all-way STOP sign control 

Installing a pedestrian hybrid beacon (see 
Chapter 4F) or In-Roadway Warning Lights 
(see Chapter 4N) if pedestrian safety is the 
major concern 

N.A. Intersection has minimal pedestrian 
activity  

Installing a roundabout No Not feasible given right-of-way 
constraints 

Employing other alternatives, depending on 
conditions at the intersection No  
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Table 6 shows that only several of the alternative measures have been implemented at the 
intersection. The following lists other alternative measures that could be implemented to enhance 
the operation and safety of the intersection: 
 
• Trim the trees along the intersection’s right-of-way and, if possible, along private 

properties adjacent to the intersection to improve the sight lines for the 67th Street traffic.  
 
• Relocate the stop bar on the eastbound approach of 67th Street several feet east in order to 

improve the sight lines for the eastbound 67th Street traffic.  
 
• Install Cross Road (MUTCD W2 -1) warning signs with an advance street name plaque on 

Clarendon Hills Road both north and south of the 67th Street to indicate the presence of the 
intersection and the possibility of turning or entering traffic.  

 
• Consideration should be given to (1) installing the warning signs on both sides of the road 

both north and south of the intersection and (2) to installing warning beacons on the 
warning signs to further emphasis the Cross Road warning signs. 
 

• Install additional speed limit signs and/or radar speed feedback signs on Clarendon Hills 
Road both north and south of the intersection to further remind motorists of the posted 
speed limit through the intersection.  
 

• Widen the eastbound approach of 67th Street to provide a westbound lane and an eastbound 
separate left-turn lane and a shared through/right-turn lane similar to the westbound 
approach of 67th Street. The addition of the left-turn lane will enhance the capacity of the 
67th Street approach, reduce the number of vehicles per lane, and provide for a safer 
intersection by aligning the through lanes and left-turn lanes opposite one another.  
 

Since only several of the alternative measures have been implemented, the intersection most likely 
is on the threshold between satisfying and not satisfying the criteria.  

 
Criteria B is satisfied when five or more crashes have occurred within a 12-month period that can 
be corrected by a traffic signal. As Table 1 shows, the intersection has had five or more angle and 
turning crashes, which can often be prevented with the provision of a traffic signal, in 2015, 2017 
and 2018. Further, the intersection was identified by IDOT as a Five Percent location in 2017. As 
such, the intersection crash experience does satisfy Criteria B of Warrant 7.  
 
Criteria C requires that the intersection meet minimum traffic or pedestrian volumes. The 
minimum volumes required are the same for the Combination of Warrant 1A and Warrant 1B. As 
discussed previously and shown in Table 5, the existing traffic volumes only meet the minimum 
volumes for the Combination of Warrant 1A and Warrant 1B for four hours when eight hours are 
required. Further, due to the very low pedestrian activity, the existing pedestrian volumes are not 
met. As such, the traffic volumes at the intersection do not satisfy Criteria C of Warrant 7.  
 
While the existing intersection conditions satisfies Criteria B, the existing traffic volumes do not 
satisfy Criteria C and Criteria A is generally on the threshold between satisfying and not satisfying 
the criteria. As such, the intersection does not satisfy all three criteria of Warrant 7.  
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Traffic Signal Warrant Findings 
  
The results of the traffic signal warrant study have shown that the intersection does not currently 
satisfy any of the traffic volume warrants (Warrants 1, 2, and 3), the pedestrian volume warrant 
(Warrant 4), or the crash experience warrant (Warrant 7). However, it is important to note that the 
intersection does satisfy Criteria B of Warrant 7 given the existing crash experience at the 
intersection. Further, satisfying one or more of the traffic signal warrants is only classified as a 
Guidance Statement in the MUTCD. The MUTCD defines a Guidance Statement as “a statement 

of recommendation, but not mandatory, practice in typical situations, with deviations allowed if 

engineering judgment or engineering study indicates the deviation to be appropriate.” As such, 
while the intersection currently does not satisfy any of the traffic signal warrants, the City can 
install a traffic signal if, in their judgment, they deem it appropriate.  
 
If a traffic signal is installed at this intersection, consideration should be given to installing the 
following geometric improvements and/or safety measures:  
 
• The widening of the eastbound approach of 67th Street to provide a separate left-turn lane 

so that the eastbound and westbound approaches mirror each other. In addition to 
increasing the capacity of the intersection, the widening of the approach will provide for a 
safer condition as the 67th Street through lanes and the left-turn lanes will be aligned 
opposite one another.  

 
• The installation of Traffic Signal Ahead (MUTCD W3-3) warning signs on Clarendon 

Hills Road north and south of the intersection with or without flashing beacons.  
 
Further, it should be noted that additional right-of-way may need to be acquired in order to 
accommodate the traffic signal equipment and/or the widening of the 67th Street eastbound 
approach. 
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4. Multi-Way Stop Sign Control Evaluation 
 

 

This section evaluates if the intersection of Clarendon Hills Road and 67th Street meets the multi-
way stop sign control criteria and also examines how the intersection will operate under multi-way 
stop sign control.  
 

MUTCD Multi-Way Stop Sign Control Criteria 
 
The MUTCD indicates that multi-way stop control can be useful as a safety measure at 
intersections if certain traffic conditions exist. Per the MUTCD, the following criteria should be 
considered in an engineering study for a multi-way STOP sign installation: 
 

A. Where traffic control signals are justified, the multi-way stop is an interim measure that 

can be installed quickly to control traffic while arrangements are being made for the 

installation of the traffic control signal. 

 

B. Five or more reported crashes in a 12-month period that are susceptible to correction by 

a multi-way stop installation. Such crashes include right-turn and left-turn collisions as 

well as right-angle collisions. 

 

C. Minimum volumes: 

 

1. The vehicular volume entering the intersection from the major street approaches (total 

of both approaches) averages at least 300 vehicles per hour for any 8 hours of an 

average day; and 

 

2. The combined vehicular, pedestrian, and bicycle volume entering the intersection from 

the minor street approaches (total of both approaches) averages at least 200 units per 

hour for the same 8 hours, with an average delay to minor-street vehicular traffic of at 

least 30 seconds per vehicle during the highest hour; but 

 

3. If the 85th-percentile approach speed of the major-street traffic exceeds 40 mph, the 

minimum vehicular volume warrants are 70 percent of the values provided in Items 1 

and 2. 

 

D. Where no single criterion is satisfied, but where Criteria B, C.1, and C.2 are all satisfied 

to 80 percent of the minimum values. Criterion C.3 is excluded from this condition. 
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Other criteria that may be considered in an engineering study include: 

 

A. The need to control left-turn conflicts; 
 

B. The need to control vehicle/pedestrian conflicts near locations that generate high 

pedestrian volumes; 
 

C. Locations where a road user, after stopping, cannot see conflicting traffic and is not able 

to negotiate the intersection unless conflicting cross traffic is also required to stop; and 
 

D. An intersection of two residential neighborhood collector (through) streets of similar 

design and operating characteristics where multi-way stop control would improve traffic 

operational characteristics of the intersection. 

 
MUTCD Criteria Evaluation  
 
The following evaluates the criteria required to satisfy the installation of multi-way stop sign 
control. 
 
Criteria A: Criteria A does not apply to this intersection. 
 
Criteria B: As discussed in Chapter 3, the intersection has experienced more than five angled and 
and/or turning crashes in 2015, 2017, and 2018. Further, the intersection was identified by IDOT 
as a Five Percent location in 2017. As such, the crash experience at this intersection satisfies 
Criteria B.  
 
Criteria C: The existing traffic volumes on 67th Street do not satisfy the minimum traffic volumes 
and, as such, the intersection does not satisfy Criteria C. 
 
Criteria D: Even with a 30 percent reduction, the existing traffic volumes on 67th Street do not 
satisfy the minimum traffic volume and, as such, the intersection does not satisfy Criteria D. 
 
Other Criteria: Criteria A, B and D of the other criteria to consider do not apply to this intersection. 
However, as indicated in Chapter 2, the sight distance along Clarendon Hills Road is impaired, 
particularly for eastbound traffic looking north along Clarendon Hills Road. However, when traffic 
pulls up past the stop bar closer to the 67th Street edge of pavement, the 67th Street traffic has 
sufficient sight lines that meet and exceed the minimum stopping sight distance. 
 
Traffic Volume: The MUTCD states multi-way stop control is used where the volume of traffic on 
the intersecting roads is approximately equal. Based on IDOT data, Clarendon Hills Road has an 
average daily traffic volume of approximately 8,450 vehicles and 67th Street has an average daily 
traffic of 2,400 vehicles. Further, during the critical peak periods, the Clarendon Hills Road traffic 
is three to five times higher than the 67th Street traffic. As such, the traffic volumes along the two 
streets are not similar.  
 
Therefore, the intersection only meets one of the various criteria required for multi-way stop sign 
control.  



 

Clarendon Hills Road and 67th Street 

Darien, Illinois  21 

Multi-Way Traffic Control Operational Evaluation 
 

Analysis of the projected operation of the intersection of Clarendon Hills Road with 67th Street 
under multi-way stop sign control was performed for the weekday morning and weekday evening 
peak hours. The traffic analyses were performed using the methodologies outlined in the 
Transportation Research Board’s Highway Capacity Manual (HCM), 6th Edition and analyzed 
using Synchro/SimTraffic 10 software. Summaries of the traffic analysis results showing the level 
of service and delay (measured in seconds) for the existing conditions are presented in Table 7. 
Summary sheets for the capacity analyses are included in the Appendix. 
 
 
Table 7 
CAPACITY ANALYSIS RESULTS 
EXISTING VOLUMES WITH MULTI-WAY STOP SIGN CONTROL  
CLARENDON HILLS ROAD WITH 67TH STREET 

 Weekday Morning 

Peak Hour 

7:30-8:30 A.M. 

 

Weekday Evening 

Peak Hour 

5:00-6:00 P.M. 

Intersection LOS Delay  LOS Delay 

Multi-Way Stop Sign Control      

• Intersection C 21.0  F  58.6 

• Northbound Left Turn A 9.2  B 10.3 

• Northbound Through/Right Turn D 28.9  C 16.9 

• Southbound Left Turn A 9.5  A 9.6 

• Southbound Through/Right Turn B 11.6  F 99.7 

• Eastbound Approach B 12.2  B 12.7 

• Westbound Left Turn B 10.5  B 12.0 

• Westbound Through/Right Turn B 10.2  B 12.0 
LOS = Level of Service  
Delay is measured in seconds. 

 
 
Assuming multi-way stop sign control, the overall intersection is projected to operate at LOS C 
during the weekday morning peak hour and LOS F during the evening peak hour. All of the 
movements are projected to operate at a good level of service, except the southbound 
through/right-turn movement. During the evening peak hour this movement is projected to operate 
at a LOS F with long delays and queues. This is due in part to the fact that the southbound 
through/right-turn movement has a total of 647 vehicles during the evening peak hour.  
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Multi-Way Stop Sign Control Findings  
 
The results of the evaluation have shown that the intersection currently satisfies only one of the 
criteria for the installation of multi-way stop sign control. Further, the traffic volumes are 
significantly higher along Clarendon Hills Road compared to 67th Street, which does not meet the 
general requirement that the traffic volumes on the two roads be similar at multi-way stop sign 
controlled intersections. In addition, the capacity analyses have shown that the intersection and the 
southbound through/right-turn movement are projected to operate at a LOS F during the evening 
peak hour. However, it is important to note that the intersection does satisfy Criteria B given the 
existing crash experience at the intersection. Further, the MUTCD indicates that the criteria should 
be considered and is only classified as a Guidance Statement. The MUTCD defines a Guidance 
Statement as “a statement of recommendation, but not mandatory, practice in typical situations, 

with deviations allowed if engineering judgment or engineering study indicates the deviation to be 

appropriate.” As such, while the intersection currently does not satisfy any of the criteria, the City 
has the authority to install a multi-way stop sign control at the intersection if, in their judgment, 
they deem it appropriate.  
 
It should be noted that due to the volume of traffic on Clarendon Hills Road and the vertical curve 
along the road north of 67th Street, multi-way stop sign control may result in additional crashes 
along Clarendon Hills Road. If multi-way stop sign control is to be installed at the intersection, 
Stop Ahead (MUTCD W3-1) warning signs should be installed on Clarendon Hills Road north 
and south of the intersection with consideration given to a flashing beacon on the signs. In addition, 
consideration should be given to installing flashing stop signs on the Clarendon Hills Road 
approaches similar to those provided on the 67th Street approaches. Further, consideration should 
be given to widening the eastbound approach of 67th Street to provide a separate left-turn lane. 
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5. Summary of Alternative Options and Conceptual 

Level Opinion of Costs  
 

 

The following lists the various alternative options to enhance the operation and safety of the 
intersection based on the traffic analyses: 
 
• Maintain the existing two-way stop sign control and install one or more of the following 

intersection geometric improvements and/or safety measures: 
 

o Trim the trees along the intersection’s right-of-way and, if possible, along the 
private properties adjacent to the intersection.  

 
o Relocate the stop bar on the eastbound approach of 67th Street.  
 
o Install Cross Road (MUTCD W2 -1) warning signs with an advance street name 

plaque on Clarendon Hills Road.  
 

o Install Cross Road warning signs on both sides of the road both north and south of 
the intersection. 

 
o Install warning beacons on the warning signs. 

 
o Install speed limits signs and/or radar speed feedback signs on Clarendon Hills 

Road both north and south of the intersection.  
 

o Widen the eastbound approach of 67th Street to provide a westbound lane and an 
eastbound separate left-turn lane and a shared through/right-turn lane. 

 
• Install multi-way stop sign control at the intersection with the appropriate warning signs. 

It should be noted that the existing intersection only satisfies one of the MUTCD criteria 
for multi-way stop sign control. Consideration should be given to widening the eastbound 
approach of 67th Street to provide a separate left-turn lane. 

 
• Install a traffic signal at the intersection with the appropriate warning signs. It should be 

noted that the intersection does not currently satisfy any of the MUTCD warrants for traffic 
signal control. Further, with the installation of a traffic signal, the eastbound approach of 
67th Street should be widened to provide a separate left-turn lane similar to the cross section 
of the westbound approach of 67th Street. 
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Table 8 lists the conceptual level opinion of costs for the various alternative options and indicates 
if the alternative options satisfy the MUTCD criteria and/or warrants. It should be noted that the 
conceptual level opinion of costs does not include the costs for surveying, preliminary or final 
design, or construction observation. If the City wishes to move forward with the widening of the 
eastbound approach of 67th Street and/or the installation of a traffic signal, a preliminary 
engineering design should be prepared and the right of way surveyed so that the scope of 
construction can be defined and concept level costs can be refined for project budgeting. 
 
 
Table 8 
INTERSECTION ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 
CONCEPTUAL COST ESTIMATES  
 
Alternative Options 

Meets MUTCD 
Criteria/Warrants

Cost 
Estimates 

Geometric and Safety Improvements  N.A.  

 Improve sight lines (trim the trees)  Less than $1,000 

 Relocate stop bar   Less than $1,000 

 Install Cross Road (W2 -1) warning signs 
with or without warning beacons  Less than $5,000 

 Install speed limit signs and/or radar speed 
feedback signs  Less than $10,000 

 Widen eastbound approach of 67th Street  $375,000 to $425,000 

Install Multi-Way Stop Sign Control 
Satisfies One 

of the Criteria 
 

 Install stop sign and warning signs  Less than $500 

 Widen eastbound approach of 67th Street  $375,000 to $425,000 

Install Traffic Signal Control NO  

 Install traffic signal and warning signs  $200,000 to $250,000 

 Widen eastbound approach of 67th Street  $375,000 to $425,000 
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Westbound 67th Street Looking North at Stop Bar 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Westbound 67th Street Looking North at Edge of Road 
  



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Westbound 67th Street Looking South at Stop Bar 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Westbound 67th Street Looking South at Edge of Road 
 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Eastbound 67th Street Looking North at Stop Bar 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Eastbound 67th Street Looking North at Edge of Road 
  



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Eastbound 67th Street Looking South at Stop Bar 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Eastbound 67th Street Looking South at Edge of Road 
 



 

 

City of Darien Police Department Crash 
Evaluation 
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TMV Movement
Eastbound Eastbound Tot Westbound Westbound To Northbound Northbound To Southbound Southbound ToGrand Total

Interval U L T R U L T R U L T R U L T R
5/16/2019 6:00 0 3 4 3 10 0 0 4 3 7 0 3 32 7 42 0 1 14 1 16 75
5/16/2019 6:15 0 6 3 7 16 0 0 2 9 11 0 2 62 7 71 0 5 10 2 17 115
5/16/2019 6:30 0 0 13 3 16 0 5 4 4 13 0 2 64 9 75 0 0 22 2 24 128
5/16/2019 6:45 0 3 11 7 21 0 14 5 4 23 0 1 74 9 84 0 4 20 3 27 155
5/16/2019 7:00 0 4 15 4 23 0 4 3 5 12 0 3 74 13 90 0 2 30 1 33 158
5/16/2019 7:15 0 3 12 7 22 0 4 9 9 22 0 4 88 24 116 0 2 51 7 60 220
5/16/2019 7:30 0 4 15 8 27 0 4 7 5 16 0 4 96 21 121 0 1 54 3 58 222
5/16/2019 7:45 0 5 19 14 38 0 6 5 9 20 0 10 112 16 138 0 2 37 5 44 240
5/16/2019 8:00 0 7 18 3 28 0 3 9 12 24 0 3 124 23 150 0 3 39 3 45 247
5/16/2019 8:15 0 13 22 10 45 0 4 4 9 17 0 7 113 15 135 0 5 30 9 44 241
5/16/2019 8:30 0 3 8 8 19 0 3 5 7 15 0 8 103 11 122 0 4 41 3 48 204
5/16/2019 8:45 0 4 10 15 29 0 0 8 7 15 0 6 76 17 99 0 4 29 5 38 181
5/16/2019 9:00 0 1 14 4 19 0 7 5 13 25 0 3 47 12 62 0 10 36 4 50 156
5/16/2019 9:15 0 2 9 7 18 0 3 7 6 16 0 2 61 4 67 0 3 40 3 46 147
5/16/2019 9:30 0 3 8 9 20 0 2 6 5 13 0 7 50 8 65 0 5 35 3 43 141
5/16/2019 9:45 0 2 7 9 18 0 6 8 9 23 0 5 63 6 74 0 5 35 4 44 159
5/16/2019 10:00 0 0 12 2 14 0 3 11 12 26 0 3 58 10 71 0 5 32 3 40 151
5/16/2019 10:15 0 4 4 6 14 0 6 6 4 16 0 8 52 10 70 0 6 35 3 44 144
5/16/2019 10:30 0 5 11 9 25 0 7 5 10 22 0 3 55 14 72 0 4 49 3 56 175
5/16/2019 10:45 0 2 14 4 20 0 3 7 4 14 0 7 60 9 76 0 2 39 5 46 156
5/16/2019 11:00 0 6 8 1 15 0 4 6 6 16 0 4 44 9 57 0 5 50 4 59 147
5/16/2019 11:15 0 1 10 3 14 0 1 7 4 12 1 6 50 12 69 0 5 46 3 54 149
5/16/2019 11:30 0 4 10 7 21 0 4 7 9 20 0 4 46 12 62 0 5 48 5 58 161
5/16/2019 11:45 0 4 11 7 22 0 8 9 4 21 0 6 56 7 69 0 5 51 6 62 174
5/16/2019 12:00 0 6 16 11 33 0 5 13 10 28 0 6 60 7 73 0 8 74 4 86 220
5/16/2019 12:15 0 4 10 7 21 0 7 11 6 24 0 12 61 12 85 0 4 53 6 63 193
5/16/2019 12:30 0 3 11 11 25 0 13 9 1 23 0 8 49 6 63 0 8 58 2 68 179
5/16/2019 12:45 0 2 6 2 10 0 9 14 1 24 0 6 52 6 64 0 6 64 4 74 172
5/16/2019 13:00 0 2 5 7 14 0 5 10 6 21 0 9 39 4 52 0 7 45 1 53 140
5/16/2019 13:15 0 0 12 5 17 0 4 5 5 14 1 5 59 5 70 0 6 48 3 57 158
5/16/2019 13:30 0 1 6 3 10 0 7 7 4 18 0 2 40 8 50 0 2 29 6 37 115
5/16/2019 13:45 0 2 6 8 16 0 10 13 12 35 0 5 62 4 71 0 5 56 5 66 188
5/16/2019 14:00 0 3 6 4 13 0 19 11 3 33 0 8 42 10 60 0 3 62 4 69 175
5/16/2019 14:15 0 2 5 6 13 0 6 11 6 23 0 9 46 9 64 0 2 67 4 73 173
5/16/2019 14:30 0 4 10 9 23 0 7 10 11 28 0 7 40 7 54 0 6 59 9 74 179
5/16/2019 14:45 0 2 7 11 20 0 6 5 5 16 0 5 51 4 60 0 5 76 3 84 180
5/16/2019 15:00 0 4 8 14 26 0 14 10 7 31 0 5 57 6 68 0 5 99 7 111 236
5/16/2019 15:15 0 4 11 9 24 0 12 13 8 33 0 8 81 6 95 0 5 105 9 119 271
5/16/2019 15:30 0 1 12 11 24 0 17 15 5 37 0 18 81 12 111 0 7 114 8 129 301
5/16/2019 15:45 0 6 12 7 25 0 11 6 7 24 0 7 52 14 73 0 11 148 10 169 291
5/16/2019 16:00 0 2 9 9 20 0 2 13 6 21 0 8 63 10 81 0 6 123 7 136 258
5/16/2019 16:15 0 2 10 8 20 0 3 9 7 19 0 7 69 10 86 0 7 157 8 172 297
5/16/2019 16:30 0 2 10 15 27 0 7 13 5 25 0 6 59 6 71 0 12 134 8 154 277
5/16/2019 16:45 0 3 14 13 30 0 15 16 9 40 0 8 59 6 73 0 7 141 6 154 297
5/16/2019 17:00 0 0 10 10 20 0 6 8 7 21 0 10 67 10 87 0 13 179 10 202 330
5/16/2019 17:15 0 1 16 16 33 0 12 18 6 36 0 10 68 5 83 0 3 127 4 134 286
5/16/2019 17:30 0 2 9 9 20 0 14 11 5 30 0 14 70 12 96 0 6 140 10 156 302
5/16/2019 17:45 0 5 8 9 22 0 9 22 6 37 0 10 70 6 86 0 10 165 12 187 332
5/16/2019 18:00 0 0 11 6 17 0 11 17 8 36 0 16 70 5 91 0 5 125 11 141 285
5/16/2019 18:15 0 3 9 7 19 0 13 5 10 28 0 4 45 7 56 0 12 120 12 144 247
5/16/2019 18:30 0 3 5 13 21 0 16 14 2 32 0 14 73 5 92 0 9 99 4 112 257
5/16/2019 18:45 0 4 8 11 23 0 10 20 7 37 0 9 67 12 88 0 4 103 6 113 261

Grand Total 0 162 530 408 1100 0 371 478 344 1193 2 347 3312 499 4160 0 277 3643 273 4193 10646

Site Code

Road Volumes

Study Name Clarendon Hills Rd with 67th St
Start Date Thursday, May 16, 2019  6:00 AM
End Date Thursday, May 16, 2019  7:00 PM



 

 

Level of Service Table 
  



LEVEL OF SERVICE CRITERIA FOR UNSIGNALIZED INTERSECTIONS 
Level of Service Average Total Delay (SEC/VEH) 

A      0 - 10 

B > 10 - 15 

C > 15 - 25 

D > 25 - 35 

E > 35 - 50 

F > 50 
Source:  Highway Capacity Manual, 2010.

 



 

 

Two-Way Stop Control Capacity 
Analysis Summary Sheets 

  



HCM 6th TWSC
3: Clarendon Hills Road & 67th Street 06/18/2019

Existing Morning Peak  06/18/2019 Baseline Synchro 10 Report
Page 1

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 4.8

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 29 74 35 17 25 35 24 445 75 11 160 20
Future Vol, veh/h 29 74 35 17 25 35 24 445 75 11 160 20
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 2 2 0 0 0 0 2 2 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - 110 - - 90 - - 90 - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 96 96 96 96 96 96 96 96 96 96 96 96
Heavy Vehicles, % 3 3 6 0 4 6 8 3 3 9 10 15
Mvmt Flow 30 77 36 18 26 36 25 464 78 11 167 21
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 784 794 180 813 765 505 188 0 0 544 0 0
          Stage 1 200 200 - 555 555 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 584 594 - 258 210 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 7.13 6.53 6.26 7.1 6.54 6.26 4.18 - - 4.19 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 6.13 5.53 - 6.1 5.54 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 6.13 5.53 - 6.1 5.54 - - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.527 4.027 3.354 3.5 4.036 3.354 2.272 - - 2.281 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 310 320 853 299 331 559 1351 - - 991 - -
          Stage 1 800 734 - 520 510 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 496 491 - 751 725 - - - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 266 310 851 225 320 558 1351 - - 989 - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 266 310 - 225 320 - - - - - - -
          Stage 1 785 726 - 510 499 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 431 481 - 634 717 - - - - - - -
 

Approach EB WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 21.9 16.6 0.3 0.5
HCM LOS C C
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT NBR EBLn1WBLn1WBLn2 SBL SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1351 - - 355 225 426 989 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.019 - - 0.405 0.079 0.147 0.012 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 7.7 - - 21.9 22.4 14.9 8.7 - -
HCM Lane LOS A - - C C B A - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.1 - - 1.9 0.3 0.5 0 - -



HCM 6th TWSC
3: Clarendon Hills Road & 67th Street 06/18/2019

Existing Evening Peak  06/18/2019 Baseline Synchro 10 Report
Page 1

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 6.8

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 8 43 44 41 59 24 44 275 33 32 611 36
Future Vol, veh/h 8 43 44 41 59 24 44 275 33 32 611 36
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 2 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - 110 - - 90 - - 90 - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 94 94 94 94 94 94 94 94 94 94 94 94
Heavy Vehicles, % 0 0 11 2 0 0 2 1 0 0 1 0
Mvmt Flow 9 46 47 44 63 26 47 293 35 34 650 38
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 1186 1159 671 1191 1161 311 688 0 0 328 0 0
          Stage 1 737 737 - 405 405 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 449 422 - 786 756 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 7.1 6.5 6.31 7.12 6.5 6.2 4.12 - - 4.1 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 6.1 5.5 - 6.12 5.5 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 6.1 5.5 - 6.12 5.5 - - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.5 4 3.399 3.518 4 3.3 2.218 - - 2.2 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 167 197 441 164 197 734 906 - - 1243 - -
          Stage 1 413 428 - 622 602 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 593 592 - 385 419 - - - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 111 182 440 111 182 734 906 - - 1243 - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 111 182 - 111 182 - - - - - - -
          Stage 1 392 416 - 590 571 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 483 561 - 297 408 - - - - - - -
 

Approach EB WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 31.8 38.7 1.1 0.4
HCM LOS D E
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT NBR EBLn1WBLn1WBLn2 SBL SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 906 - - 233 111 233 1243 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.052 - - 0.434 0.393 0.379 0.027 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 9.2 - - 31.8 57 29.6 8 - -
HCM Lane LOS A - - D F D A - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.2 - - 2 1.6 1.7 0.1 - -



 

 

Multi-Way Stop Control Capacity 
Analysis Summary Sheets 

 



HCM 6th AWSC
3: Clarendon Hills Road & 67th Street 06/24/2019

Existing Morning Peak  06/18/2019 Baseline Synchro 10 Report
Page 1

Intersection
Intersection Delay, s/veh 21
Intersection LOS C

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 29 74 35 17 25 35 24 445 75 11 160 20
Future Vol, veh/h 29 74 35 17 25 35 24 445 75 11 160 20
Peak Hour Factor 0.96 0.96 0.96 0.96 0.96 0.96 0.96 0.96 0.96 0.96 0.96 0.96
Heavy Vehicles, % 3 3 6 0 4 6 8 3 3 9 10 15
Mvmt Flow 30 77 36 18 26 36 25 464 78 11 167 21
Number of Lanes 0 1 0 1 1 0 1 1 0 1 1 0

Approach EB WB NB SB
Opposing Approach WB EB SB NB
Opposing Lanes 2 1 2 2
Conflicting Approach Left SB NB EB WB
Conflicting Lanes Left 2 2 1 2
Conflicting Approach Right NB SB WB EB
Conflicting Lanes Right 2 2 2 1
HCM Control Delay 12.2 10.3 28 11.5
HCM LOS B B D B
        

Lane NBLn1 NBLn2 EBLn1 WBLn1 WBLn2 SBLn1 SBLn2
Vol Left, % 100% 0% 21% 100% 0% 100% 0%
Vol Thru, % 0% 86% 54% 0% 42% 0% 89%
Vol Right, % 0% 14% 25% 0% 58% 0% 11%
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop
Traffic Vol by Lane 24 520 138 17 60 11 180
LT Vol 24 0 29 17 0 11 0
Through Vol 0 445 74 0 25 0 160
RT Vol 0 75 35 0 35 0 20
Lane Flow Rate 25 542 144 18 62 11 188
Geometry Grp 7 7 6 7 7 7 7
Degree of Util (X) 0.043 0.826 0.267 0.037 0.114 0.021 0.316
Departure Headway (Hd) 6.18 5.487 6.694 7.423 6.567 6.636 6.066
Convergence, Y/N Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes
Cap 580 661 535 481 544 539 593
Service Time 3.914 3.221 4.751 5.184 4.328 4.384 3.814
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.043 0.82 0.269 0.037 0.114 0.02 0.317
HCM Control Delay 9.2 28.9 12.2 10.5 10.2 9.5 11.6
HCM Lane LOS A D B B B A B
HCM 95th-tile Q 0.1 8.8 1.1 0.1 0.4 0.1 1.3



HCM 6th AWSC
3: Clarendon Hills Road & 67th Street 06/24/2019

Existing Evening Peak - AWS  06/18/2019 Baseline Synchro 10 Report
Page 1

Intersection
Intersection Delay, s/veh 58.6
Intersection LOS F

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 8 43 44 41 59 24 44 275 33 32 611 36
Future Vol, veh/h 8 43 44 41 59 24 44 275 33 32 611 36
Peak Hour Factor 0.94 0.94 0.94 0.94 0.94 0.94 0.94 0.94 0.94 0.94 0.94 0.94
Heavy Vehicles, % 0 0 11 2 0 0 2 1 0 0 1 0
Mvmt Flow 9 46 47 44 63 26 47 293 35 34 650 38
Number of Lanes 0 1 0 1 1 0 1 1 0 1 1 0

Approach EB WB NB SB
Opposing Approach WB EB SB NB
Opposing Lanes 2 1 2 2
Conflicting Approach Left SB NB EB WB
Conflicting Lanes Left 2 2 1 2
Conflicting Approach Right NB SB WB EB
Conflicting Lanes Right 2 2 2 1
HCM Control Delay 12.7 12 16.1 95.5
HCM LOS B B C F
        

Lane NBLn1 NBLn2 EBLn1 WBLn1 WBLn2 SBLn1 SBLn2
Vol Left, % 100% 0% 8% 100% 0% 100% 0%
Vol Thru, % 0% 89% 45% 0% 71% 0% 94%
Vol Right, % 0% 11% 46% 0% 29% 0% 6%
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop
Traffic Vol by Lane 44 308 95 41 83 32 647
LT Vol 44 0 8 41 0 32 0
Through Vol 0 275 43 0 59 0 611
RT Vol 0 33 44 0 24 0 36
Lane Flow Rate 47 328 101 44 88 34 688
Geometry Grp 7 7 6 7 7 7 7
Degree of Util (X) 0.088 0.56 0.206 0.096 0.179 0.061 1.129
Departure Headway (Hd) 6.97 6.366 7.708 8.375 7.617 6.434 5.904
Convergence, Y/N Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes
Cap 517 570 469 430 474 558 619
Service Time 4.67 4.066 5.708 6.075 5.317 4.157 3.628
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.091 0.575 0.215 0.102 0.186 0.061 1.111
HCM Control Delay 10.3 16.9 12.7 12 12 9.6 99.7
HCM Lane LOS B C B B B A F
HCM 95th-tile Q 0.3 3.4 0.8 0.3 0.6 0.2 21.7



AGENDA MEMO 
City Council 

October 7, 2019 

ISSUE STATEMENT 
Approval of a resolution authorizing the Mayor to accept a proposal from Christopher B. Burke 
Engineering, Ltd. for the professional engineering services related to the design and preparation 
of construction documents for the 67th Street Improvements Project in an amount not to exceed 
$32,017. 

Please note this agenda memo is being presented due to timing constraints and pending City 
Council approval of a previous memo addressing 67th and Clarendon Hills Road - traffic 
signal warrant study and options from Kenig, Lindgren, O'Hara, Aboona, Inc. (KLOA), 
traffic-engineering consultants, Option 3. 

RESOLUTION 

BACKGROUND 
Recently, the City Council has been reviewing the 67th Street and Clarendon Hills Road traffic 
signal warrant study and options as prepared by Kenig, Lindgren, O'Hara, Aboona, Inc. (KLOA), 
traffic-engineering consultants.  

Since the roadway is slated for a resurfacing project, there is an opportunity to construct the 
suggested geometrical reconfiguration with cost savings. The reasoning is since the city bids and 
oversees various facets of road construction; curb and gutter, paving and striping, the items would 
be included as part of our annual contracts. The cost savings would be further realized due to the 
above-mentioned versus the project being bid as a sole contract. 

In anticipation of the approval of the geometrical configuration, referred to as Option No 3, the 
engineering services would include the reconstruction of the west leg of the 67th Street/Clarendon 
Hills Road intersection to mirror the east leg of the intersection (owned by the Village of 
Willowbrook). The scope of work includes the following: 

· Widening the western mouth of the intersection
· Constructing a right turn lane
· Constructing a left turn lane, and a thru lane.

The scope of services includes the following: 

PHASE I – PRELIMINARY ENGINEERING: 
Task 1 – Project Kick-off Meeting 
Task 2 – Topographic Survey 
Task 3 – Geotechnical Investigation 
Task 4 – Evaluation of Geotechnical Report 
Task 5 – Field Reconnaissance 

PHASE II –ENGINEERING DESIGN AND BIDDING: 
Task 6 – J.U.L.I.E. Utility Coordination 
Task 7 – Preparation of Preliminary Concept Plan (50% Submittal) 
Task 8 – Meeting with City 



2019 67th Street Improvement Project 
October 7, 2019 
Page 2 
 
 
 
DESIGN ENGINEERING PHASE: 

Task 9 – Preliminary Contract Documents & Cost Estimate (95% Submittal) 
Task 10 – QA/QC Submittal & Final Plans, Specifications & Cost Estimate (100% Submittal) 
Task 11 – Bidding Assistance 
 

Please note the engineering services for the proposed work was not considered for this year’s 
budget. Costs savings have been recognized within this year’s Road Program that would 
allow the expense to be absorbed. 
 

ACCOUNT 
NUMBER ACCOUNT DESCRIPTION 

FY19-20 
BUDGET 

PROPOSED 
EXPENDITURE 

 
25-35-4325 

Engineering - 67th Street – 
 Clarendon Hills Rd to Alabama Ave 

 
$ 0     

 
$    32,017  

  
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION 
The Municipal Services Committee recommends the approval of a resolution authorizing the 
Mayor to accept a proposal from Christopher B. Burke Engineering, Ltd. for the professional 
engineering services related to the design and preparation of construction documents for the 67th 
Street Improvements Project in an amount not to exceed $32,017. 
 
ALTERNATE CONSIDERATION 
Not approving the resolution. 

DECISION MODE 
This item will be placed on the agenda for the October 7, 2019 City Council agenda for formal 
approval. 



RESOLUTION NO.______________ 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO ACCEPT A PROPOSAL FROM 
CHRISTOPHER B. BURKE ENGINEERING, LTD. FOR THE PROFESSIONAL 

ENGINEERING SERVICES RELATED TO THE DESIGN AND PREPARATION OF 
CONSTRUCTION DOCUMENTS FOR THE 67TH STREET IMPROVEMENTS 

PROJECT IN AN AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED $32,017 

BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF DARIEN, DU 

PAGE COUNTY, ILLINOIS, as follows: 

SECTION 1: The City Council of the City of Darien, hereby authorizes the Mayor to 

accept a proposal from Christopher B. Burke Engineering, Ltd. for the professional engineering 

services related to the design and preparation of construction documents for the 67th Street 

improvements project in an amount not to exceed $32,017., a copy of which is attached hereto 

as “Exhibit A” and is by this reference expressly incorporated hereto. 

SECTION 2: This Resolution shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage 

and approval as provided by law. 

PASSED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF DARIEN, DU PAGE 

COUNTY, ILLINOIS, this 7th day of October 2019. 

AYES:  

NAYS: 

ABSENT: ________________________________________________________________ 

APPROVED BY THE MAYOR OF THE CITY OF DARIEN, DU PAGE 

COUNTY, ILLINOIS, this 7th day of October 2019. 

JOSEPH A. MARCHESE, MAYOR 
ATTEST: 

JOANNE E. RAGONA, CITY CLERK 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

CITY ATTORNEY 



CHRISTOPHER B. BURKE ENGINEERING, LTD.

9575 West Higgins Road Suite 600 Rosemont, Illinois 60018 TEL (847) 823-0500 FAX (847) 823-0520 

September 4, 2019 

City of Darien 
City Hall 
1702 Plainfield Road 
Darien, Illinois 60561 

Attention: Dan Gombac 

Subject: Proposal for Professional Engineering Services 
671h Street Improvements Project-Clarendon Hills Road to Alabama Avenue 

Dear Dan: 

At your request, Christopher 8. Burke Engineering, Ltd. (CBBEL) is pleased to provide this 
proposal for professional engineering services related to the design and preparation of 
construction documents for the 671h Street Improvements Project. Included below you will 
find our Understanding of the Assignment, Scope of Services, and Estimate of Fee. 

UNDERSTANDING OF THE ASSIGNMENT 

We understand the City of Darien would like to reconstruct the west leg of the 671h 

Street/Clarendon Hills Road intersection to mirror the east leg of the intersection (owned by 
the Village of Willowbrook). This includes a right turn/thru lane, a striped left turn lane, and a 
thru lane. This proposal assumes the existing 671h Street pavement from Clarendon Hills 
Road to the west will be reconstructed with 2" of Hot-Mix Asphalt Surface Course, 4" of Hot­
Mix Asphalt Binder Course, and 12" of Aggregate Base Course will be utilized to widen the 
roadway to the north of the existing pavement. The improvement length is approximately 
400 linear feet. 

CBBEL proposes the following Scope of Services for the 671h Street Improvements Project. 

PHASE I - PRELIMINARY ENGINEERING: 

Task 1 - Project Kick-off Meeting 
CBBEL will meet with City staff to discuss the project goals and objectives and collect all 
pertinent data. At the kick-off meeting, the Project Team will formalize working relationships, 
establish primary points of contact and review project procedures. The kick-off meeting will 
also serve as an opportunity to discuss project constraints and identify anticipated design, 
permitting and construction issues. CBBEL will prepare meeting notes with action items 
identified and distribute to the meeting attendees. 

Task 2 - Topographic Survey 
As part of this task, CBBEL will perform Full Topographic Survey of 671h Street and the 
adjacent Clarendon Hills Road intersection (SOO'LF±) to be used as a base map for Design 
purposes. The following scope items will be included in this task: 
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AGENDA MEMO 
City Council Meeting 

October 7, 2019 

ISSUE STATEMENT 
Motion to recommend zoning ordinance revisions to the Planning Zoning Commission for a Public 
Hearing and Commission review regarding the Cannabis Regulation and Tax Act. 

BACKGROUND 
The State of Illinois enacted the Cannabis Regulation and Tax Act (Act), which pertains to the 
possession, use, cultivation, transportation and dispensing of adult-use cannabis, which became 
effective June 25, 2019. The Darien City Council did not prohibit these cannabis activities, 
therefore, the City will review its zoning codes for compliance with the Act. The City may enact 
reasonable zoning ordinances or resolutions not in conflict with the Act, regulating cannabis 
business establishments, including rules adopted governing the time, place, manner and number 
of cannabis business establishments, and minimum distance limitations between cannabis business 
establishments and locations the City deems sensitive.  

The Municipal Services Committee discussed this item at their September 23, 2019 Municipal 
Services Committee Meeting. 

The Committee reviewed and recommends the following definitions for the zoning code 
modifications as they relate to the Cannabis terminology.  

1. Definitions
CANNABIS 
BUSINESS ESTABLISHMENT: 

A cultivation center, craft grower, processing 
organization, infuser organization, dispensing 
organization or transporting organization.  

CANNABIS 
CRAFT GROWER: 

A facility operated by an organization or business 
that is licensed by the Department of Agriculture to 
cultivate, dry, cure, and package cannabis and 
perform other necessary activities to make cannabis 
available for sale at a dispensing organization or use 
at a processing organization. A craft grower may 
contain up to 5,000 square feet of canopy space on 
its premises for plants in the flowering state. The 
Department of Agriculture may authorize an 
increase or decrease of flowering stage cultivation 
space in increments of 3,000 square feet by rule 
based on market need, craft grower capacity, and 
the licensee's history of compliance or 
noncompliance, with a maximum space of 14,000 
square feet and shall not be located within 1,500 
feet of another craft grower or a cultivation center.   



   

CANNABIS 
CULTIVATION CENTER: 

A facility operated by an organization or business 
that is licensed by the Illinois Department of 
Agriculture to cultivate, process, transport and 
perform necessary activities to provide cannabis 
and cannabis-infused products to licensed cannabis 
business establishments(s). A cultivation center 
may not contain more than 210,000 square feet of 
canopy space for plants in the flowering stage for 
cultivation of adult use cannabis as provided in this 
Act.  
 

CANNABIS 
DISPENSING ORGANIZATION: 

A facility operated by an organization or business 
that is licensed by the Illinois Department of 
Financial and Professional Regulation to acquire 
cannabis from licensed cannabis business 
establishments for the purpose of selling or 
dispensing cannabis, cannabis-infused products, 
cannabis seeds, paraphernalia or related supplies to 
purchasers or to qualified registered medical 
cannabis patients and caregivers.  
 
ADDITIONAL NOTES 

· Operation is allowed between 6 a.m. and 10 
p.m.  

· Operation is prohibited when video 
surveillance equipment is inoperative.  

· Operation is prohibited when point-of-sale 
equipment is inoperative.  

· Operation is prohibited when the State’s 
cannabis electronic verification system is 
inoperative.  

· Operation is prohibited when there are 
fewer than 2 people working.  
 

CANNABIS 
INFUSER ORGANIZATION OR 
INFUSER: 

A facility operated by an organization or business 
that is licensed by the Illinois Department of 
Agriculture to directly incorporate cannabis or 
cannabis concentrate into a product formulation to 
produce a cannabis-infused product  
 

CANNABIS 
PROCESSING ORGANIZATION OR 
PROCESSOR: 

A facility operated by an organization or business 
that is licensed by the Illinois Department of 
Agriculture to either extract constituent chemicals 



   

or compounds to produce cannabis concentrate or 
incorporate cannabis or cannabis concentrate into a 
product formulation to produce a cannabis product. 
 

CANNABIS 
TRANSPORTING ORGANIZATION 
OR TRANSPORTER: 

An organization or business that is licensed by the 
Department of Agriculture to transport cannabis on 
behalf of a cannabis business establishment or a 
community college licensed under the Community 
College Cannabis Vocational Training Program. 

  
2. Locations 
The Municipal Services Committee recommended the following location as the allowed use within 
the respective zoning districts.  

1. For the Cannabis Dispensing Organization-Retail.  
 

A. 75th Street and Lemont Road-Chestnut Court Shopping Center-Aerial A 
Zoning B-3-General Business District 

 
B. 75th Street–east of Lyman Avenue 2100 block-Darien Towne Centre-Aerial B 

Zoning B-3-General Business District  
 

C. 75th Street-west of Lyman Avenue 2400 block-Market Place of Darien-Aerial C 
Zoning B-2-Community Shopping Center Business District 
 

D. 7800 Lemont Road-Warehouse-Aerial D  
Zoning OR&I-Office, Research and Light Industrial 
 

E. 6800-6818 Route 83-Darien Center-Aerial E 
Zoning B-2-Community Shopping Center Business District 

 
2. The following locations are recommendations for an allowed uses as it pertains to : 

Cannabis Craft Grower 
Cannabis Cultivation Center 

      Cannabis Infuser Organization or Infuser 
Processing Organization or Processor 
Transporting Organization or Transporter 

 
A. 7800 Lemont Road-Warehouse-Aerial F  

Zoning OR&I-Office, Research and Light Industrial 
 

B. 1035 South Frontage Road-Warehouse-Aerial G 
Zoning I-1-General Industrial District 
 

As information the State Statute mandates distances to certain operations of the above.  
Examples regarding distance: 



   

“A craft grower shall not be located within 1,500 feet of another craft grower or a 
cultivation center”. 

“The applicant shall also provide evidence that the location is not within 1,500 feet of an 
existing dispensing organization”. 

 
3. Business License(s) 

1. The Committee recommended One (1) license for one location of a Cannabis Dispensing 
Organization/Retail. 

2.   No business license restrictions as it relates to the following Zoning Districts  
 

A. OR&I-Office, Research and Light Industrial  
Cannabis Craft Grower 
Cannabis Cultivation Center 
Cannabis Infuser Organization or Infuser 
Processing Organization or Processor 
Transporting Organization or Transporter 

 
B.  Zoning I-1-General Industrial Districts 

Cannabis Craft Grower 
Cannabis Cultivation Center 
Cannabis Infuser Organization or Infuser 
Processing Organization or Processor 
Transporting Organization or Transporter 

 
4. Lounges and other methods of on-site consumption 
The Committee recommended prohibiting lounges or other methods of onsite consumption. 
Further, no cannabis product shall be smoked, ingested or otherwise consumed on the premises 
of a permit holder or in the public right-of way within twenty-five feet of a Cannabis Retailer. 
Cannabis Retailers are required to post signage near their entrances and exits providing notice of 
this policy. 
 
5. Fact Sheet  
Attached and labeled as Attachment A is a. Fact Sheet assembled through the Illinois Municipal 
League.   
  
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION 
The Municipal Services Committee recommended with a vote of 2 – 1, a Motion to the City 
Council for the Planning and Zoning Commission to conduct a Public Hearing and Commission 
review regarding the Cannabis Regulation and Tax Act as presented. 
  
ALTERNATE CONSIDERATION  
As recommended by the City Council 

 
DECISION MODE  
This item will be placed on the October 7, 2019 City Council agenda for formal consideration.  
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AGENDA MEMO 
CITY COUNCIL 

October 7, 2019 

ISSUE STATEMENT 
Approval of an ordinance amending the Darien Building Code by adoption of the Illinois Energy 
Conservation Code.  

ORDINANCE 

BACKGROUND 
Last August, the City passed ordinance O-15-18 updating the various component codes that 
together makeup the Darien Building Code in Title 4 Chapter 1 of the City Code.  One of those 
updated codes adopted was the (IECC) International Energy Conservation Code 2015.   

The International Code Council that researches, writes, and publishes the IECC codes employ 
experts and use an extensive public input process to analyze and update standards. The codes 
reflect new materials, innovative methods, and improved safety practices that result in a higher 
quality of construction.  The IECC has standards for insulation, vapor barriers, roof penetrations, 
HVAC heating ventilation air conditioning, water heating, space heating, refrigerated storage, 
lighting, and related systems for residential and commercial buildings. 

This year, the State of Illinois enacted the Illinois Energy Conservation Code that requires that all 
municipalities must adopt the 2018 edition of the IECC with several ‘adaptions’ or changes by the 
State.  This can be considered as part of a trend whereby the State mandated municipal adoption 
of the State Plumbing Code, Accessibility Code, and Elevator Code. 

The City utilizes the services of Don Morris Architects for plan review and inspections.  Morris has 
highlighted the major IECC 2018 standards that have been updated over the 2015 standards, 
including; improved U-factor for windows, R-5 insulation for heated slabs, higher-efficiency 
lighting, commercial lighting sensors, duct leakage tests, shower head flow reducers. 

ATTACHMENTS 
A. Ordinance O-15-18 
B. List of Adopted Building Codes, City of Darien 
C. IECC 2018 Contents 
D. Morris highlighted 2018 IECC updates 
E. Illinois Energy Conservation Code  

MSC 
On September 23, 2019, the Municipal Services Committee reviewed the proposed code 
amendment.  They discussed the recent State mandate and the upgraded energy standards that 
would result for construction in Darien.  They voted 3-0 to recommend approval of the adoption 
of the Illinois Energy Conservation Code as presented. 
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CITY OF DARIEN 

DU PAGE COUNTY, ILLINOIS 

ORDINANCE NO.  

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING SECTION 4-1-9-1 OF THE DARIEN CITY CODE 
REGARDING “THE ENERGY CONSERVATION CODE” 

ADOPTED BY THE 

MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL 

OF THE 

CITY OF DARIEN 

THIS 7th DAY OF OCTOBER, 2019 

Published in pamphlet form by authority 
of the Mayor and City Council of the City 
of Darien, DuPage County, Illinois, and 
this ____day of October, 2019. 



ORDINANCE NO.______________ 
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AN ORDINANCE AMENDING SECTION 4-1-9-1 OF THE DARIEN CITY CODE 
REGARDING “THE ENERGY CONSERVATION CODE” 

 
 
 
 WHEREAS, the City of Darien is a home rule unit of local government pursuant to the 

provisions of Article VII, Section 6 of the Illinois Constitution of 1970; and 

 WHEREAS, as a home rule unit of local government, the City may exercise any power and 

perform any function pertaining to its government except as limited by Article VII, Section 6; and 

WHEREAS, the City has adopted building regulations set forth in Title 4 of the Darien 

City Code including Section 4-1-9 “Energy Conservation Code”; and   

WHEREAS, the State of Illinois has adopted energy regulations for buildings which are 

set forth in Illinois Administrative Code Title 71, Chapter 1, Subchapter d, Part 600 “Illinois 

Energy Conservation Code”, which requires compliance in and by local jurisdictions; and 

WHEREAS, the City Council has deemed it necessary to periodically review building 

regulations and to make appropriate changes thereto; and  

WHEREAS, on September 23, 2019 the Municipal Services Committee filed its findings 

with the City Council recommending approval of the text amendment set forth below; and 

WHEREAS, the City Council hereby approves and adopts the findings of the Municipal 

Services Committee and incorporates such findings and recommendations herein by reference as if 

fully set forth herein. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF 

THE CITY OF DARIEN, DU PAGE COUNTY, ILLINOIS, IN THE EXERCISE OF ITS 

HOME RULE POWERS, as follows: 



ORDINANCE NO.______________ 
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SECTION 1:  Section 4-1-9-1 “Adoption of Energy Conservation Code” is hereby deleted 

in its entirety and replaced by the following: 

4-1-9-1:  ADOPTION OF ENERGY CONSERVATION CODE: 

There is hereby adopted and incorporated by reference as part of this section, the code 

entitled Illinois Energy Conservation Code (71 Ill.Adm.Code, Ch. 1, Subch. d, Part 600), and as 

amended from time to time by the State of Illinois, one copy of which is on file in the office of the 

City. 

 SECTION 2:  Home Rule.  This ordinance and each of its terms shall be the effective 

legislative act of a home rule municipality without regard to whether such ordinance should (a) 

contain terms contrary to the provisions of current or subsequent non-preemptive state law, or (b) 

legislate in a manner or regarding a matter not delegated to municipalities by state law.  It is the 

intent of the corporate authorities of the City of Darien that to the extent of the terms of this 

ordinance should be inconsistent with any non-preemptive state law, that this ordinance shall 

supercede state law in that regard within its jurisdiction. 

SECTION 3:  Effective Date.  This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and 

after its passage and approval as provided by law.   

 PASSED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF DARIEN, DU PAGE 

COUNTY, ILLINOIS, this 7th day of October 2019. 

AYES:   

NAYS:   

ABSENT:   

 



ORDINANCE NO.______________ 
 
 

4 

APPROVED BY THE MAYOR OF THE CITY OF DARIEN, DU PAGE COUNTY, 

ILLINOIS, this 7th day of October 2019. 

 

  
  JOSEPH A. MARCHESE, MAYOR 
ATTEST: 
 
  
 JOANNE E. RAGONA, CITY CLERK 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
  
 CITY ATTORNEY 
 

 



CITY OF DARIEN 

RULES FOR COMPLIANCE WITH PUBLIC COMMENT REQUIREMENTS 
OF THE ILLINOIS OPEN MEETINGS ACT 

I. PURPOSE OF RULES. 

The purpose of these Rules is to comply with the requirement of Section 2.06 of the Illinois 

Open Meetings Act that a public comment section be provided at each meeting subject to the Open 

Meetings Act. 

II. DEFINITION OF “PUBLIC BODY” or “BODY.”

For purposes of these Rules, the term “Public Body” or “Body” shall mean the City Council,

any Committee of the City Council, and any Board and Commission established by the City Council. 

III. RULES GOVERNING PUBLIC COMMENT.

A. Unless otherwise allowed by a majority vote of the Body, the public comment periods 

shall be as follows: 

1. For the City Council, as set forth on the attached Agenda template.

2. For Council committees and advisory committees, at the conclusion of the meeting

immediately before adjournment. At the direction of the Body, the floor may be opened for 

public comment in conjunction with specific agenda items.  

B. Individuals seeking to make public comment to the Body shall be formally recognized 

by the Chair. 

C. Individuals addressing the Body shall identify themselves by name, but need not 

provide their home address. 

D. Individuals addressing the Body shall do so by addressing their comments to the Body 



itself and shall not turn to address the audience. 

 E. Public comment time shall be limited to three (3) minutes per person. 

 F. An individual will be allowed a second opportunity to address the Body only after all 

other interested persons have addressed the Body and only upon the majority vote of the Body. 

 G. In the case of a special meeting, public comment will be limited to subject matters 

germane to the agenda of the special meeting. 

IV. PUBLIC HEARING REQUIREMENTS. 

 Additional public comments periods will be allowed as required by law in the case of public 

hearing, subject to the same time constraints.  

 

 

Approved by a Motion on November 17, 2014 
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